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ALPHABETICAL JOINT APPENDIX INDEX

TITLE DATE FILER / PAGE NO. VOLUME

PREPARER NO.

01.19.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 01.19.17 | Martha Szramek, | JA 000239 -

Motions Court Recorder | JA 000346 2

09.18.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 09.18.17 Jennifer Gerold, | JA 000352 -

Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine; Court Recorder | JA 000390

Defendants’ Motion in Limine; Team

Construction Management, Inc., and

Beacher’s LV LLC’s Joinder to Fourth

Supplement to Defendant Backstage

Employment & Referral, Inc.’s

Designation of Expert Witnesses & 2

Documents

03.29.18 - Transcript of Proceedings Re: | 03.29.18 Jennifer Gerald, | JA 000391 - 2

Pretrial Conference Court Recorder | JA 000424 [

04.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000425 - 2-3

Trial RPR JA 000568

04.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000574 - 3

Trial RPR JA 000714

04.13.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.13.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000715 - 3-4

Trial RPR JA 000892

04.17.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.17.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000893 - 4-5

Trial RPR JA 001167

04.18.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.18.18 Kristy L. Clark, [JA 001168 - 5-6

Trial RPR JA 001415

04.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001416 - 6-7

Trial RPR JA 001585

04.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001933 - 9-10

Trial RPR JA 002269

04.26.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.26.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002270 - 10-11

Trial RPR JA 002514
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04.27.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.27.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002515 - 11-13
Trial RPR JA 002904

04.30.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.30.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002905 - 13
Trial RPR JA 003016

05.01-18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.01.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003017 - 13-14
Trial RPR JA 003282

05.02.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.02.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003283 - 14-16
Trial RPR JA 003596

05.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003597 - 16-17
Trial RPR JA 003846

05.04.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.04.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003847 - 17
Trial RPR JA 004002

05.08.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.08.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004071 - 18-19
Trial RPR JA 004402

05.09.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.09.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004435 - 19-20
Trial RPR JA 004720

05.10.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.10.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004723 - 20-21
Trial RPR JA 004988

05.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005005 - 21-22
Trial RPR JA 005157

05.22.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.22.18 Kristy L. Clark, [ JA 005158 - 22
Trial RPR JA 005232

05.23.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.23.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005233 - 22-23
Trial RPR JA 005401

05.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005440 - 23-24
Trial RPR JA 005613

05.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005614 - 24-25
Trial RPR JA 005806

05.29.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.29.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005807 - 25
Trial RPR JA 005919
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08.23.18 - Recorder’s Transcript of 08.23.18 | Jennifer Gerold, JA 006497 - 28

Hearing re: Plaintiffs’ Motion for Court Recorder JA006552

Judgment As A Matter of Law or, In The

Alternative, for New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.25.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 001874 - 8-9

Inc.’s Brief Regarding New and Hudgins Gunn & | JA 001932

Previously Undisclosed Witnesses Dial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 12.16.16 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000151 - 1

Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial (Filed Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000158

Under Seal) Dial

Backstage Employment & Referral, 08.10.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006353 - 27

In¢.’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006381

for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, Dial

Alternatively for a New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.08.19 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006614 - 28

Inc.’s Response to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006616

Certification of Judgment on Order Dial

Shortening Time

Backstage Employment & Referral, 01.11.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000177 - 1

Inc.’s Reply in Support of Motion to Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000234

Bifurcate Trial Dial

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Answer to MGM 04.05.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000078 - 1

Grand Hotel’s Third Party Complaint Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000092

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Amended Answer | 10.07.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000128 - 1

to MGM Grand Hotel’s Third-Party Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000150

Complaint; Counterclaim by Beacher’s

LV, LLC; Third Party Complaint by

Beacher’s LV, LLC

Beacher’s Motion for Leave to File an 07.29.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000093 - 1

Amended Answer to Third Party Plaintiff Lemkul & Pitegoff { JA 000127

MGM Grand’s Complaint; Counterclaim

by Beacher’s LV, LLC; Third Party

Complaint by Beacher’s LV, LLC

Case Appeal Statement 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006271 - 27
JA 006294
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Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial 08.06.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 00001 - 1
JA 00011

Court Minute Order Regarding Motion 04.25.19 Judge Mark JA 006623 28

for Certification Denton

Court Minutes - Defendant Backstage 02.02.17 Judge Mark JA 000347 2

Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Denton

to Bifurcate Trial I

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 10.27.14 | Selman Breitman | JA 000029 - |

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000038

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Answer to

Plaintiff’s Complaint

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 04.25.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 001835 - 8 {

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 001873

Hotel, LLC’s Brief Regarding

Undisclosed Witnesses

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 02.01.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000060 - 1

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000071

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Amended

Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint and

Cross Claim Against Team Construction

Management, Inc.

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 12.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000159 - 1

David Copperfield aka David S. Kotkin, JA 000161

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Joinder

to Co-Defendants’ Motions in Limine

and Motion to Bifurcate Tral

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., 04.10.19 | Selman Breitman | JA 006617 - 28

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 006619

Hotel, LLC’s Response to Plaintiffs’
Motion for Certification of Judgment on
Order Shortening Time
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Decision Regarding Motion for 09.17.18 Judge Mark JA 006553 - 28

Judgment as a Matter of Law Denton JA 006559

Gavin and Mihn-Hahn Cox’s Appendix | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004009 - 17-18

in Support of Emergency Petition for JA 004067

Writ of Mandamus Under NRAP 27(E)

Jury Instructions 05.23.18 Judge Mark JA 005402 - 23
Denton JA 005439

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Motion for 12.01.15 | Selman Breitman | JA 000039 - 1

Leave to File a Third Party Complaint JA 000057

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 05.10.18 | JA 004989 - 21

Copperfield and David Copperfield’s Selman | JA 005004 (t

Disappearing, Inc.’s Trial Brief to Breitman

Preclude Plaintiffs from Calling

Improper Rebuttal Witnesses

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 08.10.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 006382 - 27-28

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and David JA 006466

Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc.’s

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment As A Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for New Trial

Notice In Lieu of Remittitur 06.04.18 Supreme Court | JA 005924 25

Notice of Appeal (Supreme Court File- 07.19.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006295 - 27

Stamp) JA 006326

Notice of Entry of Order Denying 10.23.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006562 - 28

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment as a JA 006566

Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a

New Trial

Notice of Filing Emergency Petition for | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004003 - 17

Writ of Mandamus JA 004006

Notice of Hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion 03.29.19 EJDC - JA 006612 - 28

for Certification Department 13 JA 006613

Notice of Transfer to Court of Appeals 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004007 - 17

JA 004008
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NRAP 27(E) Certificate 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004427 -
JA 004434
Weinberg Wheeler
Hudgins Gunn &
Dial 19
Resnick & Louis
Order Denying Petition for Writ of 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004068 - 18
Mandamus JA 004070
Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for 10.22.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006560 - 28
Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, JA 006561
Alternatively, for a New Trial
Order Denying Rehearing 05.10.18 Supreme Court | JA 004721 20
JA 004722
Order Granting Defendant Backstage 02.27.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000348 - 2
Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000351
to Bifurcate Trial Dial
Order Granting Defendants David 01.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000058 - 1
Copperfield, David Copperfield’s JA 000059
Disappearing, Inc. And MGM Grand
Hotel, LLC’s Motion for Leave to
Amend Their Answer to File Cross
Claim
Order Granting Motion to Extend Time 03.28.19 Supreme Court | JA 006597 - 28
|| (Supreme Court) JA 006598
Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for 05.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006624 - 28
Certification of Judgment JA 006626
Plaintiff’s Amended Case Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006577 - 28
Statement JA 006585
Plaintiffs’ Amended Notice of Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006567 - 28
JA 006576
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Certification of 03.28.19 | Harris & Harris | JA 006599 - 28
Judgment On Order Shortening Time JA 006611
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Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment As a 07.05.18 Harris & Harris | JA 005925 - 25-27
Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a JA 006259
New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Notice of Appeal (EJDC File- | 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006260 - 28 t
Stamped) JA 006270
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant 01.05.17 Harris & Harris | JA 000166 - 1
Backstage Employment and Referral, JA 000176
Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial
Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion 08.20.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006467 - 28
for Judgment as a Matter of Law, Or, JA 006496
Alternatively for a New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Trial Brief to Exclude 04.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 000569 - 3
Cumulative Expert Testimony on JA 000573
Defendants’ Proposed Expert Witnesses
John E. Baker and Nicholas Yang
Plaintiff’s Trial Brief to Permit 04.25.18 Harris & Harris | JA 001586 - 7-8
Testimony of Newly Discovered Fact JA 001834
Witnesses
Real Parties in Interest Emergency 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004403 - 19
Petition for Rehearing of Order Denying JA 004426
Petition for Writ of Mandamus Under Weinberg Wheeler
NRAP 27(E), Immediate Action is Hudgins Gunn &
Necessary as the Trial is Already in Dial it
Progress
Resnick & Louis
Request for Transcript of Proceedings 12.21.18 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006586 - 28
JA 006589
Stipulation 03.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006595 - 28
JA 006596
Summons - Backstage Employment and | 09.02.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000021 - 1
Referral, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000024
Summons - David Copperfield’s 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000012- 1
Disappearing, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000014

Page 7 of 9



Summons - David Copperfield aka David | 09.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000025 - 1
S. Kotkin w/Affidavit of Service JA 000028

Summons - MGM Grand Hotel, LLC 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000015- 1
w/Affidavit of Service JA 000017

Summons - Team Construction 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000018 - 1
Management, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000020

Supplemental Request for Transcript of 01.15.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006590 - 28 “
Proceedings JA 006594

Team Construction Management, Inc.’s | 03.22.16 Resnick & Louis | JA 000072 - 1
Answer to Cross Claimants David JA 000077
Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., David

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and MGM

Grand Hotel, LLC’s Cross Claim

Team Construction Management, Inc., 04.15.19 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006620 - 28
and Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 006622 "
Defendants David Copperfield’s

Disappearing, Inc, David Copperfield

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Response

to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certification of

Judgment on Order Shortening Time

Defendant Team Construction 12.29.16 | Resnick & Louis JA 000162 - 1
Management, Inc. And Beachers LV, JA 000165 It
LLC’s Joinder to Backstage Employment

and Referral’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial

Team Construction Management, Inc. 01.18.17 | Resnick & Louis | JA 000235 - 1
And Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 000238

Backstage Employment & Referral’s

Reply in Support of the Motion to

Bifurcate Trial

Defendants Team Construction 07.20.18 Resnick & Louis | JA 006327 - 27
Management, Inc. And Beacher LV’s JA 006352

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment as a Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for a New Trial
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Verdict (Phase 1)

05.29.18

Court

JA 005920 -
JA 005923

25
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8. All documenis evidencing and/or describing the relationship, contractual or non-
contractual between BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC, and DAVID
COPPERFIELD aka DAVID S, KOTKIN, DAVID COPPERFIELD’S DISAPPEARING,
INC,, MGM GRAND HOTEL, LLC, and TEAM CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT,
INC.

10. Al documents evidencing the duties and responsibilities of each entity based
on the contractual or non-contraciual relationship set foril in documents o be produced in
response (o request number twelve (9) above.

11 Alldocunents identifving employees, agents or contractors on duty at the David
Caopperfield Show for the period from November 12, 2008 to the present,

2. Any and all documents reflecting a contractual agreement between
BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC, and DAVID COPPERFIELD’S
DISAPPEARING, INC, in force on November 12, 2013,

LIST OF TOPICS ON WHICH EXAMINATION 1§ SOUGHT

NOTHCE: in this list, “inctdent” or “incident area™, refers to Plaintiff, Gavin Cox’s fall
as deseribed in Plainti{fs’ Complaint in this matter. andfor the area in which Mr. Cox fell and‘or
was otherwise injured on or about November 12, 2013, “thealer” refers o the area in which the
David Copperfield show was performing the 13 Hlusion on or about November 12, 2013,
“route” refers to the route taken by participants in the 13 lHusion performed as part of the
David Copperfield show on November 12, 2013, and “David Copperfield Show™ refers to the
David Copperfield’s performance of Hlusions at the MGM.

EXAMINATION WILL BE SOUGHT ON THE FOLLOWING SUBJECTS

i The specitic organization of Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC, with respect 1o :respoﬁsihility for inspecting, reviewing and/or approving
working conditions &t locations for which BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND

REFERRAL, INC, provides labor including, bt not Hmited 10, responsibility for regular

-7
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visits and/or inspections of particwlar work sites and review and approval of specific tasks to
be performed by said labor,

2. Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC.s
understanding of the incident and injary at issue in this litigation. NOTE: Plaintiff is not
seeking to obtain scientific or medical opinions, rather is simply trying to learn of
Defendant’s understanding of bosic facts pursuant to: United States EXOC v. Cuesars
Entm’s, Inc, 237 F.R.D. 428 (D. Nev, 2006); Taylor v, Shaw, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16305
(D. Ney, Mar, 5, 2007); Co., 251 F.R.D. 334 (D.
Nev, 2008).

Great Am. Ins. Co. of N.Y. v, Vegas Const.

3. tdentity of the wiinesses known i Defendani. BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC,, to the incident, injury, and events involved, and
what they know, as currently known by Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC..

4, Identities including:

[A)  [dentity of those persons who were present in, or in proximity to the
incident area at the time the incident ocourred:

(B8)  Klentity of those persons {directed by Defendani BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC. ) who cither investigated the incident or recorded
or observed items in the incident areq;

{C)  Meniity of those persons who participated, before or after the incident,
in maintaining and/or inspecting the incident area and/or route, employed by, or under contract
with, Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC..

() Identily of those persons who are supervisors of any of the persons

discovered in the inguiries listed above,

JA001914
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5. The ideniity. jobs, ftitles. and supervisors of all BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC.’s officers, employees. and agents who were
scheduled 10 be working or actually working in proximily to the incident area in the 24 hours
before or 24 hours after the subject incident.

6. In regard (o the persons identified in items 4 and § above:

(A} What each person observed, if known. on that date concerning the
persons, location, conditions, items, objects, or events of the incident at issue;

(B)  What each ol them did on that date in regard to the incident at issue;

tC}  Whatthey said or reported concerning the persons, premises, conditions,
items, objects, or evens of the incident in regard to the incident at issue; and

{D)  What cach reported abowt the injuries of Plaintiff, in repard to the
incident at issue.

7. The incident and its causes, including BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC.s position on what caused the incident, and the facts supporting that
position. NOTE: Pluintiffs ure not seeking to obtain scientific or medical opinions, rather
is simply trying to learn of Defendant’s understanding of basic facts pursuant te: United
States EEQC v, Cacsurs Engng’s, inc, 237 F.R.D. 428 (D. Nev. 2006); Tuylor v, Shaw, 2067
U.S. Dist, LEXIS 16305 (D. Nev. Mar. 3, 2007); Great Am. fus. Co. of N

Co,, 251 F.R.D. 534 (D. Nev, 2008).

8. BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMUENT AND REFERRAL, INC. s position on what
Plaintiffs did carelessly or wrongfully that contributed 1o cauvse the injuries that Plaintiffs
received, and the facts supporting that position, as set forih in Defendant’s Answer and any
Amendiments thereto. NOTE: Plaintiffs are not seeking to obtain scientific or medicol
opinipns, rather is simply wying to learn of Defendant’s understanding of basic facts
United 237 F.R.D. 428 (D. Nev. 2006);
Zaylor v, Shaw, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16305 (D. Nev. Mar. 5, 2007); Great Am. ins. Co. of

pursiant {o: Stares EEOC v. Caesars Entmi't, Inc

Yo
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1r..Co., 251 F.R.D. 534 (D. Nev. 2008).

9, Instructions  and waminps given to Plainiiff by BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC. regarding participation in he 13 Hiusion on 12,
21 3. including, but not limited to, any written instructions or directions provided.

I, Conversations and statements by, or 1o, Plaiatff regarding Plaintiffs’
participation in the (3 Hlasion on 12, 2013,

Il.  Discussion regarding written documenis provided to BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC., with regard to participation in. and ¢ompletion
af the 13 Hlusion in the peried from 12, 2008 w present.

12. Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC.'s
relationship with and duties to other Defendants including, but not limited to, DAVID
COPPERFIELD aka DAVID S. KOTKIN, BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
RETFERRAL, INC.; DAVID COPPERFIELD'S DISAPPEARING, INC. or TEAM
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT, INC.

13. Responsibilities of Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC.’s eraployees, agents or contraciors in conducting and/or assisting i
illusions performed as part of the David Copperfield Show including, bul not limited 10,
inspection of, and navigation through the route of the 13 Hlusion.

14. Responsibilities of Defendang BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC.’s employees and agents in approving the design, lighting. location and/or
route used by pacticipants of the David Copperfield Show including, but not fimited to,
inspection of proposed design, lighting and timing of use of the route and provision of
employees for participation in, or assistance wilh. an illusion.

15, Responsibilities of Defendant BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC. semployees and agentsin i aventing, conceptualizing or otherwise creating

iliusions used as part of David Copperfield Show for the period of 12, 2008 to present,

-10-
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16, BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC.’s system, rules
and repulations for the reperting of incidents or colfection of data regarding incidents on the
premises, and the identity of all other incidents involving injuries to participams in the David
Copperficld Show, whether by employee, contracior, or audience participant, in the periad from
November 12, 2008, to the present date,

17.  Explanations of all decuments requested to be broonght to the deposition. This
will include not only the content. but also the evidentiary foundation for the document,
including the method of its creation or acquisition, the name of the person who created or
recorded it, its method of srorage or modification or possible modification, whether the
docament is authentic and wostworthy, and, if claimed not amthentic or nol trustworthy. the
facts upon which BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC. makes that
claim.

18.  General Corporate structure of BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND
REFERRAL, INC. | including, but not hmited to, the identities of those individuals
empowered to approve is approve, deny or slter any proposed contraci for labor or

émployment with any entity,

JAQ01917
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[9.  Facteal information and soutces of such facts, and information supporiing
Defendant’s affirmative defenses os set forth and rellecied in Defendant’s Answer and
Amendments therete. NOTE: Plaintiffis not seeking to obtuin scientific or medical opinions,
rather is simply trying to learn of Defendant’s understanding of basic fucts pursnant to:
Enifed Statex FEQC v. Cuesars Entm’t, Inc, 237 F.R.D. 428 (D, Nev, 2006); Taylorv. Shaw,
2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16305 (D, Nev, Muyr. 5, 2007);

Constr. Co., 2517 FLR.D. 334 (D. Nev, 2608).
DATED this T48hwday of Jauuary, 2016,
HARRIS & HARRIS

By /st BRIAN K. HARRIS
BRIAN K. HARRIS, FSO.
Nevada Bar No. 7737
CHRISTIAN N. GRIFFIN, ERQ.
Nevada Bar No. {0661
2029 Ala Drive
las Vegas, Nevada 89106
702.880.4529 - Telephone
702.880,4528 - Facsimile
Atiorneys for Flaintiffs
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copy of the foregoing SECOND AMENDED NOTICE OF TAKING 36(b)(6)

DEPOSITION - PERSON(S) MOST KNOWLEDGEABLE BACKSTAGE
EMPLOYMENT AND REFERRAL, INC. addressed (o the following counsel of record at

the following address(es):

9"{\ VIA U.S. MAIL: by placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with
postage thereon fully prepaid, addressed as indicated on service fist below in the United
States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada. '

VIA FACSIMILE: by causing a true copy thereoi to be lelecopied {o the number
indicated on the service list below.

S‘_&_ VIA ELECTRONIC: FILE ONLY / FILE AND SERVE / SERVICE ONLY by
causing a teue copy thereof to be electronically submitted through WIZNET, the Eighth
Judicial District Court efiling program,

. YIA PERSONAL DELIVERY: by causing a true copy hereof to be hand delivered
on this dafe o the addressee{s) at the address(es) set forth on the service Jist below,

Howard J. Rugsell, Esqg.

Timothy A. Matt, Esq.
WEINBERG WHEELER HUDGINS GUNN & DIAL, LIL.C
6385 8. Rainbow Boulevard, Suile 400

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.938.3838 - Telephone
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Russell, Howard

From: Adam Deutsch <ADeutsch@morellilaw.com>

Sent: Thursday, April 19, 2018 5:15 PM

To: Roger Strassburg

Cc: Russell, Howard; Perry Fallick; Jerry C. Popovich; Benedict P. Morelli; Elaine K. Fresch; Eric

O. Freeman; Roberts, Lee; Gary Call; Bonney, Audra R.; BHarris@harrislawyers.net;
HHarris@harrislawyers.net, CGriffin@harrislawyers.net; PFromhart@harrislawyers.net
Subject: Re: Cox v. MGM Grand Hotel

I am not shocked, but I am writing to advise that minutes ago we received yet another call from a former
participant in the 13 illusion who may have information relevant to this matter. We are conducting our due
diligence and will provide information to everyone per the judges order.

Adam

Morelli Law Firm PLLC
777 Third Avenue

New York, New York 1007
p. 212-751-9800

f. 212-751-0046

Sent from my iPhone

> On Apr 19, 2018, at 5:37 PM, Roger Strassburg <rstrassburg@rlattorneys.com> wrote:

>

> Thank you for the disclosure.

> Are you in a position yet to disclose your scheduled order of proof?

>

> Roger Strassburg

> Partner

> Resnick & Louis, P.C.

> Admitted in: AZ, NM, NV, OH, UT

> 602.456.6776

> Cell: 480.227.3869

> rstrassburg@rlattorneys.com

>

> Albuquerque | Bakersfield | Charleston | Dallas | Denver | Las Vegas | Miami | Orange County | Orlando |
Phoenix | Riverside | Sacramento | Salt Lake City | San Diego | Tampa | London, U.K.

> https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/PmlzC6804g TrXymgIplE9P

>

> This message is confidential and may contain privileged information. Only the intended recipient is
authorized to read or utilize the information contained in this e-mail. If you receive this message in error,

please discard the message and advise the sender by reply e-mail or by phone.
>

>
> -—----Original Message-----

> From: Adam Deutsch [mailto: ADeutsch@morellilaw.com]
> Sent: Thursday, April 19,2018 1:15 PM

> To: Russell, Howard <HRussell@wwhgd.com>
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> Ce: Perry Fallick <PFallick@morellilaw.com>; Jerry C. Popovich <JPopovich@selmanlaw.com>; Benedict
P. Morelli <BMorelli@morellilaw.com>; Elaine K, Fresch <EFreschi@selmanlaw.com>; Eric O. Freeman
<efreeman(@selmanlaw.com™>; Roberts, Lee <LRoberts@wwhgd.com>; Gary Call <gcall@rlattorneys.com>;
Roger Strassburg <rstrassburg(@rlattomeys.com>; Bonney, Audra R. <ABonney@wwhgd.com>;
BHarris@harrislawyers.net; HHarris@harrislawyers.net; CGriffin@harrislawyers.net;
PFromhart@harrislawyers.net

> Subject: Re: Cox v. MGM Grand Hotel
>

> All,

> Please be advised that earlier today we were contacted by another potential witness. This new witness is a
former participant in the 13 illusion at the MGM grand. We are in the process of assessing her claims with the
same due diligence discussed yesterday. We will disclose information relevant to this witness by the deadline
set by the judge for the other witness.

> Adam

> Morelli Law Firm PLLC

> 777 Third Avenue

> New York, New York 1007

>p. 212-751-9860

> f. 212-751-0046

>

> Sent from my iPhone
>
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David Copperfield stooge claims he was left brain-damaged in bungled vanishing trick | ... Page 1 of 29
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Copperfield does it? Stooge who claims he e fottom
was left brain-damaged in bungled T e
- . . s oltow " _
vanishing trick reveals magician's secret Dk aly o
techniques in sensational three-year legal FEMAL TODAY
battle PICTURE EXCLUSIVE:
Coie fly with mal
« London-born chet Gavin Gox, 56, was called on stage by David Copperfieid I‘m‘;;f!:"l“;'::";.:""‘ oo
- But he fell backstage after taking part In an lllusion with inflatable balls prw;l;h ::sm h:;:ml;fﬂn
« Mr Cox sald he was lett permansnily brain damaged as a result ‘ ;r:l::ma mtr:rlei;“
- Coppertiald’'s lawyars denied Mr Cox's allegations and say the illusion has
been safely performad for 15 years Involving 100,000 participants ';rr:v:: :;2«;1:::
By CAROLINE GRAKFAM ANO PAUL CAHALAN ;:::.: Iﬁ:ﬂ?&"m
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hotiest tickel in town, to see David Copperfield at the MGM Hotal and Casino. silence an shock Tam
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Ban fram that mament followed 2 series of events 1hat Londan-bom Mr Gox clalma have ‘wiecked' s 'y bussh &f 88-

his life & have placed him i legal kggerhaads with Capperfisld. m;;: women aliout
The extracroinary cess has dragged on for almosat three years and lad to the megician's lechniques

being revealed in unpracedented detall Modsl in iraininal Hoidl §
Mr Cox, 55, had bean picked fram the audienca {o tzke part In an ifkusian in which 13 fans ‘vaniah® taum's uzughier Lonl,

from inside a suspended cage on stage — enly to ‘miraculously’ reappear moments (ater atthe back 2 A% IHREE PR
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Gavin Cox In hosplal after his fall. Gavin fel and Injurad himeelf sarioualy at the MOM Grand after
volynteering in a Bavid Copperfisld show

Bul according to Mr Cox, a chef who once cockad for tha Queen Mother, the siunt warm homribily socond child

wrong after he slipped and fell in & pocrly I ares, keaving him parmancntly brain-damagad. Dy aftar the couple

i Ia hig sensational court dacuments K1 & clalm for millions of dallar agalnst the magician and the shated their baby
nolel which shwd light an the emake and mirrors world of 8 moedarn-day Houdiri, Hanging tightl Niek
Tne ciatm states: ‘During the tick pisintf [Mr Cox] was injured when he was umrisd with no danas dnd Cemd

quidanca or interactlon through a dark area under construction with cemeni dust and debris, causing :‘,:’:: z::,;’:,:“,:,’."

him o sllp and fall,' Bhow to promoe thelr

in 8n exciusive interview with The Mail on Sunciay isst night, Mr Cox sald: 'Seeing David COpPeriald e or s yoars

was the highiight of & dream trip o caletwale my S3nd birthday, Instead R turned mnto a nightmaers,
My health has bren wracked, and I've lost my business and my lifa savings.’

Thought Clod was

Mr Cox and his wite ers sesking puniliva dameages rom Copperfield and MGM far alisged €0o0l? Aak his
negliganca. The magician and the holel vehemently deny the claims, saying the injuries wera daughter Diny Harry
caused by 'pre-axisting and/or unrelaied medical conditions”. star revalé childran

mought he was & ‘blg
dock' dasplte his icanle
status
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Today M7 Gox I6 forced 1o wear an axygen lung’ 8t night becauss ha slops bregihing, ang he speni  'Mer=ssed the sxecs
lhvee marihs n @ Californian brain frauna centre: The couple claim they have been forced to live in
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Their lifestyle could not be more differen kom Copperfiald’s, whose talems heve eamed him a £550
million fortune, Including palatial homes (n Neveda and Caffornia, and a siring of 11 private slands
in tha Bahamas known s Copparield Bay.

The rragician, bam plain David Kotidn in Mew Jersey, was oncs enfaged to supermods] Claudla
Schiffer and Is now dating French madel and designer Chice Gosselin.

Meanwhie, hame for the Coxes {a & rented agariment in a suburb of Lag Vegas.

"WWe ara too broke to go oul end Gevin's Injuries prevant us from enjoying a normal life,” Mra Cox
s@id. 'Gavin once cookad for royalty but now he can't even bake a muffin becauge he has nerve
darmage in his hands and no sanes of smll*

Their nightmare began in November 2013 when Copperfieid 'chose’ Gavin to ake part in the trick -~
called 13 - by hurling giant Inflatable balls inta the audincs, Those who caught them were invited lo
the siage ‘I was In seventh heaven when | caught a ball.* Mr Cox sald. )

A§ he walked to the stage, the 8A 4in chef said
ne was askéd ihreg questions by a Copparfield
employea: Could he run? Yvas he a magician?
Was he a member of ihe Preaa?

Once on stage, he and 12 othare were seated In
8 sugpended cage and given torches to hold. He
ratalied: "A curtein comas & over the bax
and torch light shinea put to give the impresson
wa ars still In there.’

&1t was fotal pandemonium.
You don't know where you
are going. It's dark. There
are hands pushing you on
your back. As I wenf around
a comer, my feet slipped

E;R":' recity ‘sl hﬂ:’:’: M':'ce;:ﬂ;: the cunain from undemesth me and | hil
Copperfield's assistants hurried him gown a the ground 1
sacrel paasae, through a deor and outside ime .

the opsen air. He said: ‘[t wans fike a fire alam Gavin Cox

wene off, They were saying “Hurry! Run, run,
runt

‘It was total pandemonium. You dont know where you are gaing. It's dark. Theve are hands pushing
you en your back, Aa | went around a corner, my fest slipped from undemeath me and | hit the
ground.” Mr Cox fell a2 he ran around the sigs of the theatre. His kwsull claims Copperfield failed to
prevent, inspact, maintaln and wam of dangerous condillons' arx ciaimed the maglcian and the
hote falled to ‘devise a trick that would be safa for awdance participants’.

Copperfleld's lawyers deny this, saying ‘mulliple inspections’ were made of the area.
Nr Cox blackad out after tia kel bui ramembera tha mudience cheering il the end of the trick.

Alenwands Copperfield came to a side room lo Ll 1o the 13 and said he trusted thay would nol to
reveal ils secrets.

Mr Cox ctalms the magiclan wes told, "This guy s Injured He needs sn ambulance’, and that he tokl
Copparfield he finished the trick despite ihe injuries aa ‘| didnt wan! 1o let you deowr',

Hawever, documents flied in Coppednlield's defence rr3ist Mr Cox asked for help only afier the
magiclan lefl the reom.

An ambulance tock Mr Cox to hospitai whers his right shoulder was found to be disiocated.
Two days leter he Mied out an accldent report at MGM and hired 5 US personal injury lawyer.

David Copperfield stooge claims he was left brain-damaged in bungled vanishing trick | ... Page 4 of 29

for saaeon two af
Shadew Of Blue axitis
revasiad Oréaling Had's
Anna Guni Ik joining
the oxst

Alsssendr Ambrosic
showe aff shjnatura
bohe chic style in knit
Brown sl drogs and
pararnad scarf
Wit spotied oul in YWeal
Hollywoad

Twitter goes into

madewn a8 Taylor
Swilt fans ealt for herto
sing nest Jamas Band
thema aflar +ha s
spotted kssing 00T
hopefui Tom Hiddleston |

Suparmodel Naoml
Camplidll, 48, Is disge
raady in Sparkly blus
mini dress a8 she joins
lsar famous friands at
oharity bash
Broughi the glamsur

"The bakry neodad heip .

*: Rad Hot Chili
Fappem’ Anthany
Kiedls revenls ha halped
save a child's ife while
tiiming Jamas Corden's
Coarpool Kavaohse

BAZ BAMIGEOYE:

Calin casts olf in
sodlaring 1ag; Oecar
wicinor finds his g0z
legs In drama gbouk
disgraded reund-the-
wovld yachisman

Back to TV BR vet

Qearge Cloohey signs
deal ta produce amall-
scraen shows starting
with drug company
drmma Amorca's Moat
Admired Lawbreakar

‘ve baen wanting s

change my hair for a
witlta!' Kandalt Jenmar
meveals i was Chriaty
Turlinglon's ‘803 lob
that inspired her to chop
har {ocks

'Meap itin your

RQUSAIE, BON": Wise
wards fram Rod
Swrwart's dad in Ted
Massier's moving My
Old kisn; Taley of Cur
Fathers

“Got oul of my

momentt Kendall
Jennar claps back at
Stephaniv Seymour
afnr aha branded
Kandall snd Gig| Haald
not real supermadals

Topleas Kim

Kordashian sate
puises reeing as she
gals steanty Gabweon
tho skeets 1 sultry -
image from stupning 03 ¥
shoot
Raunchy poiss

‘Come next Yme and

'l ahow yair': Ruby
Rose mepands tn
Calltarnia DJ Jash
Blilings whs suggested
she fakod' her sals
Bhills quastioned

Hard-samad figurel

Jullanna Heugh
displays kout tummy in
bright crop tap frorm har
own athiic ime a8 sho
toavos LA gym

http://Ww.dailymaii.co.uk/news/article-3625583/Abracadebacle-wondcred-David—E‘[tj&pﬁro. 1665%016



Pl

LA A AL

0 el L)

ENAIT
Lrara s el

Gavin Cox snd wite Minh #f thair Lawyer's office in Las Vegas. Gavin feif andd injured himagif sardousdy gt tha
MGM Gramd aftor ing in a David show

Hig wife saiy: "We stayed in the US lor thrae waeks because Gavin's injuries meent ha couidn't fly.
Onee back In Britain, Mr Cox said he begen fo suffer chronic: pain, haadaches and confusion. A
acan would later Show lesiong an his brain,

Bul Mrs Gox said NHS watling fists were ‘too long and he neaded immediate treatment’.

So ths coupte retumned to Vegas in February 2014. Their travel Insurer refused 1o pay for engoing

treatment, bul they were s8en under a ‘medical llen' - doctors agreed to treat Mr Gox and racalve
payrmeni only when the awsult s settled.

M Cox's career had once included years as B chef 8t London’s Buck's Club, whetre he cooked for
the Queen Mather, Margare! Thatcher and Dracula actor Chrislopher Les, and running a
guesthouse in Broadstairs, Kent.

Bul he has been unahle to wark sinca the aceifent

Having hed mulliple operations an his back and nack, he has been diagnosed with permanent brain
damage and a form of Parkinsor's

SHARE TH!S RELATED ARTICLES

ARTICLE
Whoue trich wan #t? Watch prankatsr pretend
Britain'a Got Talent 1o VOMIT on harrifled
winner's final... Tube...

1 would love 10 make
magic my career”
Magician Richzrd,,.

Tarture, magic and the
hero who inepired ‘ﬂ'r
Beitain's Got... "

743 shares

His wife sald: "The {orce of the fall shook wp s Brain. His Bhoulder ook the brunt, A doclor sedd if
he'd kit his haad his neck would have snapped and he'd be dead.’

Thelr 11-yaar-old son Hany has remalned In tha UK, cared for by the couple’s oldesat edn Qllver, 25
The Coxes were torced t seil thal guesthouse for E415,000 g the. and of 2014 and having been
living oft their savings.

A recont date for mediation was pushed back after the magiclan’s tawyers said they nesdad to travel
1o the UK ta question Mr Cox'y sons and British doctors under oath.

Copperfield’s legal team caim b4 Cox could have receivad the care ha nesded In the UK, saying:
'The clalm that they wers forced to seak ireatment In Las Vegas end are now irapped here g not
true’

A Uial dale for the case has been set for January 2017,

David Copperfield stooge claims he was left brain-damaged in bungled vanishing trick | ... Page 5 of 29
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David Copperfield stooge claims he was left brain-damaged in bungled vanishing trick

Last night Copperfield's lewyers seid: 'This illusion hes bean pedormed far more han 15 years and
with more than 100,000 participants. The history of tha show spaaks for itself. \We deny all
alegatione. Lnfortunelely we cannol comment further due to ongoing Inigatien.”

David Copperfield's privately owned island {rglated)
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Man says he’s exposing David Copperfield illusion in
slip-and-fall lawsuit | Las Vegas Review-Journal

RJ; www.reviewjournal.com /opinion/columns-blogs/doug-elfman/man-says-he-s-exposing-david-
copperfield-illusion-slip-and-fall

By DOUG ELFMAN LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL

A London chef who once cooked for the queen of England is exposing a big David Copperﬁeld illusion, while
sying the MGM Grand and its star,

Copperfield has a vanishing-crowd routine called “Lucky #13," according to legal papers obtained by the RJ.
The illusion goes like this.

Thirteen audience volunteers are invited to sit in a cage onstage, they're given lights to hold, covered by a
curtain, the curtain drops to reveal they're not there anymore, then they reappear in the back of the theater.

How do they do that?

Gavin Cox, who has bean suing Copperfield for years over a sfip-and-fall, is now claiming to reveal the
answer this week, the same week Copperfield is getting press as a co-producer of “Now You See Me 2,”
which opens Friday. (Chris Lawrence writes about Copperfigld's roie in making the movie in his column on
Page 1D))

In 2013, tourist Cox, 55, and a dozen others voluntarily walked onstage to be part of the trick. The following
is what Cox told London's Daily Mail.

w After he signed up, Cox was asked by an assistant if he could run, if he was a magician, and if he was a
member of the press,

= Once the curtain obscured the cage of volunteers, different lllusion lights began shining out from the box to
pretend the volunteers were still there with their lights.

m However, once the cage was covered by that curtain, stage assistants rushed the volunteers through dark,
secret passageways and around the side of the theater, then entered the back of the theater, standing there
with torches, to the crowd'’s applause.

Ta-dah? That's the big to-do?

Cox says while he was hustling through dark and dusty construction passageways, there were hands on his
back, he slipped and fell at a ramp, he got up and finished the trick so as not to disappoint Copperfield, and
Copperield asked him and the others not to reveal the secrets of running and stuff.

But Cox was taken by ambulance to a hospital with a dislocated shoulder.

When Cox and wife Mihn returned to Britain, he had chronic pain, headaches and confusion, and a scan
showed a lesion on his brain, his fawsuit contends.

http://www. printfriendly.com/print/?source=cs&urI=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.rcvicwirf’m 1%016
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The couple moved to Vegas in 2014 to see doctors here under a madical lien, as Cox, thus jobless and
aiready down $400,000 in medical care, underwent operations on his neck and back, while batiling
permanent brain damage, they say.

Meanwhile, the couple's 25-year-old son remains in the UK caring for their 11-year-old son.

Copperfield and the MGM Grand “vehemently deny the claims,” and “deny all allegations,” blaming Cox's
medical problems on “pre-existing andfor unrelatad medical conditions,” the Daily Mail reported.

| left messages for attorneys for Cox, Copperfield and the MGM Grand on Wednesday. No replies by
deadline.

VEGAS AND THE FILM FEST

Speaking of “magic,” Rio headliners Penn &Teller “proudly do tricks,” not magic, Penn Jilletie wrote in a
Parade magazine interview he just did in May with Jesse Eisenberg, who stars in “Now You See Me 2.

Penn &Teller are presenting their own wacky movie, "Director's Cut,” at the end of Thursday night's Las
Vegas Film Festival in the Palms hotel.

The festival runs through Sunday, as you probably know from reading Chris Lawrence in the RJ.

Jillette will present Thursday's screening of Penn &Teller's crowd-funded comedy-horror film, It stars Jillette
as a stalker who buys a crowd-funded horror movie, edits himself into the fitm, and may kidnap somsone.
How's that for a meta movie?

ATTN: PARENTS OF AUTISTIC kids

Blue Man Group is bringing back last year's special show for autistic children and their families this Sunday
afternoon.

The Luxor stage show will cut back on its light and sound levels (and makes earplugs available) to provide a
caimer environment in the theater and in the lobby.

Last year, 858 people took in the autistic-friendly show.
Tickets cost $36, and the net income will go to the Grant a Gift Autism Foundation.
There will be “quiet zones™ in the lobby, with bean bags, and crayon pages.

Doug Eifman can be reached at deffman@reviewjournal.com. He blogs at reviewjournal.com/elfman. On
Twitter: @VegasAnonymous

http://www.printfriendly.com/print/?source=cs&url=http%3 A%2F%2Fwww.reviewjournal... 6/16/2016
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Electronically Filed

CASE NO. A705164
DEPT. NO. 13

DOCKET U

HAGR040- 2 -AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERZ OF THE COﬂE |;

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* & % * %

GAVIN COX and MINH-HAHN COX,
husband and wife,

Plaintiffs,
vs.

MGM GRAND HOTEL, LLC; DAVID
COPPERFIELD aka DAVIS S.
KOTKIN; BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT
AND REFERRAIL, INC.; DAVID
COPPERFIELD'S DISAPPEARING,
INC.; TEAM CONSTRUCTION
MANAGEMENT, INC.; DOES 1
through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES 1
through 20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1 through 20,

Defendants.

MGM GRAND HOTEL, LILC.,
Third-Party Plaintiff,

Vs,

BEACHER'S LV, LLC, and DOES 1

through 20, inclusive,

Third-Party Defendants.

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT
OF
JURY TRIAL
BEFORE THE HONORABLE
MARK R. DENTON
DEPARTMENT XIII

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 25, 2018
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REPORTED BY: KRISTY L. CLARK, RPR, NV CCR #708,

CA CSR #13529

Case Number: A-14-705164-C
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APPEARANCES :

For the Plaintiff:

MORELLI LAW FIRM

BY: BENEDICT P. MORELLI, ESQ.
BY: ADAM E. DEUTSCH, ESQ.

BY: PERRY FALLICK, ESQ.

777 Third Avenue

31st Floor

New York, New York 10017

(212) 751-9800
bmorelli@morellilaw.com
adeutsch@morellilaw.com

For the Defendant Team Construction Management, Inc.
and Beacher's LV, LIC:

RESNICK & LOUIS, P.C.

BY: ROGER STRASSBURG, ESQ.
BY: GARY CALL, ESQ.

5940 South Rainbow Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
(702) 997-3800
gcall@rlattorneys.com

For the Defendants MGM Grand Hotel:

SELMAN EREITMAN, LLP

BY: JERRY C. POPOVICH, ESQ.
BY: SUSAN FILLICHIO, ESQ.

6 Hutton Centre Drive

Suite 1100

Santa Ana, California 92707
(714) 647-9700
jpopovich@selmanlaw.com

- AND -

SELMAN BREITMAN, LLP

BY: ERIC 0. FREEMAN, ESQ.
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway
Suite 200

Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 228-7717
efreeman@selmanbreitman. com
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APPEARANCES (CONTINUED) :

For the Defendant Backstage Employment and Referral,
Inc.:
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WEINBERG, WHEELER, HUDGINS, GUNN & DIAL
BY: D. LEE ROBERTS, JR., ESQ.

BY: HOWARD RUSSELL, ESQ.

6385 South Rainbow Boulevard

Suite 400

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

(702) 938-3838

lroberts@wwhgd. com

For the Defendants David Copperfield's Disappearing,
Inc. and David Copperfield aka David S. Kotkin:

SELMAN BREITMAN, LLP

BY: ELAINE K. FRESCH, ESQ.

11766 Wilshire Boulevard

Sixth Floor

Los Angeles, California 90025-6538
(310) 445-0800

efreschlaw.com
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INDEJX
Witness: Direct: Cross: Redirect: Recross:
Ryan 33 108, 146 188
Carvahlo 146, 165
171
Patricia 210 228, 255
Anne Esack 317, 318
EXHIBITS
Number: Marked: Admitted: Joint:
415 71
84-22 173
4
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, APRIL 25, 2018;

9:27 A.M.

PROCEEDINGS

* ok Kk ok Kk kX

(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.)

THE MARSHAL: All rise. District
Department 13 is now in session, the Honorable Mark
Denton presiding.

THE COURT: Good morning. Please be seated.
We are resuming in Cox v. MGM Grand Hotel, LLC. We're
outside the presence of the jury. Please state
appearances of counsel, identify parties and party
representatives who are present.

MR. MORELLI: Benedict P. Morelli for the
plaintiff, Gavin and Minh Cox, who are in the
courtroom.

MR. DEUTSCH: Good morning, Your Honor. Adam
Deutsch, also for the plaintiff.

MR. FALLICK: Good morning, Your Honor.
Perry Fallick for the plaintiff.

MR. POPOVICH: Good morning. Jerry Popovich

for defendant MGM Grand Hotels with counsel Mike
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W W N W N

N NN RN NN B B R B R B B B R oA
B W N R O W O B WN R O

Infuso.

MS. FRESCH: Good morning, Your Honor.

Elaine Fresch for David Copperfield, David Copperfield
Disappearing, Inc. And with me is my associate Eric
Freeman.

MR. ROBERTS: Good morning, Your Honor. Lee
Roberts for Backstage.

MR. RUSSELL: Good morning, Your Honor.
Howard Russell for Backstage.

MR. STRASSBURG: May it please the Court,
Roger Strassburg, assisted by my partner Gary Call, for
Team Construction Management.

THE COURT: All right. As I indicated, we're
outside the presence of the jury. 1I'll take up now the
matter pertaining to three witnesses previously
undisclosed but who apparently contacted plaintiffs'
counsel while this trial has been in progress and
plaintiff is now seeking permission to call these
witnesses in this trial. All right?

I have read the briefs. I know what your
respective positions are. I have a couple of
questions. And then we can —— I'll ascertain what the
facts are pertaining to these particular witnesses.

I understand that the first witness named was

involved in something that took place in Seattle, I

JAOO1938
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think, in 2002.

MR. DEUTSCH: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. As far as I'm concerned,
that's just way too remote. 1It's not even in the
same ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, if I may respond.
If the defendants had opened on "this had never
happened at the MGM Grand," then maybe Your Honor's
ruling would fit with the facts of this case.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. DEUTSCH: But the defendants didn't open
on that. The defendants did math and testified from
all of their witnesses that this has never happened
anywhere, not just at the MGM Grand, but anywhere.
They talked about how the trick was developed in 1998.
They talked about the fact that they've been doing it
since 1998. They've talked about how no one has gotten
hurt since 1998.

And the math that Ms. Fresch did during her
opening statements started with the 96,000, which
represented the number of people who have done this
trick forever, not just here. So they opened the door
completely to this issue of it's never happened, ever.

So for us to now —— the jury to have heard

testimony that this has never happened before —— no one

7
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has ever fallen, no one has ever gotten injured —-—
anywhere they have ever done the trick and we now have
evidence to show that is just patently false, it's
false.

And not only, Your Honor, did they know that
she fell, but the testimony from Ms. Esack will be that
Mr.. Copperfield called her personally to apologize,
there was a claim brought by an attorney, and the case
was settled by David Copperfield Disappearing, Inc.,
for which we have the releases for.

And Ms. Esack is prepared to testify that
Mr. Copperfield spoke to her afterwards, while she was
being loaded into the ambulance because she shattered
her wrist in multiple places and had to be taken to a
Tier 1 trauma center, and that, within a day 6r two
after that, Mr. Copperfield went onto Good morning
America and said, "Nobody's ever been injured during
any of my tricks."

And then the day after that, Mr. Copperfizid
called her home. Ms. Esack's mother picked up the
phone and hung up on Mr. Copperfield because she was so
angry that he lied on Good Morning America about the
fact that nobody had ever been injured in his trick.

So the defendants in this case opened the

door, Your Honor, to the fact that nobody has ever

JA001940




w W < o bk W N R

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R
n & W M P O 0 ® 2 6 U1 W N R O

gotten hurt, ever. That makes the entire trick, from
its inception in 1998, relevant. And if the jury were
to go back to the jury room to deliberate with an
understanding that nobody has ever been hurt from the
beginning of this trick to now, they would be going to
the Jjury room without all of the relevant information
in this case.

And as Your Honor made very clear at the
beginnihg yesterday, and the supreme court has felt,
the goal in this is to have the jury decide this case
on the merits and to find the truth. And they have now
proffered a defense that, we have been able to prove or
will be able to prove with Ms. Esack, is patently
untrue. And, therefore, to prevent us from calling
Ms. Esack, in light of their position in opening
statements, would be extremely prejudicial to us.

THE COURT: 1In light of the position on
opening statements, what about in light of evidence
that's been adduced?

MR. DEUTSCH: Mr. Copperfield —

THE COURT: Opening statements are not
evidence.

MR. DEUTSCH: Understood. Mr. Copperfield
testified that nobody has ever gotten hurt, ever. And

Mr. Copperfield testified to three different things, as

9
JA001941




O 00 -1y R W NN R

N NN NN R R B B B B B R B opRp
B W NN R O YW O ® d oW W N KB O

did Mr. Kenner. And I'll give Your Honor the cites in
a second. But Mr. Kenner testified nobody in the
history of the trick has ever fallen. Mr. Kenner
testified that nobody in the history of the trick has
ever fallen and got injured. Likewise, Mr., Copperfield
testified that nobody in the history of the trick has
fallen and in the history of the trick nobody has
gotten injured.

Those very specific questions were asked on
pages 99 and 101, which is Exhibit 15 to our brief, is
one of them. The other one is on Chris Kenner's
testimony, on page 198, which is Exhibit 16 to our
brief,

So all of the witnesses in this case that
have testified thus far have made clear to this jury
that nobody in the history of this trick —- nobody has
at any point said just the MGM Grand. Never. That
wasn't their position at the beginning of the case. It
wasn't the witnesses' position in this case. Nobody
has limited it to just MGM Grand. Ever. And now we're
hamstrung by it. Now we're —-

THE COURT: I have to take each of these.
pecple individually, so let me hear a response.

MR. POPOVICH: Well, Ms. Esack is easy for

MGM, Your Honor. No relevance to us at all.

10
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THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MORELLI: That's true.

THE COURT: What about David Copperfield?

MS. FRESCH: First of all, I agree with Your
Honor, respectfully, that this is so remote —-

THE COURT: Yeah, but counsel has pointed out
some very interesting things.

MS. FRESCH: Well, the testimony —— well,
first of all, if the plaintiffs had done their proper
disclosure as you requested that they do —— or ordered
them to do last Friday, because they're saying things
that I've never heard about. So it's really
interesting. So I feel like, once again, I'm
sandbagged here in terms of my arqument.

THE COURT: Let me ask a question. Let me
interrupt you. Is Ms. Esack the one that has to go
back today?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, she is, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Why does she have to go back?

MR. DEUTSCH: For work. She has an afternoon
flight this evening. BAnd just with respect to that,
our requirements for disclosure are to —

THE COURT: I understand. Just respond to my
question. You'll have a chance to respond.

MR. DEUTSCH: I understand. I apologize.

11
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Yes, she is the one that's going back this
afternoon at, like, 4:00.

THE COURT: When does she have to go back to
work?

- MR. DEUTSCH: Because she's here voluntary --

THE COURT: When? When does she —-

MR. DEUTSCH: When. Oh, she's prepared to
fly out today at 4:30 and go to work tomorrow. I mean,
she is here, you know, voluntarily, obviously, and —-

THE COURT: Right. So this thing comes up
before the Court last week on Wednesday, or whatever it
was. I ordered the disclosure to be made by Friday.
And then, all of a sudden, this witness has to testify
first thing —

MR. DEUTSCH: Well, Your Honor, we're working
around the schedules of the defendant -~ I mean, of the
defendants. Excuse me. We're working around the
schedules of —— these are nonparty witness who are here
100 percent on their own volition outside the subpoena
power of this state, you know. So it's really,
obviously, as Your Honor has made clear during the
different witnesses that we have had —-

THE COURT: So that's the one person who is
going to leave today; right?

MR. DEUTSCH: The other one is scheduled to

12
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leave tomorrow morning, I believe. Tomorrow at noon.

THE COURT: That's ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Ms. Lawrence.

THE COURT: Ms. Lawrence. Right. Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: And Ms. Rice, we were still
trying to work -- she was on vacation in Florida with
her family, I believe, until Wednesday, and we were
going to try to work out a time for her to come
afterwards. But -- but so I won't respond to her
questions —— her comments yet, if those are the only
questions you have, at this point.

THE COURT: Well, I did have one dealing with
the first one now.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah, yeah, yeah. Go back.

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, first of all, the
testimony in this trial versus my opening statement,
which apparently is now seems to be testimony, is that
Mr. Copperfield and Mr. Kenner stated they are unaware,
they have no knowledge, of other injuries. That is a
true statement. And I'd like to point out to you that
we did get —

THE COURT: Wait a second. Counsel just
referred to something about a phone conversation?

MS. FRESCH: Well, Your Honor, if I could
address that.

13
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THE COURT: Go ahead.

MS; FRESCH: We did obtain from Ms. Esack’s
former attorney a demand letter he sent to an insurance
carrier, not to my client, and he states,
quote/unquote, "David Copperfield never did speak with
Ms. Esack or personally check on her and no one on his
staff checked on her at the hospital.”

“THE COURT: Okay.

MS. FRESCH: This lawyer wrote a letter and
claimed —-— and as my client has said, he was shown
those documents yesterday. That did not refresh his
recollection. They are not signed by him. They're a
unilateral release. The other letter has nothing to
do —— it's at an address that's not even a proper
address. So he had no information. He testified —
and we go with the trial testimony that the jury has
heard.

And I find it compelling that — I know
they're saying that this witness is going to claim that
Mr. Copperfield said something, but I find it
interesting, back at the time of the event, the
attorney affirmatively stated —— and you would think
the attorney, when writing a letter to seek money and
do all this, would point out stuff, instead of saying

so affirmatively, "Mr. Copperfield never spoke to my

14
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client, never checked on her, and no one from his
staff" -- which presumably would be Backstage.

So 'it's too remote. We don't have any
information of how she fell. There is no testimony.
Counsel is wrong, and I find it very suspect, and I
do ——- Your Honor, as you just pointed out, I just find
it all suspect that this witness rushes in -- you did
not say that these people could testify, but they rush
her in so to sandbag us today that we -- we would have
to —

MR. DEUTSCH: Sandbag.

MS. FRESCH: -- somehow just have her testify
with something that happened in 2002, in a totally
different theater, up in Washington state. It's —— and
they didn't disclose all of this. This, I got myself.
This was not disclosed to us. Counsel should have

brought all this to me or to everyone in this case.

THE COURT: Thank you. Let me ask you a
question.

If these witnesses hadn't come up here, what
was your next witness to be called? Who? Who, I mean?

MR. DEUTSCH: One —— some of the Backstage
employees.

THE COURT: Okay. And you're prepared to
call them?

15
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MR. DEUTSCH: We are prepared to call them.

MR. RUSSELL: One of whom also flew in from
out of town, Your Honor. And he's here. He's probably
sitting outside right now.

THE COURT: Seems to me with respect to
Ms. — what is it?

MS. FRESCH: Esack.

MR. DEUTSCH: Esack.

THE COURT: Seems to me I have a couple of
alternatives. One would be that, while we're in
session in trial, a deposition could be taken of
Ms. Esack by associate counsel or whatever, somebody
who's involved in the case. That goes for everybody.

I think most of you have more than one here. Somebody
could be involved in that. Or we could do what we did
with the doctor a couple weeks ago and have the — I
just don't want —-— you know, I'm concerned about the
jury here,

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may —— if I may.
Ms. Fresch just used the word "sandbag." And if anyone
has been sandbagged here ——

THE COURT: I don't want to waste time
talking about sandbagging. What I want to do is I want
to figure out what we're going to do about this case.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, there's absolutely

16
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no harm or prejudice to anybody. They have had these

witnesses' numbers, just phone numbers, and have

spoken -—-

THE COURT: Let's do the depo. We'll do the
depo with —

MR. DEUTSCH: Mhy I make one more point, Your
Honor?

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: May I just make one more point?

Ms. Esack informed us that Mr. Freeman spoke
to her over the weekend and that Mr. Freeman asked her
what happened and said that he was shocked that his
client had not told him -- her about this accident.

So the fact that —- the fact that they knew
or should have known of this —— Mr. Copperfield --

THE COURT: Mr. Freeman is not Mr. Roberts.

MR. DEUTSCH: He's the one sitting down
there.

THE COURT: And he's not Mr. Popovich.

MR. DEUTSCH: He's not. He's one of their
lawyers.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. DEUTSCH: But, Your Honor, we don't see
how, at that point, when the defendants clearly knew of

this, they had a release from — Mr. Copperfield.
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THE COURT:. Okay. Take the deposition this
afternoon, and I'll consider allowing her to testify
tomorrow morning.

MR. ROBERTS: May I be heard briefly, Your
Honor?

THE COURT: Are we in session?

THE CLERK: Yes. The calendar needs to be
verified.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. ROBERTS: First of all —

THE CLERK: We have only eight ——

MR. ROBERTS: —— plaintiffs keep referring to
defendants with a broad brush.

Page 139 of the opening statement
transcripts, you'll see that the only thing Backstage
represented to the jury was that, in over ten years of
performing this illusion at the MGM, no one was hurt.

THE COURT: That's —— okay.

MR. ROBERTS: No mention was made of other
theaters and other shows.

THE COURT: That's Backstage.

MR. ROBERTS: That's Backstage, correct.

MR. DEUTSCH: Except Mr. Kenner is the
Backstage employee. He testified forever.

MR. ROBERTS: And he did, Your Honor. And I

18
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never elicited a single thing about a show other than
at the MGM, and I never elicited anything about other
people not being hurt.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ROBERTS: The cited testimony was
elicited by Mr. Morelli and —

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor.

THE COURT: -—- regarding Ms. Esack.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may we —-—

MR. ROBERTS: Thank you, Your Honor. But the
other thing the Court is leaving out is the exercise of
reasonable diligence to discover this witness. They
selectively excerpt and leave out portions of their

interrogatory. Exhibit B to our brief shows their

interrogatory —-

THE COURT: Going back to 2000 —

MR. ROBERTS: -- and is limited to the last
seven years.

THE COURT: Right. I understand.
MR. DEUTSCH: But the notice to admit went
back forever.

- THE COURT: All right.
MR. DEUTSCH: So as did the questions at the
deposition.
THE COURT: Okay. Let's —— so you've got to
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take the depo.

MR. DEUTSCH: The witnesses are ~- we're okay
with doing the video deposition, like we did for
Dr. Ashley. But what we would request instead, if Your
Honor would be open to it, is the witnesses are here.
They're outside the courtroom. We would make an offer
of proof with respect to them right now. We can ask
them five or six questions, and I think everyone would
be confident to what they're going to say. There's no
surprise here.

THE COURT: I have seen —— I've been told
that, you know, or things similar to that in this case,
and that's not the way it's happened. Scheduling in
this case has been —— it's probably been the most
difficult I have seen in almost 20 years. Okay? I've
been told it's going to take this much time, and it
ends up taking three times.

MR. DEUTSCH: We understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So we'll do the depo.

Now, let's talk about the Backstage employee.
What I'm interested in knowing there is what discovery
was propounded that would have been expected,
reasonably expected, to elicit the identity of this
particular person. I think it's ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Ms. Rice.
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THE COURT: Rice.

MR. DEUTSCH: Well, it's all the same thing,
Your Honor. 1It's —— it's —— although a little
different. The —- the fact is, is that Ms. Rice, I
think more so than the other witnesses, is really a
rebuttal witness, more so than the other two. I think
the other two should be permitted to be put on in a
case in chief. I think that the discovery was
propounded as to that.

I think that Rule 16, though, does require
defendants to disclose any witness that has relevant
information to this case. And knowing that their
defense was going to be that nobody ever got hurt ever
in the history of this trick, I think that they would
have had an obligation —— Ms. Rice, in fact, tells us
that —— you know, as we told the Court, when these
People contacted us last week, we didn't just accept
what they had to say for face value. We made sure that
they had information to prove to us that they were
legitimate and that their claims were legitimate, what
they told us.

Ms. Rice provided us with a numﬁéﬁ~of
information, including being able to tell us
specifically names of multiple Backstage employees who

were working with her at the time and who she knew was

21
JA001953




o W Ny U s W N =

N N N N NN RBP P R KFHE R B B B B R
M Bk W N R O YW DNl e W N R O

aware of the person getting injured, including she knew
Chris Kenner and named him personally without us
mentioning his name whatsoever, said that Chris Kenner
was there and was aware of this incident.

She mentioned Rene Nadeau, who is still an
employee of Backstage to this day, was there at the
time and knew about this incident. She mentioned, I
think, Homer Liwag was an employee at the time who knew
about this incident of the person getting injured on
the runaround and who is still an employee today.

S0 Rule 16 — Rule 16 requires them to
provide us with information of any witness who has
relevant information to this lawsuit. And, clearly,
information with respect to —- to notice and prior
incidents like this could not be more relevant,
especially if that's the defense they're putting on and

they never propounded that information on us.

-But, with that being said, I think that
Ms., Rice is more —— more sort of a rebuttal witness in
light of the testimony that's come out today or

during -- not today, but during the trial so far —
that nobody has ever gotten hurt, that the people don't
run, that the people aren't supposed to run, that we
tell them not to run, that it's a brisk walk.

Ms. Rice tells us that that's absolutely not
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the case, that the people are screamed at to run.
They're yelled at to continue faster, faster, faster
and that she knows that all of those people I just
mentioned were there the night that someone fell and
got injured and she's prepared to testify about that in
direct impeachment and in rebuttal of the testimony
thus far at trial.

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, I don't even
understand because Ms. —— I don't know what Ms. Rice
knows. When Mr. Deutsch was talking about an incident
that she —— I don't know what he's talking about.

He —- they did not disclose —— first of all, yesterday
he said he had two witnesses, Esack and Lawrence. He
did not say that he also was going to call Ms. Rice at
any time. I construed that to mean they had elected,
as of yesterday, that they were not going to call —-
they were only wanting to call Lawrence and Esack.

So her 16.1, if they were going to
potentially in this case call more witnesses, new
witnesses or whatever, they had a duty and obligation
to inform Your Honor, as well as all parties, that they
were potentially going to call three more witnesses.

Yesterday, counsel continually talked about
two. He never even mentioned Ms. Rice. Now he's

saying Ms. Rice, as a former employee of Backstage, has
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information about, quote/unquote, an incident. I don't
know what incident he's talking about. I don't know
what day. I don't know what year.

THE COURT: Mr. Roberts, you represent
Backstage.

MR. RUSSELL: On the employees, Your Honor,
the request was for —— I'm trying to pull up the
request for production. The request was for the people
working there that evening and for one week prior.
That's what was requested in discovery. We answered
that. We gave them a list of the 32 people. You've
seen that list.

THE COURT: Counsel's saying that there's an
obligation to ——

MR. RUSSELL: Well, under 16.1, he's right
that we have an obligation to produce relevant
information. I don't have any reason to believe that
Ms. Rice has relevant information, and I can tell you
that Ms. Rice didn't work there at least prior to the
night.

THE COURT: Here's how we'll deal with
Ms. Rice. Let's see if she does. 1I'll put her on the
back burner. You used the term "rebuttal,"

Mr. Deutsch.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.

24
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THE COURT: Okay. So depo can be taken of
Ms. Rice in the meantime. Okay? Plaintiffs are not
going to call Ms. Rice in plaintiffs’' case in chief.

MR. DEUTSCH: If — if Your Honor is
saying —-

THE COURT: What we'll see is whether or
not —— at the time the defense case closes, whether
there's a basis for a rebuttal.

MR. RUSSELL: Well, I'm concerned about the
16.1 argument, Your Honor, because that would put an
obligation on every defendant to —— to list every
employee that's ever worked for them. I mean,
that's —— it can't be that broad. She wasn't there
that night.

MR. DEUTSCH: And we're not suggesting that
it be that broad.

THE COURT: So I'm not going to permit the
plaintiff to call Ms. Rice unless the defendants have
an opportunity to depose. And then —— even then, I'm
not saying just because her deposition is taken she'll
be allowed to testify, but I will permit the defendants
to —— to take the deposition of Ms. Rice before she is
proffered as a witness. Okay? So you all have to work
that out. And I'll expect you to use your best efforts
and good faith to deo so.
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MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.

THE COURT: Now, the last one is Ms.
Lawrence; right?

MR. DEUTSCH: Correct.

THE COURT: When did the incident take place?

MR. DEUTSCH: June of 2013, Your Honor, at
the MGM.

THE COURT: Okay. So a few months before?

MR. DEUTSCH: Correct.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: At the MGM Grand in the same
exact location that Mr. Cox fell.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MORELLI: A little bit relevant.

THE COURT: Because I think one of the
contentions made by the defendants here is that they
don't know anything about what's being contended
about —-

MR. POPOVICH: What we were —— what we were
provided about Ms. Lawrence was a —— I think it's a
Facebook screenshot that she said something about
"skinned the heck out of my knees at a Copperfield
show,” something like that. And we have gone back and
looked for Ms. Lawrence's name since this has been

provided on Friday. And we have zero incident report
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from Ms. Lawrence. That's all we can say. That's all
we know.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, here's what we'll
do. We'll take the deposition of Ms. Lawrence as well.
And we'll continue with the trial, though, with the
witnesses who we're going to call. Okay?

MR. DEUTSCH: So, Your Honor, my
understanding is —

THE COURT: The jury's going to be here.

MR. DEUTSCH: I understand. So just so I'm
clear, Your Honor, we are going to put on the two
witnesses from Backstage this morning. As soon as
we're done with them, we're going to break for the day
and permit us to go do the depositions —

THE COURT: No, I'm not so sure about that
because my recollection is that you indicated that you
were going to be calling the plaintiffs.

MR. DEUTSCH: Not today, Your Honor. We
intended to fill up today with Team Construction's
witnesses, the two witnesses from Backstage, and, if
permitted, the two witnesses that flew out of town.
One is a seventh grade math teacher who's out of school
and has to go back.

THE COURT: Because I thought you said

that —— when I was asking about what you expected for
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the schedule and everything, whom you were gding to be
calling, and I thought you indicated —-

MR. DEUTSCH: Thursday afternoon, we had
planned on calling the plaintiffs. And then Friday was
Mr. Habersack, Your Honor.

So —— so, you know, our biggest concern is —-
is that these two women, out of the goodness of their
own hearts because they felt compelled to testify
because of the dishonest stuff that was put out by the
defense team in this case, thanks to Your Honor's
ruling that this court remains open, we never would
have gotten to the truth of this matter.

And what I find amazing is -- Your Honor, is
that the defendants have not made one akgument with
respect to any one of these witnesses on the merits of
what they have to say, not one argument that what they
have to say is not relevant. Their arguments are —-

MR. POPOVICH: Because we don't know.

MR. ROBERTS: We don't know what they have to
say, Your Honor. That's the whole point.

THE COURT: We're going to do is we're going
to break now. We'll resume when the jury's here, and
you'll call your —-—

MR. DEUTSCH: And can we do the definition ——

the depositions this afternoon, Your Honor?

28
JA001960




w0 ey R W N R

NN DN NN H B R B R B B R R R
nm B W NN B O W ® J o AR WN R O

THE COURT: Yes, that's what I ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. Great. And can we do
them here in court the same way we did Dr. Ashley?

THE COURT: So, in other words, you want
to —— remember, I said there were two alternatives, one
was the depos and the other one was the similar thing.

MR. DEUTSCH: Trial deposition. We would
like to do the trial deposition way so that way the
jury sees that Your Honor is here. We don't have to
spend the time doing objections and cutting and
Pasting. The witness will be in the witness box when

they testify, which we think is —-

THE COURT: 1I'll learn what they have to say
too.

MR. DEUTSCH: And you'll learn what they have
to say as well.

MR. MDRELLI: This afternoon.

MR. DEUTSCH: And my guess, Your Honor, is
that the direct examination will be —— and I know we've
said this with a lot of witnesses —— and you just
commented on this —— but my guess is their direct
examination is going to be 20 minutes to a half hour.

THE COURT: That makes sense. So —— but, I
mean, I'm not sure how long these other witnesses are

going to take.
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MR. DEUTSCH: I anticipate that —— is
Mr. Carvalho here, Howard?

MR. RUSSELL: He's here.

MR. DEUTSCH: If we start Mr. Carvalho at
10:00 and Pomai Weall, who works across the street, my
hope is that we could get done with both of them by
lunchtime, if not maybe —

THE COURT: And, for the record as well,

these proceedings this afternocon pertaining to the

depositions ~-

MR. DEUTSCH: Will be closed.

THE COURT: -- will be closed.

MR. DEUTSCH: No problem, Your Honor.

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, may I request that
documents that they have received from these witnesses,

obviously, because we —— we have not received documents
from these witnesses -— Ms. Lawrence refused to even
speak to us —- that they be produced immediately so we

have that?
THE COURT: So ordered.
MR. DEUTSCH: We already did, Your Honor.
THE COURT: So ordered.
MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, we already did.
When we sent them the e-mail, I sent them everything

that we had. And then the only thing I didn't have at
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the time was the stuff from John Clark, the lawyer.
And I didn't need to send it to them because I was told
by Mr. Clark that they got it directly from them.

THE COURT: Confer with counsel, and you're
ordered to provide anything that she hasn't seen.

MS. FRESCH: I want to verify we got the same
information.

THE COURT: Okay. Very well. Thank you.

MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, should I — so
Ms. Weall should be here at 11:00 or after lunch? I
mean, I don't know how long he's going to go with
Mr. Carvalho.

MR. ROBERTS: And we have a witness that flew
in, Your Honor, and is flying back out tonight at their
request before that.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, we could do
Mr. Carvalho. Ms. Weall works across the street. We
can fit her in at any time. But my concern, though,
would be to get people who are flying out of the way ——
that have to go back out of the way.

So my request would be we do Mr. Carvalho.

If we still have an hour or so before lunch, then we'll
get Ms, Weall on the stand. If Carvalho goes until
lunch, then my request would be we just do the

depositions because one of the witnesses that are here
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has a 4:30 flight and so —
THE COQURT: Okay. So ordered.
MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Thanks.
THE MARSHAL: All rise,
(Discussion was held off the record.)
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: You may be seated.
Do counsel stipulate that the jury is now
present?
MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor. So
stipulated.
MR. CALL: So stipulated.
MS. FRESCH: So stipulated.
MR. RUSSELL: So stipulated.
THE COURT: Good morning, ladies and
gentlemen.
IN UNISON: Good morning.
THE COURT: We're back in session with the

jury. We've had some things outside the presence.

Previously —-- counsel have previously stated their
appearances.
At this time, plaintiffs may call their next

32
JA001964




v 00 N & U B W N =

N N N N N N B B B B B B3 B B R
M B W N B O VW ©® 3 & L & W N KB O

witness, keeping in mind that Mr. Copperfield is still
on the stand, so to speak, but his testimony has to be

interrupted because of his availability. So plaintiffs

'will call their next witness.

MR. DEUTSCH: At this time, we call Ryan
Carvalho.

THE MARSHAL: Make your way up the stairs,
remain standing, raise your right hand, face the clerk.

THE CLERK: You do solemnly swear the
testimony you're about to give in this action shall be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
so help you God.

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell
it for the record, please.

THE WITNESS: Ryan Carvalho, R-y—a-n,
C-a-r-v-a—-l-h-o.

MR. DEUTSCH: May I, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. DEUTSCH: Good morning, everybody.

IN UNISON: Good meorning.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Good morning, Mr. Carvalho.

We've never met before, Mr. Carvalho, have
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we?

A. No.

Q. My name is Adam Deutsch. I'm one of the
attorneys for the Coxes in this case. I'm goihg to ask
you some questions. Please do me a favor and just keep
your voice up as loud so everybody can hear everything
you have to say. Okay?

A. Okay.

Q. If you don't understand any of my questions,
let me know; I'll be happy to rephrase. Fair enough?

A. Yep.

Q. Okay. Relative to this case, you were
employed by Backstage; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And when did you start working at Backstage?

A. I would say, you know, I'm not positive on
days, but

Q. Approximate.

A. Let me do some math. 2012,

Q. Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. And you worked there for about three or four

years; is that right?
A. Three and a half years.
Q. And that period included November of 2013; is
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that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And while working at Backstage, as I
understand it, you had sort of some different
responsibilities at different times. 1Is that true?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And — and some of those
responsibilities involved the Thirteen Illusion that
we're talking about in this case; true?

A, Yes.

Q. And you worked on the Thirteen Illusion for
the entire three and a half years that you were there.
Is that true?

A. No.

Q. Okay. For how long did you work on the
Thirteen Illusion for?

A, I would say at least a good year.

Q. Okay. And that included the —— November of
2013; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And during the time that you were there ~—-
that you were at the David Copperfield show that entire
time, the Thirteen Illusion didn't change at all? It
was the same the whole time. 1Is that true?

A. As far as I know, yes.
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Q. And with respect to the Thirteen Illﬁsion,
you had sort of two different responsibilities that you
did in that illusion at different times; is that right?

A. I —— I wouldn't say so.

Q. Okay. Well, initially, your —— the job that
you were sort of assigned to in the Thirteen was to be
one of the people that were up on stage and putting
witnesses into the chairs to the side of the prop?

That was your job initially; is that right?

A. No. No, no.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if you remember being
asked this —— this question and being —— well, before I
do this, let me ask you this: What —— at some point in
time you were involved in the runaround; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And, at another point in time, you
were doing what I had stated before, which was putting
witnesses to the side; is that right?

A. So that wasn't my responsibility, but I did
help in that.

Q. Okay. Well, let me read you from your
deposition testimony and —- and see if you remember
being asked this question. You did take —-

~MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Improper

impeachment. He hasn't said he doesn't remember.

36
JAQ01968




o 0 N oy b W N

T T X N T N I N T T o T o S S S Sy S o G S S Wt
Uk W N R O W B NN R W N R O

MR. DEUTSCH: That's not a —— it's an
inconsistency; it's not a remember thing.

THE COURT: Okay. Go ahead.

MR. RUSSELL: Please cite the page and line.

MR. DEUTSCH: Sure. 17, line 13.

MR. RUSSELL: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: COkay.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Let me read this to you. You did take a
deposition in this case? You were deposed at one
point?

A. Yes.

Q. And that was back in 2016, I think? February
of 20167

A. I don't remember. Sure.

Q. Okay. And at the deposition, just like here
this morning, you took an oath to tell the truth;
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you remember being asked this question
and giving this answer:

"QUESTION: So pretty much —— and we'll
get into it, of course —— but pretty much the

entire time that you've been involved in the
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production of the Thirteen Illusion, you've
Pretty much done the same thing each time?

"ANSWER: Correct. I'm sorry. I had two
roles in the illusion, the two different roles.

"QUESTION: And what are those two roles?

"ANSWER: The first one, I used to -- so
the way the prop sits on either gide there are
chairs. And people sit on those chairs. And
they're counted as witnesses, you know. So
they kind of —- they kind of surround the prop
eventually, you know, tb show there's nothing
around -— you know there's nothing around the
prop.

"And, originally, my responsibility
was to take those people that are sitting in
the chairs and kind of walk them upstage as the
Prop is rising, and go, "Look. Cool. There's
nothing." And then walk them back downstage
after David walked off and we applause them.

"And then we had a guy leave, and I
took over his responsibilities of doing, like,
the runaround that you know about how that
works."

Okay? So ——

A. I know what you're talking about now. Okay.
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Q. So —— so your first job there involved the

witnesses in the chairs ——

A. Yes.
Q. —— correct?
A, Yes.

Q. And then your second job after that was doing
the runaround?

A. Correct, that two separate —— at two separate
times. It was never the chairs and then —- iike, in
the same show, I wouldn't do the chairs and then —-

Q. I understand that. So —— so for — for
the —- initially, when you were assigned to the
Thirteen, you were doing the witness chairs --

A. Correct.

Q. -~ and there was someone else doing the
runaround; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And then the person doing the runaround left
and they moved you into that position?

A. Right, right.

Q. And my understanding was that the —— or our
understanding from the testimony that we've already
heard in this case is that there was a reason why
people were taken and put in those witness chairs. 1Is

that your understanding as well? There was a reason;
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correct?
A, Yes.
Q. And the reason was — is that those were

people that you and the crew and Mr. Copperfield didn't
want doing the runaround; true?

A. Partly. We also needed to fill those chairs
to —— to have people. So

Q. Okay. Well, let me ask you if you remember

being asked this question and giving this answer.

MR. RUSSELL: Page and line, please.

MR. DEUTSCH: 1I'm getting to it. Page 20,
line 18.

MR. RUSSELL: To?

MR. DEUTSCH: 21/4.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay .

"QUESTION: All right. You mentioned that
prior to taking over the position of moving the
people around, you were —— I'll get it wrong ——
but you were sitting in the chairs to kind of
block. Explain that to me again.

"ANSWER: So as people are coming up on
stage, we'll seat some people, like old people
or, you know, if we don't want them running.

Obviously —— well, it doesn't matter their
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role, but their role is to just, like, at the

beginning, they sit on the sides of the prop,

David does his thing with the 13 or however 7

many people.”

Do you recall being asked that question and
giving that answer?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay. But it's fair for me to say that one
of the reasons, at least, that you put peopie in those
chairs is because those are people you don't want doing
the running; true?

A, Correct.

Q. And you don't want them doing the running for
a number of different reasons. 1Is that fair?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. One of the reasons that you mentioned
in your deposition was that you didn't want someone

doing the running if they were too old; true?

A. The runaround?

Q. Yeah.

A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. We know from some of the other
testimony that —— that if someone was pregnant, you
wouldn't want them doing the runaround. 1Is that true?

A. Right.
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Q. Okay. If someone had a disability of some

kind, you wouldn't want them doing the runaround. Is

that true?
A. Correct.
Q. If someone wasn't wearing proper footwear,

you wouldn't want them doing the runaround?

A. Sometimes, yeah.

Q. Okay. And the reason that you wouldn't want
all of that group of people, and maybe others, to not
do the runaround is because there was a concern that
certain people may fall doing the runaround; true?

A. Are you talking about me or collectively?

Q. Well, I'm talking about what Your
understanding was in terms of the reason why, those
people, you didn't want to do the running around ——
runaround.

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. May lack
foundation —— does lack foundation.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: So -—-
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Is that your understanding?
Is your understanding —— let me rephrase the
question.
THE COURT: Well, I'll —— you know, I'm going
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to retract my ruling. I think you need to lay a

foundation as to how he arrived at his understanding.

MR. DEUTSCH: Sure.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

© » O » O PO PO

Well, you worked there for three years; true?
Right.
You worked on this illusion for a year; true?

Uh-huh.

' Is that a yes?

Yes.
You can't say uh-huh for her.
Got you. Sorry.

You were taught the protocols of how the

thing worked; true?

» 0 ¥

0.
he trains

A.
0.

I was trained by the guy before me.

Okay. And that's the way it works at —
Right.

—— at the show, is that when the guy leaves,
the next person?

Correct.

And what he trained you on was the protocols

for how to do what you needed to do; correct?

A.
Q.

Correct.

And, based on that, you formulated an

understanding of why you were doing these certain
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things in order to do them properly. Is that fair?

A. Yeah.

Q. So now let me ask you if it was your
understanding that the reason that there was a group of
people that you didn't want doing the runaround —- and
when I use the term "you," I'm referring to the whole
show.

A. Got it.

Q. The reason that the show didn't want certain
people doing the runaround is because the show was

concerned that certain people could fall. True or

false.

A. I would say false.

Q. Okay.

A. When —— when I ——

Q. You answered my question.

A. Okay.

Q. Now, one of the roles at some point that you
had in -- when you were —— before you started doing the

runaround, when you were still on stage, one of your
roles was visually doing some of the assessing of these
people; is that right?

A. I took that upon myself to do that.

0. Okay.

A. I'm sorry. When I was doing the chairs, no.
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Q. Okay. So it was when you were doing the
runaround portion?

4, Correct, correct.

Q. So before you actually started to run around
with the witnesses in the back, you were on stage while
they were coming up on stage; is that right?

A. I think so.

Q. Okay. And you —— as you said, you took it

on. You did some assessing of these people; correct?

A. When I was doing the runaround track;
correct.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if I understand you.
Did you wait until they were actually running to do

this assessment or did you make the assessment before
they started running?
A. So which role am I in right now? Am I doing

the chairs or am I doing ——

Q. Well —
A. —— my responsibilities?
Q. Sure. In either of the two roles that you

had, whether it was when you were doing the runaround
or when you were doing the chairs, there was a point
when you were doing some sort of assessment of people;
is that true?

A, Correct.
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Q. Okay. And which one was it? Was that during
the runaround or when you were doing the chairs?

A. It was when I was in the runaround role.

Q. Okay. But it was before, obviously, the
actual runaround?

A. Correct.

Q And that was on stage?

A. Correct.

.Q And you would assess them to see if they were
going to be a problem or not; is that fair?

A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. And, for example, you wouldn't want to
deal with a woman in a tight skirt and heels; true?

A. True.

Q. Okay. And -- and when you say that you were
assessing to see if they're going to be a problem, the
problem was that you were concerned they were going to
be able to complete the runaround; is that right?

A. In a way, ves.

Q. Okay. Were you concerned that the problem
that these people may have was that they might fall
doing the runaround? Was that a concern of yours?

A. Not really.

Q. Were you concerned that they were nice people

or not nice people?
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A. I wouldn't say nice. Drunk people were my
biggest concern.

Q. What concerned you about drunk people?

A. Just that they'd be hard to manage or there's
potential for them to —— say they're on stage and they
start pulling on curtains and pulling on ropes, like
you —-

Q. Is it only drunk people that you were
concerned about?

A. No.

Q. Okay. You were concerned about women in high
heels and skirts as well; correct?

A. Definitely.

Q. Okay. So were you concerned that women in
high heels and skirts would start pulling on —— on
things on stage or ——

A. No.

Q. —— did you have a different reason to be
concerned about them?

A. Different reason.

Q. Okay. And was the reason that maybe it's not
so easy to run in high heels and skirts?

A. Even in a tight skirt, it's hard for them to
take big steps.

Q. Okay. And if you're running in high heels
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and a skirt, you could potentially fall; correct?

A, I'm sure. But we never ran, so ...

Q. Well, we'll get to that in a second. Now,
just to be clear, you agree that this movement of the
peocple from the front to the back was called the
runaround; true?

A, Correct.

Q. You talled it that in your deposition;
correct?

A. Right.

Q. Okay. And you called it here already today
in court; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And prior to the —— the runaround, there's
some questions that are asked of people as they come up
on stage; is that right?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. And we've gone through those a little
bit. And, as I understand it, you weren't really
involved personally in asking those questions. Is that
true?

A. That's true.

Q. And while — and despite the fact that you
were involved in the trick for, like, a year —— |

withdrawn.

48
JAO001980




v 0 A o s W N

N NN N N RN B O R e e e e e
B & W N B O W  Jd W ke W N R O

exact ques

» 0 p 0O ¥

Q.
attorneys?

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

And is it fair to say that you don't know the
tions that were asked?

At the time I — I did not.

You've learned them since?

Yes,

How did you learn them since?

Just from this case.

Okay. From speaking with some of the

Yeah.
Is that Mr. Russell?
I don't remember.

Okay. Did you meet with anyone in

Preparation for your testimony today?

A,
Q.

Today, no.

Did you meet with anyone in preparation for

your testimony at any point in time?

A.

© ¥ O PO PO

I —— I had meetings.

How many meetings have you had?
From what date? I think ——
Forever.

Two, I think I would say.

Two meetings.

Yeah.

How long-?
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A. What do you mean?

Q. How long were the meetings?

A. Half hour.

Q. Were they in person or were they over the
phone?

A, In person.
Q. Okay. What did you guys talk about?
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Privilege.
MR. DEUTSCH: My understanding —
THE COURT: We have to establish with whom
the meeting was.
MR. DEUTSCH: I was — I was — he was being
produced as a nonparty, hence the improper impeachment.
| Can we approach for a second, Your Honor, and
I can move on if I'm wrong, but I thought
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
MR. DEUTSCH: I will withdraw the question,
Your Honor.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. S50 let's go back to the questions.
Is it fair of me to say that, despite the
fact that you were working on this trick for a year,
that the reason that you don't know the specific

questions that were asked is because the whole process
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of asking questions goes like that really quickly?
Isn't it true?
A. No.
Q. Well, let me ask you if you remember being
asked this question and giving this answer.
MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, he can show him the
deposition and ask if it refreshes his recollection.
MR. DEUTSCH: It's impeachment, Your Honor.
THE COURT: All right. Go ahead.
MR. RUSSELL: What page, Mr. Deutsch?
MR. DEUTSCH: Page 24, line — I'm going to
start at 13, and it's going to go on to line 7 of 25.
MR. RUSSELL: Okay.
MR. DEUTSCH:
"QUESTION: And in addition to the —- some
of the questions I asked you, do you have a
recollection of other questions he asks his
potential participants in the illusion?
"ANSWER: That Spencer asks?
"QUESTION: Yes.
"ANSWER: No, I didn't really know what
his script was.
"QUESTION: Okay. Even though you've been
involved in it so many times ——

"ANSWER: Right.
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"QUESTION: -- you didn't pay attention to
what he was asking?
"ANSWER: Right, because it's so fast.

I'm doing the one thing and he's at center

stage. I'm at the end of the stage, you know.

I'm right there next to David, and I'm

listening to David as well. He says, 'Sit the

person.'
"'All right. Have a seat,' where I have to
send them across where they go to Spencer.”
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. So would you agree with me that the whole
process of asking questions happens fast?

A. No.

Q. Now, despite the fact that you don't know the
exact questions, you are familiar with the fact that
the people are asked if they can run; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, so on the night of the accident, you
were one of the people that was involved in the
runaround; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you were actually the person that was in
charge of leading the front of the herd as they went

around; is that true?
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A, Yes.

Q. And sort of your responsibility at that point
was once the participants ——- someone else —— withdrawn.

Another stagehand would actually go into the
prop and get the people out; is that true?

A. Correct.

Q. And you would be waiting at the bottom of the
dragon, which was the piece that comes up. And the
jury's already seen pictures of that —

A, Yes.

Q. —— with the stairs. You would be waiting at
the bottom of that to take the first person and start
the runaround?

A. Yes.

Q. And the first person that comes out is
usually a woman; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. That's just because of the way the people are
situated inside the prop?

A. Correct.

Q. And at that point, you actually physically
take that woman by the hand and start the runaround; is
that true?

A. Yes.

Q. And at that point, when you first start, when
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they first exit the dragon, you agree that those
people, the people that are inside the prop, have no
idea where they're going; is that true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.

MS. FRESCH: Speculation,

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, at that point do you know, from working
on the illusion for a year, if, at the point the people
are sitting in the prop, anyone has told them where to
go?

THE WITNESS: I don't think so. I don't
think they do.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. And at the point when you meet that woman,
when they get down the stairs and they are exiting the
prop, at that point they also don't know where they're
going; true?

A. Correct.

Q. And even once you start the runaround and
you're on your way through the route, the people still
at that point don't know where they're going; true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
. THE COURT: Sustained.
/17177

54
JAOQ01986




w w1 o e W N

N NN N NN H R R BB R B R BRpoR
U B W N B O Ww ® Jd 6 s W N KB O

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, would you agree with me that they've
never been told what they're supposed to be doing? Do
you agree with that?

A. Yeah, I would agree. Like I said, I don't
have a lot of conversation with the participants
beforehand, so —— or any, really.

Q. And you're not aware of anyone else who has
any conversations with them either; true?

MS. FRESCH: Objection. Calls for
speculation.

MR. RUSSELL: Join.

THE COURT: He asked for his awareness. 1I'll
allow it.

THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. That's not true or you don't know?

A. I don't know.

Q. Well, let me ask you if you remember being
asked this question and giving this answer.

On page 39, line 14.

"QUESTION: And you agree, because they
don't have any at this point, they still have
not received any direction about what it is

they're supposed to be doing or where they're
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going?
"ANSWER: Correct."
Do you remember being asked that question and
giving that answer?
A. I don't remember, man.
Q. Do you agree that that's the fact, though?
A. As far as I knew, nobody was told the route
or even what's going to happen, so ...
Q. Now, as you are running around, you had —-
you were holding a flashlight; is that right?
A. Correct.
MR. DEUTSCH: Can I borrow the ——
MR. STRASSBURG: The spot? Sure.
MR. DEUTSCH: I'm not going to shine it in
your eyes.
MR. STRASSBURG: You get the truth that way.
MR. MORELLI: You didn't.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Is this the kind of flashlight ——
MS. FRESCH: Objection, Your Honor. I would
like to move to strike counsel's last response.
THE COURT: Which counsel?
MS. FRESCH: Mr. Morelli's comment.

MR. STRASSBURG: I will withdraw my remark,
Judge.
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MS. FRESCH: No, Your Honor, I would iike
to —

THE COURT: Motion is granted. Jury to
disregard.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. This is the kind of flashlight that
you were holding?

A Looks like it.

Q. And, as I understand it, the reason that you
understand you were using that flashlight was so you
could light the way and see where you're going as
you're going. Is that right?

A. No. That's a light that I hand to the woman
that -- whose hand I'm holding.

Q. So there's —— there's two reasons that you
would have the flashlight. One is to light the way,
and one is because it's part of the trick at the end?

A. No. I would say the sole reason is to give

it to her. But I have it, so why not use it?

Q. So your testimony is that you do, in fact,
use it?

A. Yes.

Q. And is the reason that you felt, whether
someone told you that was the protocol or not, you felt

that it was a good idea to use it because you felt that
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it would help light up the way as you were going?
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Misstates
testimony.
THE COURT: If it does, he can say so.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. That's what I thought you had just said.
A, In a sense, yeah.
Well, let me ask — I'll hold off.
And did you do that every night? Did you
light it up every night?
A, Yes.
Q. Okay. I'm going to show you what's ——
Exhibit 402 in evidence and take a look. And this

is -- have you ever seen this video?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Okay. So I'll tell you that this is admitted
in evidence and all parties agree that this is a —— a
video clip from surveillance —— surveillance footage
from the night of this accident.

A. Okay.

Q. Okay? And by looking at just that first
screen, can you identify what —- what you're —— what
you're looking at? Do you recognize what you're seeing

there?

A. Yeah.
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Q. Okay. And am I right that that is sort of
looking down into where the doors are where you enter
back into the casino? 1Is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And I want to just play this for you
for a second.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
MR. DEUTSCH: Stop.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Now, the first person on that path, this gquy
right here, holding that —- that flashlight that I was
Just holding, that would be you; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And in this video, your flashlight is
not on; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So I guess you don't do it every
night. True?

A. I do do it every night, but I don't need it
out there.

Q. Okay. So you turn it on inside?

A. It's from the dragon till we get into the -~
till we get into light.

Q. Okay. So let me see if I understand your

testimony.
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A, The hallways.

Q. So your testimony is that the darker part of
this runaround where you would need the flashlight is
when they first come out of the dragon? 1Is that — is
that what I understand you to say?

A. Yeah,

Q. Okay. And then, when you get outside, it's
your testimony that you then turn it off because ydu
don’'t need it anymore?

A, Yeah.

Q. So you have it on for the darker part of the

run and not for the outside portion?

A So the —

Q I withdraw that question.
A. Okay.

o) Bad question.

Now —— we'll get back to that in a second,
but as I understand the way you did things at the time
when you were leading the woman, like in this video, is
that you would tell the woman whose hand you were
holding —- sort of before you got to the next turn or
intersection, you would give that woman sort of a
heads—up, you know, we're going —- in a second, we're
going to make a right, in a second we're going to make

a left. 1Is that right?
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A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And there was some testimony yesterday
by Mr. Copperfield, I think, that that was sort of like
a GPS; right? Like in a thousand feet, you're going to
make a right. Sort of like that; right?

A. Exactly.

Q. And you did that because you recognize that,
in order for someone to know where they're going to
sort of make a safe turn, that having a little bit of a
notice of where they're going is helpful to them; true?
Is that why you did it?

A. It made the path easier for us.

Q. Okay. It made the path easier for the woman.

I mean, you knew the path; correct?

A. Correct.
Q. You had done it dozens or hundreds of times?
A, Right.

Q. So when you say it made the path easier, what
you're referring to is it made the path easier for the
people who didn't know where they were going?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that's why you said it to that
woman whose hand you were holding; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. But —— and you were —— you were concerned
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that the people might turn the wrong way; is that true?

A, No.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if you recall being
asked this question and giving this answer. Starting
on line -- page 42, line 10.

"Okay. So continue."

"Question.”" Sorry. "Question."

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, can we have an end
point and a chance to look at this first?

MR. DEUTSCH: Sorry, sorry. It's going to
end on line —— page 43, line 4.

MR. RUSSELL: Same objection. Improper use
of —— witness should be allowed to refresh the
recollection before — |

MR. DEUTSCH: It's not a refreshing
recollection; it's a direct —-

THE COURT: Okay. Go ahead.

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you.

"QUESTION: So continue. So that you're

in front; you're leading the lady?

"ANSWER: Uh-huh.

"QUESTION: Let's —— where do they go from

here?

"ANSWER: So I have one person, whether it

be —— it's usually a lady. And I alsoc have
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this spot that's, like, not a super flashlight
but like a spotlight. And I'm using that. I
usually light her way, like, "Right over here.
We're going to turn left over here." And I've
learned to make it a point to tell this person,
you know, before we're going to make the turn,
even before we make the —-— that we're going to
turn left. Okay. Now we're going to turn
right, you know, like a good two seconds before
we do it.

"QUESTION: Why is that you decided to do
that?

"ANSWER: It's because it's easier than,
like, stopping, you know. Maybe they want to
turn this way and then they have to stop and
turn the other way."

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Do you remember being asked that question and
giving that answer?

A. I don't remember that, but it makes sense.

Q. So having read that, though, is one of the
reasons that you give this woman up front a little bit
of a heads-up of which way she's going to turn is
because you don't want her turning the wrong way?

A. At the beginning of the run, yes.
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Q. Okay. Well, does that change as she
continues? I mean every time she reaches an
intersection, she doesn't know which way she's going to
go, so you tell her ahead of time so she doesn't go the
wrong way. That's what you said; right?

A. Well, the first few turns, she could easily
want to go left into one of our offices or go straight
up the stairs to our dressing rooms. So it's the first
few turns before we get outside that —-

Q. Okay. So —

A. ~— they're instructed.

Q. —— let's explore that for a second. So it's
your testimony, then, that -- that the —— the —— the
part before you go outside, at that point, that's where
it's easier for someone to go the wrong direction, and
that's why you tell them in advance; is that right?

A, Correct.

Q. And, you know, based on you saying that you
could go the wrong way, would you agree with me that
the runaround that the participants have to do in the

Thirteen Illusion is confusing? Would you agree with

that?

A. No, because I'm leading them.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if you remember being
asked this question. It's the very next question from
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the one that I just read before, on page 43, line 5.
MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, there was an
objection to that question in the deposition.
THE COURT: Well, when he poses —— read thé
question and then hold off so I can hear the objection.
' MR. DEUTSCH:
"QUESTION: So, I mean, is it —— for lack
of a better term, it can be confusing, so
you're giving them some advanced warning?"
MS. FRESCH: The objection by two counsel was
to the form.
THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. So let me read the question again so we're
clear.

"QUESTION: So, I mean, is it —— for lack
of a better term, it can be confusing, so
you're giving them some advanced warning?"

Answer from you, the witness, "Yeah, I'm

going to say it's confusing, but, like, seeing them

come out of the prop, you know, they are just —— they
don't know what's going on. So they need some
direction. 'All right. Left. Left up here.' You
know, instead of 'Left now.' You know, it's — you're

not going to tell your buddy to 'Oh, this is —— the
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next turn is right' when you're in the left lane. You
know, you're going to give him fair warning."
You remember being asked that question and

giving that answer?

A, No, I don't remember that. But

Q. Now, those advanced warnings that you're
giving because it's confusing, you give to that first
lady; correct?

A, Correct.

Q. But you don't yell those advanced warnings
back to the people that are further back in the pack;
correct?

A, Correct.

Q. You only give them to that woman; correct?
A. Yes.
Q. So that woman may get some benefit in terms

of you helping her out with her confusion, but people
that are further back in line wouldn't get that
benefit; true?

A, I think they would get that benefit because
they're following the person in front of them.

Q. Okay. But they wouldn't get that benefit
from you directly saying something to them; true?

A, True.

Q. And the fact is that these —— during this
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runaround, the people aren't staying, like, right
within, like, a couple of feet of each other; in fact,
they tend to fan out. 1Is that —— is that true?

A I'm not sure.

Q. Well, you don't know because you're in the
front and you can't see what's going on behind you;
true?

A. Correct.

Q. S50 you don't know how far behind someone may
be than someone else; true?

A. At certain points, yes.

Q. Okay. Well —— and if you don't know how far,
then you're not sure if someone in front of someone
might have already made a turn already and, therefore,
whenathgﬁggrson is looking forward, they don't know
which wéy they're supposed to go. Is that true?

A. Will you say that again. Sorry.

Q. Sure. So if the people, in fact, do -~ well,
let me ask you this question before I get there.

After you come in through these doors and you
go into the casino, at that point you stop for a second

before you enter the kitchen?

A, Correct.
Q. And there's a purpose for stopping; is that
right?
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A, Yes,

Q. And the purpose is because, during the
runaround, the group has, in fact, fanned out?

A. Yeah, that's one of the reasons.

Q. Okay. So you need to stop for a second so
the group that has now spread out can come back
together; true?

A. True.

Q. So, therefore, your advanced warnings that
you give this woman in the front that are done for the
purposes of aiding in confusion don't help anybeody but
her; true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Misstates
testimony. Argumentative.

MS. FRESCH: Join.

THE COURT: If it does, he can say so.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. True or false?
A. One more time, please.
Q. The advanced warnings that you felt were

necessary to give this first woman to avoid the
confusion, as you described this runaround, nobody else
gets the benefit of that; true?

A. No. I feel the people behind, seeing where
we are going, get the benefit.
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Q. Okay. So if someone was right behind her,
they might get the benefit. But how about someone who
gets fanned out and there's a big space between them
and the person in front of them? They wouldn't get the
benefit, would they?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Speculation.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: In that tight area, no, because
everybody's —— everybody's close in —— in that --
before we get outside, everybody's close.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, the place that you stopped to let
everyone regroup is right inside these doors; correct?

A. Right.

Q. So, therefore, the reason you do it at that
point is because right outside these doors is when
people get the most spread out; correct?

A. I'd say so.

Q. Now, we've heard testimony from other
witnesses that, during the runaround, there are some
MGM employees —— stagehands -- that stand along the
route. Is that your understanding?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And those stagehands have some
flashlights; is that right?
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A. Correct.

Q. And, in your experience, generally speaking,
other than just standing there with the flashlights,
generally, those stagehands don't give any
instructions; true®?

A, I think some of them do.

Q. Okay. Well, let me ask you if you remember
being asked this question and giving this answer on
page 53, line —— let me just do one thing real quick.

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm going to show this, if
anyone has any objection, from his deposition just so
we can make clear what the question refers to.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MR. DEUTSCH: Any objection?

MR. RUSSELL: No, that's fine.

MR. DEUTSCH: It's Exhibit 415. I guess I
will move it into evidence, Your Honor, at this time,
D415. |
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. So, Mr., Carvalho, I want to show you —

THE COURT: You're offering no —— any
objection?

MR. DEUTSCH: I thought there was no
objections.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
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MR. RUSSELL: No objection.
THE COURT: 1It's admitted.
(Whereupon, Defendant's Exhibit 415 was
admitted into evidence.) |
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Mr. Carvalho, I want to show you this
diagram. Do you recognize it?
A. Yes. ‘
Q. Okay. And that's a diagram that you drew af

the time of your deposition; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And there are two sort of -—— there's
two Xs here: one right here —— right? -- and one right
there. Right there; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And as I understand it, that represents what
we were just talking about, the MGM stagehands were
standing there with the flashlight; correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. And you put a little number next to
this one right here as number two. You see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So now let me ask you if you remember
being asked this question and giving this answer.

MR. RUSSELL: And I'm going to object as —--
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well, can we approach?
(A discussion was held at the bench,
‘not reported.)

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. So, Mr. Carvalho, let me ask you this
question just —— if I wasn't clear —— I thought I was,
but if T wasn't.

Right now I'm talking about number two. Do
you —— here, that guy in number two, generally do you
hear him giving any instructions, generally?

A. It really depends on the person who's doing
that, who's in that role.

Q. Okay. So some of them do and some of them
don't?

A. Yeéh.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if you remember being
asked this question and giving this answer.

MS. FRESCH: Could you repeat the lines,
Mr. Deutsch.
MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah. 53, line 25, going on to
the next page.
MS. FRESCH: To what end?
MR. DEUTSCH: Just the end of that answer, 4.
"QUESTION: Is number two giving any type

of instruction to any of the participants in
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the show?
"ANSWER: I would say no, unless a
person —— a participant was to keép going ——
you know, keep going straight and not make the
turn.”
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Do you remember being asked that question and
giving that answer?
A. I don't remember, but ...
Q. Okay. So let me ask you this question, then:
So, generally, that person doesn't say anything; true?
A. Sure.
That's what you testified about; right?
Yeah.

But sometimes they might say something; true?

» O » O

Yeah.

Q. And the times that you identify when you
recall the guy standing at number two saying something
is if a participant, instead of making that right turn

like they're supposed to, continued to go straight that

way; right?

A. Right.

Q. Okay. And, obviously, because you gave that
as an example of something that the guy at number two

said, that's something that —- that's happened before,
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someone's continued to go straight and not made the
turn; right?
A. They attempted to, yes.
Q. Yeah. And that's because they don't know
where they're going; right?
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
MS. FRESCH: Speculation.

THE COURT: Sustained.

‘BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, the reason that they would go
straight ~— withdrawn.

They were supposed to make a right; true?

A. Correct.

Q. The reason they didn't make a right and they
continued to go straight is because they didn't know
they were supposed to make a right ——

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Speculation.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. -— true?
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Do you think that the reason the person
continued to run straight instead of making a right was
because they wanted to get out of the craziness that

was going on in the illusion and they just didn’'t want
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to participate anymore?

MR. RUSSELL: Same objection. And
argumentative.

MS. FRESCH: Join.

THE CQURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Why do you think the person would continue to

go straight instead of making the right?

MR. RUSSELL: Same objection.

THE COURT: 1I'll allow that.

THE WITNESS: Because they fell back from the
group ahead of them.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. And if you fell back from the group
ahead of you, you wouldn't know where the people in
front of you were going; true?

A. That makes sense.

Q. Okay. And then if you didn't know where the
people in front of you were going, you wouldn't know
you were supposed to make a right there and you might
try to continue on straight; right?

A, Probably, yeah.

Q. Okay. And then, at that point, someone would
have to chime in, like the guy standing at number two,

and say, "Hey, you're going in the wrong direction";
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right?

A. Sure.

Q. Now, other than hearing the guy standing at
number two saying —- telling someone who's trying to
run straight that they're going in the wrong direction,
you —~ you also heard them say something else at times;
is that right?

A. Sure.

Q. Okay. And — and what you heard was that, as
the participants were running around the corner, you
heard them say "Watch your step"; true?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. And the reason that you heard
Occasionally the guy standing at number two telling
these people deing the runaround to watch your step is
because, right when you come around that corner, the ——
the ground doesn't stay flat anymore; true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Somebody say something.
MR. DEUTSCH: Foundation objection.
THE COURT: COkay.

MR. RUSSELL: Apologize, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Well, you ran that illusion how many times —-
76
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or you —— you did the runaround how many times?
Hundreds®?

A. Lots, vyeah.

Q. So you —-— you would know what the ground ——
what —— whether the ground was level or not during that
whole path; true?

A, Yes.

Q. Right. And you know personally, with
personal knowledge, that right when you come around
that corner, the ground doesn't stay level, that
there's an incline there; right? |

A.  Right, there's a soft curb.

Q; Okay. And —- well, it's actually an incline
that goes up into those doors because that's where
trucks pull up; correct?

MS. FRESCH: Objection. Lacks foundation.
MR. DEUTSCH: He either knows or he doesn't
know, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Overruled.
Go ahead.
THE WITNESS: What part is that?
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. When you go into those doors —-
A, Uh-huh.

Q. —— to go back into the casino, that area

7
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where there's this incline on the ground, the reason
there's the incline there is because it's used as a
driveway for the trucks to pull up to get the money out
of the cage. Do you know that? Do you know that?

MS. FRESCH: Objection.

THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. . Okay. Regardless of why it's there, you're
aware that there's some sort of elevation change as you
come around that corner; correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. And the reason that you occasionally
hear the guy standing in that number two position

telling people to watch their step is because of that

incline —-
MR. RUSSELL: Objectioh. Foundation.
MR. DEUTSCH: -—- right?
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, do you know why they say "watch your
step"?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. And is it because they want to tell
people —— to warn people about that incline?

A, Yeah.
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Q. Because if you didn't warn someone about the
incline, someone could trip on it or fall on it or slip
on it; true? |

MR. RUSSELL: Speculation.

MS. FRESCH: Calls -- yeah. Join.

THE COURT: He can state his understanding.

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry?

THE COURT: You can state your understanding
of the reason.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. And they didn't say that —— you didn't hear
them say that "watch your step" every night; correct?

. I don't remember. I don't think so.

Q. Okay. And you don't know whether or not —
on the night of November 12th, 2013, whether or not
that guy was warning people to watch your step; true?

A. Correct, I don't. I don't know.

Q. And other than the incline, they're also
warning people to watch your step because it's dark out
there; true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, did you ever say that the —— one of the
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reasons that these people give the warning to watch
your step is because it's dark out there? Was that one
of the reasons you gave for why they said that?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay. Well, let me see if this refreshes
your recollection, page 55, line 5.

MR. POPOVICH: To 97

MR. DEUTSCH: To 9.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MR. DEUTSCH:

"QUESTION: Do you know why it is they're
saying, or do you have any idea why they would

be saying 'Watch your step?

"ANSWER: Because it's dark. 1It's usually
dark. You know?"
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Do you remember being asked that question and
giving that answer?

A, I don't remember being asked ——

Q. Okay. Does that refresh your recollection
that it's dark out there and that's why the people tell
people to watch their step?

A. I would say the reason I said that was
because the shows happen at night, so it is nighttime.

Q. And at nighttime, it's dark?
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A. Yeah.
Q. And someone would need to watch their step in
the dark because you could fall; true?
| MS. FRESCH: Calls for speculation.
MR. RUSSELL: Objection.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Well, do you know that? Do you know — is
that your understanding of why this instruction of
"watch your step” is given to people because, if it's

dark out, you could fall? Is that your understanding?

A. To me, it's more about the turns that we
make.

Q. Well —— so "watch your step" doesn't have to
do with either tripping or slipping on anything; it has

to do with turns? 1Is that what you're saying to us?

A. It's not because of the dark; it's because --—
because of some of the sharp turns that we make.

Q. Okay. So the turns are sharp. And, at your
deposition, you said it was because it was dark. So

now it's dark and sharp turns; true?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Misstates
testimony.

THE COURT: 1If it does, he can say so.

THE WITNESS: The turns —-- some of the turns
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are sharp with —-— through the doorways, yeah.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. But we're not talking about inside
through the doorways now; we're talking about the guy
at number two, who's the guy standing at the
intersection where there's the incline and then it's
dark, which is what you described it as. And my
question to-you is, is it your understanding that
the —

A. Well, I didn't know we were talking about at
this section.

Q. That's the section we're talking about, but

there's no going through doorways there, are there?

A. No, that turn is not sharp.

Q. But that's the turn where you're saying they
say "watch your step." So now I'm confused, because
you told us that the reason they said "watch your step"

was because —-— not because of the dark, which is what
you said at your deposition, but because the turns are
sharp. But now you're saying that that turn is not
sharp, so I don't understand.
Is that turn sharp or not?
A, It is not.
Q. Okay. So the reason they give that "watch

your step"” sometimes in that location is because of the
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incline and the darkness; it has nothing to do with the
sharp turn?

A I'd say the incline.

Q. So now the sharp turn thing is out?

A Right.

Q. And the darkness that you said at your
deposition, you no longer agree with that?

A. It is nighttime.

Q. But when you were asked for the reason at
your deposition for why this warning was given, at your
deposition, the one reason you gave —— well, actually,
the two reasons you gave were the incline and the
darkness.

So now I'm asking you, if you don't think
those are reasons anymore, if something has changed
from 2016 till today.

MR. RUSSELL: He misstates the deposition

testimony, actually.

THE COURT: Overruled. He can say so if it
does.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, it's dark.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. And then that brings us back to my question,
which is, is it your understanding that the reason why

that person would occasionally give a warning about an
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incline and the darkness is because someone could fall
when going through an area with an incline and darkness
without a warning, because they could fall?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
Speculation.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. DEUTSCH: Just asking for his
understanding, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Re—pose the question.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Sure. Is that your understanding why that
warning would occasionally be given, to prevent people
from falling? 1Is that your understanding?

MR. RUSSELL: Same objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: That makes sense. But I — I
never knew their responsibilities.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. Let's talk about November 12th, 2013,
for a second. There came a point that night where you
learned that someone had been — excuse me —— injured
during the runaround; is that right?

A, Yes.

Q. And, as I understand it, you learned it from

another Backstage employee. 1Is that true?
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A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And the Backstage employee that you
learned it from was Pomai Weall; is that right?

A. I don't — I don't remember the night, but
apparently.

Q. Let me ask if you remember being asked this
question and giving this answer. Page 60, line 6 down
to 12.

"QUESTION: Real quickly, do you have any

recollection of who that lady was?
"ANSWER: Not 100 percent. But I think it
was —— it was —— the girls kind of stick to
their same tracks, but they do rotate. So I'm
pPretty sure it was Pomai.
"QUESTION: It was Pomai®?
"ANSWER: Yeah."
Did I refresh your recollection of who told
you?
A. No. I mean, I don't remember, man.
Q. Well, you're aware, right, that Pomai, on the
evening, while you were the person that was assigned to

be the person in the front of the group, Pomai was
assigned to be in the back of the group; is that right?
A. Right. I understand that now.
Q. Okay. Well, you knew that at the time as
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well; right?
When it happened? I don't remember ——
Okay.

¥ © ¥

~— if I knew that.

Q. Okay. But you —— you personally didn't see
Mr. Cox fall; true?

A, True.

Q. And that was because you had already —— you
were already inside the casino at the time when he was
still coming around that corner and fell; true?

A. I'm not sure where I was, but I was in the
front of the pack, so ...

Q. And you had already gone inside the doors at
the time that he fell; is that right?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, do you know if you had already gone
inside the doors when he fell?

A. I didn't see him fall, so I don't know.

Q. Well, if you were outsgide and he fell, do you
think you would have stopped and gone over to him?

A. Yeah, probably.

Q. Okay. And did you?

A. Did I what?
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Q. Stop and go over to him when he fell?

A, I didn't see him. |

Q. And the reason you didn't see him is because
you had already gone inside the doors?

A. I guess so.

Q. Now, after the runaround, the participants
are -~ we know this already, but the participants are
brought into a room where they're given some speeches;
is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And we've already talked at length about the
speeches, but you were one of the people who gave part
of that speech; correct?

A, Correct.

Q. You gave the first part of the speech;
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And then Mr. Copperfield came in and he did
the second part of that speech; correct? |

A. Right.

Q. And it was in that room when Pomai said to
you that Mr. Cox had fallen; true?

A. I believe so.

Q. And even before that, or maybe it was after

that —— I don't know; you tell us —— while you were
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giving your speech, you looked at Mr. Cox and
recognized that something was wrong; true?

A. Yes.

Q. And as I understand it, from your
recollection, you asked him if he needed anything. 1Is
that right?

A. I believe so.

Q. Okay. And your recollection was that he said
he didn't need anything?

A. Correct.

Q. But despite him saying that, you still

recognized that something was wrong; true?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Vague as to point
in time.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. At the time you asked him if he needed
anything and he said no, your recollection, you still
recognized that there was something wrong ——

MR. POPOVICH: Objection.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. —— despite his answer.
MR. POPOVICH: Sorry.
Vague as to which time he asked.
THE COURT: Sustained.
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MR. DEUTSCH: At that moment that you asked
him. That's the time.
MR. POPOVICH: Well, you asked him three
times.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Okay. Did you ask him more than once?
A. I believe so.
Q. Okay. Did he respond all three, or do you
not remember sitting here today?
A. Definitely responded twice.
Q. Okay. Regardless —— and after those
responses, despite whatever his response was, you still

recognized that something was wrong; true?

A. Yeah, something was off.
Q. And you asked someone to get him a chair;
true?
A. I believe so, yeah.
And then Mr. Copperfield came in at that
point and gave —— started to give his portion of the

speech; correct?

A. Right.

Q. And when Mr. Copperfield is giving his speech
that night, he did something that was out of the
ordinary for him; true?

A. What do you mean?
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Q. Well, he —— he, in fact, stopped midway
through his speech and —- because he saw what —
Mr. Cox and asked what happened; true?

A, Yeah. He saw him —-- saw somebody sitting
down which is not -- not common.

Q. And you actually felt that it was really
unusual that Mr. Cox —— Mr. Copperfield would stop his
speech in the middle like that because it's something
that he doesn't ordinarily do.

A, I didn't think it was weird, but you are
right that it is not something that he doesn't usually
do.

Q. And at that point, when he stopped,

Mr. Copperfield asked, "What happened?" True?

A. I think that's what he said, yeah.

Q. And at that point I'm assuming you told him
what happened?

A, Right.

Q. Right?

A. Right.

Q. You told him that Mr. Cox had fallen;
correct?

A. Something along those lines.

Q. Okay. And that's something that you told him
personally? Or was it Pomai or both of you or
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something else?

A. I'm not sure if Pomai did, but I was right
next to him, so yeah.

Q. So on November 12, 2013, while sitting in
that little room, David Copperfield was aware that
Mr. Cox had fallen while doing this illusion; true?

A. I don't know if ——

Q. Because you told him.

A. I don't know if —— don't remember if I said
that somebody had fallen or that somebody got hurt.

Q. Okay. So -

A. So yeah.

Q. So let’'s take both of them. Either
Mr. Copperfield, on November 12th, 2013, knew that

someone had fallen —- true?
A. Yes.
Q. —— or he knew that someone had been injured

doing the Thirteen —-- doing the illusion, the Thirteen;
true?

A, True,

Q. So if Mr. Copperfield came in here yesterday
and told the jury that he didn't know about anyone
falling or being injured until a year later, that
wouldn't be consistent with what you're telling us

today, would it?
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MR. POPOVICH: Objection. That's compound.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: I agree.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. And after you told Mr. Copperfield that
someone had either fallen or been injured, did
Mr. Copperfield ask you any questions about how the
Person had either fallen or been injured?

A, I don't remember.

Q. Do you recall if Mr. Copperfield — you
overheard Mr. Copperfield ask Pomai Weall any questions
about how this person had fallen or been injured?

A, I don't know.

Q. Okay. Did you hear Mr. Copperfield go up to
Mr. Cox and ask him any questions about why he fell or
had been injured?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Did Mr. Kenner ever —— you know who
Mr. Kenner is; true?

A. Yes,

Q. And he was the executive producer of the
show; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. 'He was basically like one of your bosses or

the boss of the whole show; correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever did you ever tell Mr. Kenner
that Mr. Cox ~— that someone had fallen or been injured
while doing the runaround in the Thirteen?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did Mr. Kenner ever come to you and
ask you any questions about the fact that someone had
fallen during the runaround and how it happened or why

it happened or anything like that?

A. Not at the time, no.

Q. Did he at some point later?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. How much later was that that he came
to you?

A. I'm not sure on the date, but I think when
the case started or whatever you want to call it.

Q. Was it days? weeks? months?

A. Had to have been months. I'm not sure.

Q. Months. Okay.

A, I'm not sure.

Q. And when he came to you, what did he say to

you? Did he say, "Hey, Ryan, you know, we heard
someone fell during the runaround. What do you know
about it?"

A, I don't remember.
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Q. Now, after -- after you told Mr. Copperfield
in that room and he gave his speech, did
Mr. Copperfield then leave the room?

A. Yes.
| Q. Okay. And at that point someone contacted
MGM security; is that right?

A, I believe so, yes.

Q. Okay. And that was your understanding of
what you were supposed to do if someone got injured?

A, Right.

Q. And did someone from MGM, a security guard or
someone, come to the little room or something else?

A, Yeah, it was in that same room.

Q. And did —- did — when the MGM security

guards came there, did you have any discussions with

them?

A No.

Q. Okay. So let me see if I understand you. An
MGM security guard came and —— because someone had
gotten injured and you didn't have any discussions with

them at all about what had happened?

A, No.

Q Were they interested? Did they ask?
A. I don't think they asked, no.
Q

Do you know if those MGM security gquards
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asked Pomai any questions while you were there?

A. ‘I don't know.

Q. Do you know if the MGM security guards asked
Mr. Copperfield anything about this?

A, I don't know.

Q. Now, other than Chris Kenner calling you
several months later or calling you or talking to you
about it, did you ever have any follow-up conversations
with Mr. Copperfield at any point in time?

A. No, I don't think so.

Q. Did you —- when Mr. Kenner asked you what you
knew, did you ever tell him what your understanding was
why Mr. Cox had fallen? Or did you not know?

A. I didn't know.

Q. Now, the night of this incident, you were
aware, were you not, that there was a construction

dumpster in the pathway of the runaround? 1Is that

right?
A, Yes.
Q. Now, prior to you doing the runaround, did

you —— do you take that route at any point prior
that —— you know, in the show?

A. No.

Q. Okay. So that was your first time going
through that night?
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A. Correct.

Q. Do you —- do you have any type of, like,
earpiece or anything in during the show? Like, while
the show is going on, is there, like, walkie-talkies of

some sort?

A. We have earpieces that just receive.
Q. Just receive. Who do they receive from?
A, From David.

Q. Just -— just one last thing. We've talked a
lot about this runaround already, and earlier on in my
questioning of you, you said that, despite the fact

that it's called the runaround, that nobody ever runs;

true?

A, Correct.

Q. And at your deposition, you were asked a lot
of questions and you called it the runaround and talked

about the runaround a lot; correct?

A. I'm sure.

Q. Okay. And then at the end of —— of — there
was an attorney that represented Mr. Cox at your
deposition. I think it was that guy in the corner,
Mr. Harris. Do you remember him?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Maybe he didn't have a beard at the

time. I think it's just for the Knights game. He's

96
JA002028




w 0 - oy e W NN+

N NN N NN KR B B B R B B OB R R
U & W N B O W o <& on 1 & W N H O

growing one of those playoff beards.
After he asked you some questions,
Mr. Russell asked you some questions; is that right?

A. I'm sure.

Q. Yeah. He's the attorney that represents
Backstage, as you understand it; right?

A, Right.

Q. And when he was asking you questions, he
asked you to describe the pace that people take this
Journey in; true?

A. I guess.

Q. And that was a yes or "I guess"?

A, I guess.

Q. Yes, yes. And the way you described it, when

Mr. Russell asked you the question, was —— how did you
describe it? Do you remember?
A. I don't.
Q Did you describe it as a brisk walk?
A, I may have.
Q Okay. Well, let me read it to you.
Question —- page 77. Question by
Mr. Russell. Line 5.
MR. RUSSELL: Is this to refresh the
recollection?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.
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RUSSELL: Well —

DEUTSCH: It's impeachment. He said —

5B B

RUSSELL: Well, he just said ~-

MR. DEUTSCH: So then it's to refresh his
recollection. Are you objecting to your own question,
Howard?

MR. RUSSELL: No, I'm not objecting to the

question at all. Go ahead.

MR. DEUTSCH: If you're not objecting, then

what are you saying?

MR. RUSSELL: I'm objecting to you improperly

using the deposition, but go ahead.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Mr. Russell's question, not mine or
Mr. Harris's:

"QUESTION: Just briefly, Ryan, we've used
the term 'runaround' today a lot. One question
that wasn't asked is when you're performing the
Thirteen Illusion, in the role of the person
who is leading a participant, c¢an you describe
what 'run' means to you as far as how the
illusion is carried out?

"ANSWER: Yeah. 1It's not a run at all.

It's like a brisk walk, I would say. It's —
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vyeah, I've never ran. I've never ran it. 1I've
walked it before. And, yeah, it's —— I would
do very — oh, man. It's like a really crappy
jog. You know, where somebody that was walking
next to me would be keeping in pace with me,
you know. Yeah, yeah, yeah. It's not a
runaround at all."

You remember being asked that question and

giving that answer?

A. Sounds like my answer.
Q. Okay. And one of the — and one of the ways

you described it was a brisk walk; true?

A. Yep.

Q. And is "brisk walk" a term that you use
frequently?

A. Yeah.

Q. Would it surprise you in this case that
Mr. Carvalho -- Mr. Carvalho; that's you — that

Ms. Pomai Weall, Chris Kenner, David Copperfield, and

you, four of you —— withdrawn.
There's a lot of different words out there to
describe the pace of a walk or a pace of a run or a

pace of a jog. You agree?
A. Sure.

Q. We've heard some. Mr., Popovich used the term
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"trot." Okay? There's lots of different terms; right?

A. Okay.

Q. Do you find it to be coincidental that you,
Mr. Kenner, Ms. Weall, and Mr. Copperfield, of all the
words to describe the pace of thisg, that you all chose
"brisk walk"? Do you think that was just a
coincidence?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. This is
argumentative.
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Argumentative.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Did you come up with "brisk walk,” that pace,
on your own?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. Now, despite the fact that you
described it as a brisk walk, or a crappy jog, people
have actually gotten winded doing that brisk walk;
true?

A. I don't know.

Q. Let me ask you if you recall giving this
answer to this question on page 79, line 19. 78 ——
sorry —— line 19. 78/19. It goes on to the next page,
79.

"QUESTION: And do you and Pomai try to
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keep basically the same pace as you're
preceding the participants through the
illusion?

"ANSWER: I don't think that's our goal.
My goal is to lead, and she's just kind of
whoever —— like, she doesn't pass anyone.
She's making sure that everybody has moved on.
Like, whatever her pace is whatever their pace
is. We've had times before where somebody, you
know, couldn’'t finish, you know, like Jjust got
winded or whatever. It was like an old gquy, I
think.

And what she would do is she would
stay with him. She would give me the signal.
Like I said, in those double doors, those two
sets of doors, she would give me the signal
that I could move on as soon —— because as soon
as she gives me the signal, I can go. You
know, yeah."

Do you recall being asked that question and

giving that answer?

A. I don't remember, but sounds right.

Q. Does that refresh your recollection, that

there were times —— at least one time with an old guy

where somebody got winded doing the brisk walk?
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A, Yes.
Q. How old was the guy? Do you remember?
A. No idea.
Q. Was he, like, Morelli's age?
A. We would have sat him.
Q. Back in the dumpster I go.
Do you remember how old he was?
A, If I were to guess, I'd say 60.
Q. That's not so old. You just got me in a lot
of trouble.

So at least in the case of that person,

Mr. Carvalho, someone made it through the screening

process but still wasn't able to finish the illusion;

true?

v » 0 ¥

A.
whatever.
Q.
A.
Q.

Yeah.
Has that happened more than that one old gquy?
Yes, but for other reasons.
Okay. What other reasons?
Dropping a flashlight or just stopping or
I don't know.
Well —
Just —

You just told us that it's happened other

than the one guy who you remember, the old guy, who you

remember that stopped because he got winded and you
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said that it's happened for other reasons, so —— and
now you're saying that you don't really remember the
other reasons; you just know that there were?

A. Yeah. Because, like I said, I wait for
Pomai's signal. So if she wénts to give me the signal
and she has people with her, then I go. So there are
other things going on.

Q. I understand that. But you were —— you just
volunteered to me that people didn't finish the
illusion for other reasons. I didn't say that to you;
you volunteered that to me.

A. Okay.

Q. So now I just want to try to figure out what
the reasons are. One you gave us was because someone
dropped the flashlight.

Would dropping a flashlight be a reason to
not finish the illusion, or would the person just pick
up their flashlight and continue going?

A. Yeah.

Q. So that wouldn't really be another reason why
someone couldn't complete the illusion; true?

A. But that's not my call to make.

Q. Well, I understand that. But I'm asking
you — I asked you a question, and the question I asked

you was if there were any other times that someone
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stopped because they got winded. And you said to us,
"Not that I remember about getting winded, but that
there were other reasons why people didn't finish the
illusion."

Remember that?

A. Yeah.
Q. Okay. And then my next question to you was
"Tell us what those reasons were."

And you gave us two examples. The first
example you gave was that people didn't finish the
illusion because they dropped the flashlight. So
that's the one we're talking about now. Okay? |

A, Okay.

bping a

flashlight wouldn't really be a reason why someone

Q. And my question to you is di¢

would stop; they would pick up the flashlight and keep
going. Right?

A, Sure. Or —- or not. Like I said, I don't
know. It's —— it's not my call to — to hold —— to

hold people back.

Q. Okay. So the second reason -~

A. But I know it happens.

Q. Okay. Dces it happen frequently?

A, No.

Q. Okay. Well, the second reason you gave us
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was that people sometimes just stop in the middle, like
unexplained?

A. Yeah. I'm guessing. Yeah.

Q. Okay. Are there any other reasons other than
windéd, dropping a flashlight, and just stopping
unexplained? Any other reasons that you know of that
people haven't finished the illusion?

A. No.

Q. How about falling?

A. The only person I know that's fallen has been
Mr. Cox.

Q. Were you working in June of 2013?

A. I think so.

Q. Did you work every night?

A. Yeah.

MR. DEUTSCH: I have nothing further. Thank

you, Mr., Carvalho.

THE COURT: Counsel approach.

(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we consider
this a good time to take a break. All right. But the
problem is, if we take a break and then resume, it
would be, like, ten to 12:00. So why don't we just

take lunch now and resume at 1:00 instead of 1:30 as we
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usually do.

Would that cause a problem for anybody? Has
anybody made any plans based on what I've said about
usually resuming at 1:30?

Okay. So we'll take lunch, and during the
recess, ybu're admonished not to talk or converse among
yourselves or with anyone else, including, without
limitation, the lawyers, parties, and witnesses on any
subject connected with the trial or read, watch, or
listen to any report 6f or commentary on the trial or
any person connected with the trial by any medium of
information, including, without limitation, newspapers,
television, the internet, and radio, or to form or
express any opinion on any subject connected with the

trial until the case is finally submitted to you.

Be outside the courtroom just before 1:00.
Okay?
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(Whereupon a luncheon recess was taken.)
THE MARSHAL: All rise. Come to order.
Department is again in session.

THE COURT: Good afternoon. Please be
seated. We're about to make a record outside the
presence of the jury. I understand there's a couple of

issues to be addressed.
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MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, I had one issue.
May I approach the bench to show you? It was a view
from the trial this morning that my secretary ——
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)

THE COURT: Okay. I would like to admonish
anybody with cameras -- okay? —— who —— granted a media
request, cameras are not ever to —— to be trained upon
the jury or any members of the jury. All right? And I
think that may have happened. And I just wanted to
admonish whoever's here with the camera to make sure
you don't get any jurors into any of the doc¢ view or
pictures. COkay?

And, also, during bench conferences, members
of the press are not —— any — any devices that are
permitting the hearing of what's the subject of —
occurring during a bench conference is not —— those
devices are to be turned off. I think I've said that a
couple of times. And it's very important that that
take place, because I've been told that some things are
still coming through during bench c¢onferences. And
those are off the record from the standpoint of the —-
of the press and other people in the courtroom or to
the counsel. All right?

So anything else you would like me to
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clarify?
MR. MORELLI: I think we're good, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay. So are we ready for the
jury now?
MR. MORELLI: Ready.
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: Good afternoon, ladies and

gentlemen. You may be seated.

Do counsel stipulate that the jury is now
present?

MR. MORELLI: The jury is present.

MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. CALL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. The witness has
retaken the stand. Plaintiffs having passed the

witness, Mr. Russell, you may cross—examine.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Carvalho.
A Hi.
Q. Is today your first time ever testifying in

front of a jury?
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A, Yes,
Q. I got the sense sitting here you might have

been a little nervous. Were you a little nervous this

morning?
A. Yeah.
Q. Take a deep breath for me now.

Where are you working presently?
A. I work for a Cirque du Soleil.

Q. What do you do for Cirque du Soleil

Presently?

A, I am a carpenter with a touring show.

Q. So you're still in the entertainment
industry?

A. Yes.

Q. When you were working for Backstage and
assisting in the David Copperfield show, did you use

the term "show track" to describe your role?

A. Yes.

Q. Explain to the jury, what does a show track

mean in — in your parlance?
A. So the show track —-- a show track is made up
of —— made up of cues. So my show track, nobody else

did my show track. These were cues that I did from the
start of the show to the end of the show. That's —-

each person had their own track.
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Q. And how did you learn the specifics of your
show track?

A. By following the person who's training me.
Whether it's, like, somebody leaving or they're just
handing off a cue, they'll —— I'll follow them, then
they'll follow me, and then I have it.

Q. And so, as opposed to getting an employee
handbook, you do hands-on training. 1Is that fair to
say?

A. Correct.

Q. And do you remember who your predecessor was

as it related to the runaround portion of the Thirteen

Illusion?

A. Yes.

Q. What was —— what was that person's name?

A. Zack. I don't remember his last name.

Q. How long did you work with Zack to learn that
show track for the runaround portion of the Thirteen?

A. From the beginning to, like, me taking it
over?

Q. Yeah, from the time you first started working
with Zack to learn that show track until the time that

he handed it off to you officially.
A. I'd say a solid week of shows.

Q. And portions of that time, just wverbal
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communications between you and Zack as to what the
specifics were?

A. Yes.

Q. And then were there times that you actually
watched him do the job?

A. Yes. At the beginning, yeah.

Q. And then towards the end, did he watch you do

A. Yes.
Q. If you could, tell the jury a little bit

about what you did as the assistant stage manager.

A. As far as the assistant stage manager stuff
goes?

Q. Yeah, both assistant stage manager stuff and
then what you actually did as part of the illusions.

A. Did everything from coordinating rehearsals,
fixing props, helping train —- you know, scheduling
training for —— for other employees, and having a full
track of cues for the show.

Q. Now, as it related to the Thirteen Illusion,
was part of your job at some point in time to visually
assess the people as they were coming onto the stage?

A. It wasn't my responsibility, but I took it
upon myself to —— to do that.

Q. And that was the same part —— and that was
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the same time frame as when you were also doing the
runaround; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So for part of the illusion, you would be on
the stage, and then you would move to the back of the

stage to start the runaround. 1Is that accurate?

A. Correct.
Q. The jury has seen a few times -—~ and we won't
go through it again —— but they've seen a few times a

video of the illusion from the audience's perspective.
And, in the video, there's a person standing to

Mr. Copperfield's left. Would that have been where you

stood?

A, Yes.

Q. And so as the people come up on stage, what
are you doing?

A. I'm grabbing the beach balls from them and

throwing them backstage of the wing. Yeah, that was my

main —— my main purpose.
Q. And the visual assessment that you took it
upon yourself to do, you were doing that as they were

coming up the stairs?
A. Yeah.
Q. What sort of things were you looking for when

these people were walking up the stairs?
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And let me ask you this first: We heard
testimony that, as the participants were walking up the
stairs, they actually had the balls in front of them,
there was no banister. 1Is that accurate?

A. Right.

Q. So as they're walking up the stairs with the
ball in their hand without a banister to steady them,
what are you looking for?

A. How well they get up the staircase, if they
need assistance getting up the staircase. How they --
how they are reacting to the fact that they're coming

up on stage and they're going to be on stage.

Q. What do you mean by that?

A. So sometimes we get -- it's usually, like,
guys in their 20s, you know, who are —— are really
excited to be on stage. Like I said earlier,

they're -- you know, they're — they could be
problematic in, you know, grabbing -- touching props
or, you know, grabbing a string that they shouldn't be
grabbing or a curtain they shouldn't be grabbing.

So those quys, it's usually, as soon as they
get up, they're —- you know, they're —— they're
cheering to their buddies back in the audience kind of
thing. TIt's like, all right, yeah, you're sitting

down.
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Q. And you mentioned —- you mentioned drunk
people before. What sort of signs of intoxication were
you looking for as the people were coming up the
stairs? |

A, Noticeable, like —— like, you know, being —-—
like, stumbling around. But, usually, if it's —— if
they're overexcited, that's -— that was a big one for
me.

Q. Well, when Mr. Deutsch was asking you
questions, he started to say that you're doing a visual
assessment and your concern in doing the visual
assessment, in a way, was to avoid people having
problems completing the illusion. And you said, well,
yeah, in a way it was correct.

Explain to the jufy if you can, what do you
mean? What concerns were you really looking for as far

as people not being able to complete the illusion?

A. Like I said with, you know, the younger guys,
it's —— if they can't stay in a line, if they're going
to try —— you know, there's people that want to try and

give away a secret or, you know, find —— find something
that they can mess up. 1It's —— the goal is to keep
everybody in order in a nice group. So anything that
might deter that, I don't want to deal with.

Q. Does -- the ability to complete the illusion
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efficienitly and to entertain the —— the audience, does
that.go hand in hand with completing the illusion
safely?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Leading.

MR. RUSSELL: Doesn't suggest an answer.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Just rephrase.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Okay. 1Is safety a factor that goes hand in

hand with completing the illusion efficiently and

effectively?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor. Same
question.

MR. RUSSELL: I asked —— I wasn't suggesting
any answer, Your Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: What are the factors?
THE COURT: Just rephrase.
MR. RUSSELL: All right.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. In an effort to complete the illusion

efficiently and effectively, what things go into your

mind?

A. Say that one more time.

Q. Sure. In an effort to get the illusion
completed effectively and efficiently, what things go
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into your mind?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Foundation.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: The -— if I have a group
that —— I will always try to have a group that seems
easy —— that will be able to follow directions easily.
They're not going to stray. If everybody -- if
everybody's together, then it's not going to be a
problem.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Is part of your job on the runaround guiding

the participants as they work their way through?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Leading, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: 1I'll allow it.

THE WITNESS: To guide them? Yes.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. If someone appears, coming up on the stage,
unsteady, would that pose a problem for you trying to
guide people? |

A. If it seems like a problem that I can't
control, then yes.

Q. As part of your role in the runaround, are
you giving directions to the person that you're ——

you're proceeding with backstage, the woman whose hand
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you take?
A, Yes.
Q. If someone appears on the stage unruly, does

that pose a problem for you being able to efficiently
give directions?

A. Yes.

Q. And you mentioned this before. Is keeping

order part of your job in effectively running the

runaround?
A. Yes.
Q. If someone appears on stage, as you said,

overly excited, would that pose a problem for you to be
able to keep order for the participants?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Deutsch asked you if the concerns -- or
excuse me. He asked you if the visual assessments were
over a concern that people would fall. Did you ever
consider the runaround as putting anyone in danger of
falling and being injured?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. I understand that doing the visual assessment

was something that you took upon yourself; however,
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when you were doing that, did you have the ability, in
your role as part of the Thirteen Illusion, to remove
participants and have them be witnesses on the stage?

A. Yes, I would.

Q. Okay. Did you have discretion to make that
call without asking anyone else?

A. Yes.

Q. And could you do that —— if you saw someone
that you believed was not well suited for the illusion,
did you have to get permission from anyone to pull that.
person out and have them be a witness on the stage?

A. No.

Q. When someone was sat as a witness, tell the

~jury what —— tell the jury what the witnesses do.

They've heard that term a lot and they've seen the
video, but you were involved in the illusion.
What do the witnesses do on stage?

A. The witnesses sat on either side of the
Platform. And they were there to show that there's no
mirrors or anything funny going on. That was their
main responsibility.

Q. Are the witnesses ever told how the illusion
itself is actually done?

A. No.

Q. So a person that has pulled out of the line
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and sat on the stage as a witness, they can still be
part of the magic; right?

A. Yes.

Q. And, in a way, they're closer than you and I
are from the platform; correct?

A, Oh, yeah.

Q. So would you say they had maybe the best seat
in the house?

A. Yeah.

Q. So if —— if there was anyone in line that
appeared ill-suited for the runaround, they would end
up having the best seat in the house; right?

A. You could say that.

Q. As the participants are coming up onto the

stage, are you communicating with Mr. Copperfield as

well?

A. If I need to, but it's not a — we're not
chatting.

Q. If you had any concerns about a particular
person, would you communicate those to Mr. Copperfield

if needed?

A. No. Our -- our communication is more other
notes. You know? But by the time I'm moving
somebody -- by the time I'm moving somebody, David is
already gone. 1It's, like, after the fact.
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Q. The jury has seen the video of what
Mr. Copperfield called the walk-around, what happens
with the participants before they disappear. Are you
actually part of that process? |

A, No.

Q. All right. Once the participants are on the
stage and now they've all passed you, what's your next
role in the illusion?

A, I head to the other side of the stage and I
help get flashlights ready, bring the headshots out,
kind of prep the ~- the back room, the Thirteen room.

Q. The flashlights, are those flashlights that
will be handed to the participants during the

runaround?

A, Yes.

Q. Who hands those flashlights out?

A, The MGM employees.

Q. When you get the flashlights out that the MGM
employees will hand out, where do you —— where do you

get those flashlights from?

A, We kept them in a spot backstage, kind of
right near those doors.

Q. When you say "those doors," earlier we heard
your testimony about, after the illusion is over, you

gather the participants together, and —— and that's
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sort of a Thirteen break-out room; right?
A Yes.
Q. And we've seen —- we've seen pictures of

that. When you're back there, do you check to make

sure the back doors are —— are open before the illusion
starts?
A. Yes.

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor, to the

leading nature of all these questions.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. RUSSELL: B
Q. When you go get the bin of flashlights for
the MGM employees to hand out, is part of your job to

see if the back doors are open in that hallway?
MR. DEUTSCH: Same objection, Your Honor.
What are your job responsibilities?
THE COURT: He can —— he can pose the
question —— frame the question, but it is leading.
Just rephrase. You don't have to use the
same language.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. That's fine. You can answer Mr. Deutsch's
question if you'd like. What are your job
responsibilities, including putting the flashlights out
there? What else do you do back there?
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A. So the doors you're talking about is —— is my
own thing, to make sure. It is —-— it's the MGM
employees’' responsibility to open those doors, and I
just do a check to make sure that they're done, because .
we don't want to be coming through and those doors
aren't open yet. So ...

Q. We've heard some testimony about the dragon.
At what point —-- do you help bring the dragon over to
the platform?

A. No.

Q. When do you arrive at the platform where the

participants are seated?

A. I follow behind the dragon as it's being
moved.

Q. Once the dragon is moved, what is your next
involvement with the participants? Tell the jury what

you do next once the illusion starts.

A. So as soon as the dragon is docked onto the
platform, I'm waiting for the first person to come down
the stairs of the dragon.

MR. RUSSELL: Audra, could you please put up
93-154, which is already in evidence.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Is that a picture of the dragon,
Mr. Carvalho?
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A. Yes.

Q. So, if you could, could you please point out
to the jury where you stand before the first
participant comes out of the platform and onto the
dragon. |

A, Along this rail right here (witness
indicating).

Q. And where do you put your -— your feet? Are
they flat on the floor?

A. I usually have a foot on the first step.

Q. And do you have a —— the flashlight that you
looked at earlier, do you have that in your hand at
this point?

A. Yeah.

Q. As the illusion starts, what do you do with
that flashlight?

A. I have it in my right hand. 1I'll reach up
into the stairwell, and I'll be shining the light on my
hand so the girl knows to take my hand.

Q. Do you say anything to the woman coming down
the dragon?

A. No, I believe the — the assistants are
saying to take — to take my hand.

Q. Along the steps of the dragon, there's sort

of white—colored tape. Do you know what that isg?
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A. Yes. So these are —— I think these are just
white, and then these strips are glow tape.

Q. As the participants are coming out of the
dragon, is there any light coming from the stage area
over the dragon?

A. Maybe some leak —— some light leak, but there
are no lights, like, directed over ﬁs.

Q. There is some ambient light?

A. Yeah.

Q. So you take the person’'s hand. Now, when do
you —— what do you do next after you take that first
person's hand?

A. We start making our way through. So as soon
as they —— they hit the ground, we start moving.

Q. As you iead that first person, what do you
say to her?

A, I think I usually start with, like, a "Hey,
how's it going?" You know?

0. You befriend her?

A. And then kind of let them know, you know,
what turns are coming up, what's —— what's our move.

Q. Do you tell her to watch her step as she's
coming down the stairs?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Leading.
THE COURT: Sustained.
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BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Do you say anything about the steps?
No.

Q. Do you ask the person you are ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
Leading.

MR. RUSSELL: The question is, "Do you ask
them to run?" It's a yes-or-no question. It's —

THE COURT: I'll allow it. 1I'll allow it.
BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q. Do you ask the person you're with to run?

A. No.,

Q. Are there -— talking with Mr. Deutsch a
little bit about people along the pathway. Best of
your knowledge, who are the people along the pathway as
you're proceeding?

A. Most of them are the MGM employees. There's
one or two of the Backstage employees that are holding
the dragon and -— and have their lights out.

Q. I think, during Mr. Deutsch's questioning,
you talked a little bit about the MGM person who's
outside. Do you remember that discussion you had with
him?

A. The number two person?

Q. The number two person.
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A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. And I think you said that, from your
perspective, the only time you would hear that person
say anything to the participants is if somebody fell
back. Did I hear you correctly?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. From your perspective, if somebody
fell back from the crowd, would that mean that they
were running?

. MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Foundation. Calls

for speculation.

THE COURT: He can answer what it means to
him,

THE WITNESS: Say it one more time.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Sure. If the MGM person in the No. 2 spot
had to tell people which way to go because somecne fell
back, that person that fell back, would they reasonably
have been running?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, your Honor.
Anything's possible.

THE COURT: Sustained. I will sustain it.
Just rephrase.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. From your perspeétive —— I'm not asking you
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to speculate —-

A. Okay.

Q. You were asked lots of questions to speculate
about what the person holding the light was thinking
when he told them which way to go. Would a possibility

be, if they fell back, they weren't running?

A. Yeah.
Q. Okay. You also were asked a lot of
questions —— you can have a seat, Ryan. Thank you.

You were asked a lot of questions about what
the MGM people say. And you were shown parts of your
deposition.

MR. RUSSELL: Audra, could you bring up pages
54 and 55 of the deposition.

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.

Improper impeachment, and he —
MR. RUSSELL: 1It's not impeachment. 1It's

prior consistent statement.

MR. DEUTSCH: It's his own witness, Your
Honor.

MR. RUSSELL: Mr. Deutsch put in the issue.

MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Ovwverruled. Go ahead.

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you.

Please put up 54 and 55.
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BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Ryan, can you see that on the stage —— or
excuse me —— on the screen?

MR. DEUTSCH: What page?

MR. RUSSELL: 54 and 55.

Okay. Audra, if you can pull up the bottom

of number —- of page 54 and 55. This is 53 and 54.
That's why I was confused. So I guess on the scan, it
would be 55 and 56. There's probably the cover page.

Thank you. Appreciate that.

MR. DEUTSCH: Where are we?

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Now we are at 54, line 6. Okay. If you
could follow along, Mr. Carvalho. You were asked,
starting at line 9, does the -- well, I'm going to ask
the questions and you just give me the answers, please.

A, Okay.

Q. All right.

"QUESTION: Does the MGM stagehand at any
time —-- you may have said this already, but
they're not giving any type of instruction or
any type of warning or anything. They're just
pointing a flashlight, as far as you know."

What was your answer?

A, I said, "I've heard people, like, you know,
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'Watch your step,' come around the corner, you know,
Just kind of heads-up kinds of things.

Q. "Do you know whether or not any type of
instruction was given to the participants on -- in the
show on 11/12/137?"

A. I don't know.

Q. And your answer was? Your answer was "No."

A. Oh, yeah. "No." Sorry.

Q. Okay. Now, if you will look on page 55,
line 2, the question started, "So it would be this

individual that we marked as No. 2."

And your answer was what?
A. "It would be all of them along the —-"
Q. | And were you able to finish your thought
there?
A. Looks like not.
Q. Okay. And the next question was "Do you know
why it is they're saying or do you have any idea why

they would be saying 'watch your step'?"

And what's your answer?
A. "Because it's dark." 1It's usually dark, you
know.
Q. So when you're talking about it being dark,
you've testified earlier there were parts of the

runaround that are darker than others; is that right?
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MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Leading.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. The part -- would you consider the outdoor
part of the runaround to be dark?

A. No.

Q. And then, at the bottom of the page 55 on
line 19, you say, "So we're clear on that, watch" ——
this is the question. "So you're clear on that, 'Watch
your step.' You've heard watch-your-step warnings to
individuals in the area where the X is marked."

Now, do you remember you were shown the
diagram and you were pointing out the Xs?

A. Right.

Q. So when counsel asked you to talk about where
the X is marked, what was your answer?

A. "Right."

Q. And it continues?

A. Oh. "It kind of at every turn, you know,
it's something 'careful,' you know."

Q. So your deposition testimony was actually
talking about hearing "watch your step” at every turn
along the way; is that right?

A. Yes.
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Q. That's what you said today as well, isn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. We started to talk a little bit about the
flashlights. Tell me how the audience participants
are. How do they get the flashlights along the
illusion?

A, So the —- the MGM employees that are standing
along the route will grab, you know, a handful of
flashlights from the bin that we bring out, and just as
people are coming by, they're handed flashlights.

Q. What is the purpose of the flashlights, to
your understanding?

A They're —— so in the —- David, on stage, is
handing —— handing a bucket of flashlights in to the
people in the prop.

Q. I don't want you to go any further. I don't
want you to talk about what happens inside the prop
once the participants are out. So you don't want to
talk about that.

So I understand he hands —— at the beginning

he hands lights inside to the prop.

A. Right.
Q. Now go to where the audience members are out
of the prop.

A. It's to show that these participants have
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those lights.

Q. Okay. Since the —— well, we've heard about,
at the end of the illusion, the participants appear at
the back of the auditorium; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Do they turn the lights on when
they're in the back of the auditorium?

A. Yes.

Q. S0 is part of getting the Thirteen Illusion
set up — strike that.

Is there anything in place as part of the
Thirteen Illusion to make sure that the flashlights
will be operable for the illusion?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. What —— how is that done?

A. That's done before the show and —— before the
show starts and before —— well, actually, the MGM —-
the MGM employees, as they grab them, they'll usually
check them. We always had extra flashlights in there
just in case, you know, we had some duds.

Q. The flashlights that are handed out by the
MGM employees, are they all handed out while the
participants are still inside the building?

A. Yes. There may have been a person that had

flashlights that was outside, but it's usually those
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first couple turns.

Q. To the best of your knowledge, by the time
the participants are outside, they have their
flashlights?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. Do they actually need the flashlights
for lighting, again, from your perspective?

A. I would say no.

Q. Are you in a position that you have to tell
the participants to turn off their flashlights?

A, Yes.

Q. At what point in time?

A. I would tell them as we stop in the double
doors, on our way back into the MGM.

Q. And once you go into the MGM, there's just
hallway lighting or casino lighting; correct?

A, Yes.

Q. You were asked some questions about'your
definition of run and whether it's a brisk walk or a
crappy Jog.

Do you remember that?

A, Yes.

Q. Does the pace of the illusion change as the
illusion proceeds?

A. What do you mean?
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Q. Well, let me ask it this way: Can the pace
that the people move at change at different points in
the runaround?

A, I still don't know what you mean.

Q. Is there much space to run backstage?

A. No.

&7 Given the length of the hallways, as you
proceed Backstage, have you seen times where people
could actually get up to a run?

A. I don't know. I'm usually just with the girl
in the front.

Q. If someone was running —— since you're in the
front with the girl, if someone was running, would
they —- again, your perspective —— would they catch up
to you?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor. Calls

for speculation. He just says he doesn't know.

THE COURT: Well, let's see if he does.
Overruled.

THE WITNESS: They would never get past me if
somebody was coming up c¢lose.

BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. How would you describe what you're doing with
the lead participant as you walk with her?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
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Misstates the testimony.

THE COURT: If it does —-

MR. DEUTSCH: Brisk walk.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. When he briskly walks with the lead.

A. So besides telling her what turns are coming
up, it's —— it's mainly just chatting, just "Where you
from?" whatever. I don't have anything important to
say until we're in the —— through those double doors
back in the MGM,

Q. You were asked earlier some questions about
whether the turns through the backstage area were
confusing. I would like to show you —— this is an
exhibit that Mr. Kenner and Mr. Copperfield used. 1I
think Mr. Copperfield used; Mr. Kenner did.

To the best of your recollection, the —— the
orange and green dots here, here, here, and here on
this diagram, are those people, during the Thirteen —
are those spots that people are standing during the

Thirteen Illusion?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
Leading.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Do you recognize —— strike that.
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Do you recall where along the route people
would stand, MGM stagehands would stand?

A, Where the green and orange dots are.

Q. Okay. As the participants walk through
backstage, as they are approaching the turn, tell me
what they wi;l see as they approach each turn.

A. So this person right here is pointing them
that way, because going this way would be the office
and, going straight through, this person would be going
upstairs to our dressing rooms.

-This person would be pushing them this way
because there are doors here that could lead them back
into the theater.

Q. And you said —-- you said pushing. Have you

ever seen anybody ever touch a participant to push

them?

A. No. No.

Q. Guiding them? 1Is that a better word?

A, Yeah. 1It's mainly just like a (witness
indicating).

Q. So as the -—— as the participants are
proceeding backstage, are there people there guiding

them along the way?
A. Yes.

Q. And have you ever heard of a participant in
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the Thirteen Illusion not being able to follow the
directions from the MGM stagehands?

A. Not being able to? No.

Q. Okay. You mentioned earlier that —-- you can
have a seat. Thank you, Ryan.

You mentioned earlier that, when you get to
the double doors, you're —~ you're waiting for a
signal.

Tell the jury what you mean by you're waiting
for a signal.

A. So I'm waiting for the assistant that is in
the back of the train to give me the signal that we can
continue. That means that everybody has caught back up
together. And so once she gives me that signal, then
we can proceed through the kitchen.

Q. And does that signal necessarily mean that

all the participants are going to complete the

illusion?

A. No.

Q. Are there times that she would signal you
because there were people staying behind?

A, Yes.
Q. If people had to be stopped along the route,
from your perspective in doing this illusion, did that

ruin the illusion?
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A, No.
Q. How many times along the runaround do you
stop and regather the participants?
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
Foundation. =
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Are there times along the runaround —- we've
already talk about the double doors. Besides the
double doors, is there another time along the runaround

that you stop to regather the participants?

A. Yes.

Q. When does that happen?

A. Once we've made it through the kitchen and we
are about to enter the —- the house again, the
auditorium.

Q. What is your cue to have the participants
leave the kitchen and go back out to the auditorium and

wave to the crowd?

A. It's a music cue. It's like an explosion
sound.

Q. In your years of working on the Thirteen
Illusion and being part of the runaround, did you ever

consider the route to be dangerous?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.

138
JA002070




w W Jd Y U R W N

N NN N NN R KRB KB KB B R B R ROR
U & W N R O W @ -1 & 1 b W N B O

THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. You personally are part of the runaround.
You're doing the same route that the audience
participants are doing; correct?
A. Yes.
Q. If the route contained obstacles along the
way, could you have been similarly exposed to those
same obstacles?
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. If the —— if the runaround was done in total
darkness, could you have been dealing with that same
condition when you were part of it?

A. Like pitch black?

Q. Yeah.
A. Yeah.
Q. If audience participants were erratic during

the runaround, could that have been problematic for
you?
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.
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THE WITNESS: Erratic like?
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Confused, chaotic.
A. Yeah.
Q. And, again, I am only asking about your
perspective from what you did in the illusion.
Would you consider carrying out the illusion
to be orderly or rushed?
A. Definitely not rushed. It's orderly, yeah.
Q. Would you consider carrying out the illusion
to be calm or chaotic?
A. Calm.
Q. And would you consider the way you carried
out this illusion to be controlled or pandemonium?
A. Controlled.
Q. After the illusion is completed, the
participants go to the what I call — I've called the

breakout room, but that hallway where they gather;

right?

A. Yes,

Q. And that's where you give your speech?

A, Yes.

Q. Have you ever, in all the times you did the
illusion, said during your speech that the people were

running around like crazy with —— looking, you know,
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with fear in their eyes?
MR. DEUTSCH: Crazy looks on their faces.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you very much. I
appreciate that, Mr. Morelli -- Mr. Deutsch.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Have you ever said the words, "This is not
you running around with crazy looks on your faces,
running for your lives with crazy looks on your face?"

A o e

Q. You were shown during your deposition —— we .

didn't talk about it today —— it was a sheet that was a

speech.
You remember looking at that?
A. The —— yeah, the Thirteen speech.
Q. Besides your deposition, how many times had
you ever read that speech? And I mean read the actual

piece of paper.

A, Maybe once.

Q. When you did the speech at the back of the
illusion or at the end of the illusion, where did you
learn that speech from?

A. From Zack.

Q. Did Zack ever tell you, "Hey, tell the

participants that they're running for their lives with
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crazy looks on their faces"?
A. No.

MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, may I approach the
witness?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RUSSELL: Look at page 63.

BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Mr. Carvalho, you were asked by Mr. Deutsch
some of the questions —-

This is on page 63. I'm sorry, Adam.

You were asked during some of Mr. Deutsch’'s
questions about conversations you had with Mr. Cox and
Mr. Copperfield on the night of Mr. Cox's accident.

Do you remember that?
Him asking me the questions?

Yeah. You remember Mr. Deutsch asking?

» © P

Yes.

Q. If you'll look at page 63 and tell me, if you
look at lines 4 -~ 63, lines 4 through 12. Read those
lines and tell me, does that refresh your recollection

as to whether or not Mr. Copperfield asked Mr. Cox if

he was okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What you can do is you can show
it to him and then take it away.
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MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, respectfully, he
didn't say that he didn't remember anything in the
first place.

THE COURT: I agree.

MR. DEUTSCH: But now he's given it to him to
read, so ——

THE COURT: And the prior testimony wasn't
from a deposition; right?

MR. RUSSELL: Correct.

THE COURT: So I think you need to take that
away —

MR. RUSSELL: 1I'll take it away from him.

THE COURT: -— and establish that he doesn't
have a recollection.

MR. DEUTSCH: He's here testifying live.
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Do you recall, as we sit here today, whether
or not Mr. Copperfield asked Mr. Cox if he was okay?
A, Yeah, he definitely —— well, he definitely
noticed Mr. Cox and, you know, stopped his speech and
was like —- you know, asked him, whatever, like, you

know, what happened or —— and I chimed in.

Q. And your deposition, that was over two years
ago; right?
A. I think so, yeah.
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Q. And this accident was over four and a half
years ago?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Is he impeaching
his own witness?

MR. RUSSELL: I'm asking.

THE COURT: Just asking him when the accident
happened. Overruled.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. So as we sit here today four and a half years
later, do you —— can you recall one way or another what
this specific conversation was between Mr. Copperfield
and Mr. Cox?

A. I don't remember.

MR. RUSSELL: That's all I have,
Mr. Carvalho. Oh, maybe I have one more. I apologize.
MR. MORELLI: Howard, you dropped a paper.
MR. RUSSELL: I did. Thank you, Mr. Morelli.
Your Honor, may we approach?
THE COURT: Sure.
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Mr. Carvalho, now if you'll read —— take a

look at page 63.

THE COURT: Don't read it out loud.
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BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Don't read it out loud. Just take a look at
it. Tell me when you're done. Read lines 9 through 12
or 9 through 14, I believe. Tell me when you're done.

A. (Witness reviewing document.)

I'm done.

Q. Okay. Now, does that refresh your
recollection as to whether Mr. Cox and —— excuse me ——
whether Mr. Copperfield asked if Mr. Cox was okay on
the night of Mr. Cox's accident?

A. So I don't know.

MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Okay. Thank you.

MR. ROBERTS: Hey —— sorry.

MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, under 51.125, I'd
like to have the witness read the testimony as a
recorded recollection, which he's now said he doesn't
remember .

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
Deposition does not apply to that. It's meant for
something contemporaneous, as I said up at the bench.

THE COURT: Approach, please.

MR. RUSSELL: Nothing in there about
contemporaneous,

(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)
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MR. MORELLI: Adam, let him do it.
MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, no further
questions.
THE COURT: All right.
All right. Mr, Popovich?
MR. POPOVICH: Yes.
CROSS—-EXAMINATION
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Mr. Carvalho, I am Jerry Popovich,
representing MGM Grand Hotel. Okay? And I do have
some questions.

First off, were you in the military?
Yes.
What branch?

Alr Force.

© ¥ O ¥

How long?

A. Did six and a half active duty, and I did a
little over three in the Air National Guard.

Q. Did you have basic training?

A, Yes.

Q. Is it like the TV shows, with drill sergeants

up in your face training you guys?

A. Yes.
Q. Screaming at you?
A. Yes.
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Q.

In all your time working with the Thirteen

Illusions, did you ever see any stagehands up in faces

of participants of the Thirteen Illusion like a drill

sergeant, screaming, "Run, run, run"?

do for an

A.

Q.

questions.

A.

Q.

# 0 B O

Not at all.

How about, "Move, move, move"?
No.

Didn't happen?

No.

So now that everybody is awake, I have some

Are stagehands to do what they are trained to
illusion?
I'm sorry. Say that one more time.

Sure. With regard to stagehands on a

particular illusion, they're trained to do a particular

task?

© » O » O » O P

Yes.

I think you call them "cues"?

Cues, yeah.

Okay. And you're supposed to do your cue?
Yes.

Each stagehand; right?

Yes.

And when all the cues are done in the proper
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order and timing, the illusion comes off, at least
that's the plan?

A. Right, right.

Q. So when we're talking about stagehands, if
they're —— if they miss a cue, either timing-wise or
fail to do what they're supposed to do, does that end

up in notes?

A. Yes.

0. Notes go out at the end of each show?
A. Yes.

Q. Or at least each night?

A. Correct.

Q. The participants —— excuse me.

The stagehands — and I'm pointing to this
board with the orange and green dots. The stagehands
that are at those dot locations that you've already
described, essentially are they supposed to be in one
spot as the participants are moving past?

A. I can't —

Q. Just from what you observed?

A. Yeah, I mean, it's —— there's not "this is
the piece of asphalt that you stand on"; it's — it's
an area,

Q. Well, I get that, but when -- on a particular

night, wherever they're positioned, when you go past,
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are they going with you?

A No.

Q. They're in that general area?

A. Correct.

Q. Doing their cue ——

A. Yes.

Q. -— or their task?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, when you were up on the stand at one
point a few minutes ago, I —- it seemed like you were

gesturing as far as what the people in the green and
orange spots were doing. And I wanted to understand
what that meant.
Were you gesturing?
A. Yes.
Q. And —— and -- and it kind of seemed like a

back—-and-forth motion. What did that mean?

A. Like —— like marshaling an airplane, I guess.
You know, showing this is —— this is the way you're
going, this way.

Q. Is that gesture with a lit flashlight?

A. Yes.

Q. So participants -- when you are approaching
these people, you're seeing the stationary stagehands
going back and forth with their lights indicating the
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direction of the route?

A. Yes.

Q. You've already talked at length about whether
those people are saying anything or not.

My question is there were some questions
early on in Mr. Deutsch's questioning about sometimes
you heard them saying something; sometimes not. Is
that fair?

A. Yes.

Q. When you go by and move on, they're still —
do you guys call it a "train," the group?

A. Yeah, the train.

Q. Is that —— I mean, is that a —— really a term

you guys would use?

A. They're —— I would use "train.” I don't
think we had, like, an actual, like, term for —— you
know.

Q. But you called it a train®?

A. Yes.

Q. So let's call it train.

A. Okay .

Q. So you've got this train coming behind you;
correct?

A, Uh-huh.

Q. Is that a yes?
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A. VYes,

Q. We just have to take it down. No problem.
A. Sorry.

Q. And so once you've gone past one of these

stationary people, at some point, you're going to be
out of earshot, but you have no idea what would be said
or not said to participants in the train farther back.
Fair?

A. Yeah. Yes.

Q. They -- there could be things said to them
that you don't hear; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Or could have been things that you heard that
maybe people later didn't hear? You just don't know?

A. Right.

Q. All right. On the night when you found out
about Mr. Cox, I guess that was in the —— whatever we
call that —- that breakout room afterwards?

A. The Thirteen room.

Q. The Thirteen room. Thank you.

So when you found out about Mr. Cox in the
Thirteen room, I want to — if you can, go back with
me. Were there any of the stationary stagehands on the
route indicated with the orange and green dots that
were missing that night? Somebody was not at their
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post?
A. I don't know.
Q. Just can't remember?
A, Can't remember.

Q. To your knowledge, that night, was there
anybody not doing what they were supposed to be doing
with the flashlights in gesturing as you've indicated?

A. I can't remember.

Q. Nothing sticks out in your memory that there
was something wrong with those -— those stationed
people?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. BAsked and answered.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: No. I mean, the whole
illusion, to me, went fine.

BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Until —— until —

A, Until the —

Q. —— you heard something about Mr. Cox?

A. Correct.

Q. You're waiting for participant number one,

usually female, to come out of the dragon, left hand
extended; correct?
A. Yes.

Q. You take the hand of the person. And as soon
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as that person's down on —- at floor level with you,
you begin?
A, Correct.

Q. Are there other stationary people by that
place where you're leaving to assist any other
participants as they come out?

A. To — to assist? I'm not sure. I don't
think so.

But there are people there lighting —— you
know, like at the corners of the dragon with
flashlights, same thing with the lights, marshaling.

Q. Would that be consistent with the right-sided
orange dot under the word "stage" on that diagram, kind
of — if you would consider the stage sign essentially
where the dragon is?

A. Yes. And then also at the ends — at the
ehds of the dragon curtains, there's — there's a
person there on each side. And on —— on —— that was
fun. And along this curtain on this side there's a
rib ~— a pole right there. And there's a person
usually on that pole that had their flashlight out as
well.

Q. Kind of in the area where that left upper
orange dot is?

A, Yeah, you could say that.
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Q. Where the green —-
MR. POPOVICH: May I approach, Your Honor?
THE COURT: Yes.
MR. POPOVICH: Thank you.
BY MR. POPOVICH:
Q. Where these green dotted lines start, is that
a hallway area yet?
A. No, that's still backstage.
Q. All right. The lower orange dot to the right

closest to you, is that the entrance of a bﬁilding

hallway?
A. So it's almost like there would be a set of
doors right here that mark the stage from the hallway.

So I would say it would be about here. And this
person —— behind this person is a staircase going up.
And then there's this short hallway, and then

the Thirteen room right here.

Q. And by —— okay. So between those two lower
orange dots, that hallway there, how long is that
hallway? I mean, you can use the distance from me to
you and I can move. Just tell me closer, farther.

MR. POPOVICH: Can he step down, Your Honor,
to help demonstrate this?
THE COURT: Yes.

MR. POPOVICH: Thank you.
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THE WITNESS: Maybe like this from the turn
to ~— it's probably a bit shorter. It's probably like
this (witness indicating).

BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Okay. And so what we're demonstrating right
now, this distance is from the right lower orange dot
to the left lower orange dot?

A. I would say from —— from here, from this part
of it to here (witness indicating).

Q. Okay. So then the —— you would lead the
first participant and make a left turn towards the
outside; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And there's another hallway to the exit door.

A. Right, the Thirteen room.

Q. Okay. And, again, can we demonstrate how far

that hallway is from the left turn to going outside.

A. Yeah. So if you were at the doors —-

Q. Right.

A, You're at the doors, be about here (witness
indicating) .

Q. All right.

A. I'd say.

Q. All right. I thank you. That helps. And
you can have a seat.
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Have you had a situation where the woman

whose hand you are holding tries to go faster than you?

A.
Q.
A.

slow down.

Yes.
What happens in that scenario?
Just kind of pull back and I'd tell her to

Q. You don't speed up to match her speed?
A. Huh-uh.
Q. Is‘that a no?
A. No. Sorry.
Q. Thank you.
When the participants are leaving the dragon
and are backstage, is there —— is there movement of the

participants faster than a brisk walk in that backstage

area®?

A.

I don't know.
Have you —— do you recall seeing ——
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Let him answer.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q.

Do you recall seeing movement faster than a

brisk walk in that backstage area? And I understand

you may not have seen the people that are last getting

out of the dragon.

A.

Right. Yeah, I'm —— I'm —-— that whole first
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part, I'm just talking to the girl. I'm focused on
her. So ...

Q. In the hallways, the couple hallways that we
just talked about that, as you've demonstrated, seem
fairly short, is there —— have you seen participants
moving faster than a brisk walk in general?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Asked and answered
for the third time. He said he didn't know.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: O©One more time. Sorry.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Sure. 1In those two hallways we just
demonstrated the length of, short runs —- wrong term —-
short distances, have you seen people move faster ——
participants move faster than a brisk walk in those two
hallways?

A. Can't say —— I have never seen that.

Q. Once the participants get outside, little

more room to go faster if the participants want to?

A. I could imagine, yeah.

Q. Do you tend to try to keep a normal —— not a
normal -- a certain pace when you're leading it because
you've done it a number of times and you try to do

something consistent?

A, Yes.
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0. And that's the speed you've talked about,
either the brisk walk or a crappy jog, something like
that?

A. Correct.

Q. From your testimony I had some confusion
about which set of doors were being discussed at
certain times.

Going back into the building ——
A. Uh-huh.
Q. —— there are doors from the outside into the

building; true?

A. Yes.

Q. Is there then a distance to another set of
doors?

A. Yes.

0. Those second set of doors they then enter, if
you were to go through them, you're on the carpeted

casino at that point?

A. Correct.

Q. What I had confusion on was when do you do
your gather? The first set of doors from outside in or

from the second set of doors where you're in that —

whatever we call it —— that -- that open area into the
casino?
A, It's —— it's through the first set of doors
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once —— once we pass through this —— this first set of
doors right here. So there's this big area right there
that we —— that we stop.

Q. Okay. So when you go through the first set
of doors from outside into the building, that's where
you do your gather, in that open area?

A. Correct.

Q. Wait for the high sign from the person — the
stagehand at the back?

A, Uh-huh. Yes.

Q. And that's when you then head into the casino
and head towards the kitchen?

A. Yes.

Q. When —— after you've done your gather, at
what pace do you take that next segment through that
open area and into the casino?

A. It's — it's a quick walk, because the
kitchen is tight, so you really have no room

to —— to —— to pick up speed. 1It's turn after turn.

Q. About how many turns in the kitchen?
A. There's a right turn, then there's a U-turn.
I think there was a quick right and then a left, and
then we're at the doors.
Q. And there you're waiting for your music cue?
A. Yes.
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Q.

All right. That's my questions for the

get—-around —-- runaround, whatever we're going to call

it. Why do you call a runaround a runaround if you're

not running?

A,
Q.
A,
Q.
illusion,
ball.
A,
Q.
up to the
A,

That's what they called it.

Okay .

Yeah.

I want to now go to the front end of the

when the participants have caught the plastic

Okay.
Are there stagehands before the steps that go
stage?

There are assistants, personal assistants,

David's assistants.

Q. Do they have a script of talking to these
participants?

A. Yes.

Q Did you ever do what they did?

A. No.

Q So you don't know what they were trained to
do?

A. Correct.

Q. Don't know what questions they were trained
to ask?
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A. I don't know 100 percent, no.

Q. Had you heard things about what they were
asking the participants?

A. Yes.

Q. Is one of the things something to do about

A. I don't think so.

Q. Okay. So once the participants are up on the
stage, for those people who are not moved off to the
witness chairs to the sides, was there someone named
Spencer doing something with the people that, so far,
were going to participate in the disappearance?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you sometimes, when you were on stage,
overhear what Spencer was asking of the participants?

A. Yes.

Q. Was one of his questions to the participants
"Can you run?"

A. Yes,

Q. My last set of questions deals with after the
illusion in the Thirteen room or area. At that point,
you're informed that Mr. Cox had what?

A, That —— I forget what exactly was said, but
that he either fell or he got hurt.

Q. At that point, as soon as you found that out,

le6l
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did you talk to Mr. Cox?

A, Yes. I asked him if he was okay.

Q. And his response was?

A, That he was fine.

Q. You then began your presentation to the

participants?
A. I believe I started to.
Q. Did you ask Mr. Cox again
somewhere in'your talk about how he
A. Yes.
Q. At that second time, what
A. I think I asked him if —-

sure he was all right. And he said

at that point

was doing?

did he say®?
like, if he was

he was.

Q. At that point, though, despite him saying

that, did you have him get a chair or did you get

somebody to get a chair?

A, Yes.
Q. Mr. Copperfield comes in,
A, Yes.
Q. —— after you've done your
A, Yes.

correct, after -

talk?

Q. Mr. Copperfield, at some point, asks Mr. Cox

how he was doing?

A. I think it was more of a "What happened?”

You know.
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Q. And you told Mr. Copperfield that Mr. Cox had
tripped?

A, Tripped or got hurt or —— I'm not sure
what —- what verbiage I used.

Q. Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, can I approach the
witness in an attempt to refresh his recollection with
his deposition testimony, page 62, lines 18 to 247

THE COURT: Yes.

BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. So there's all kinds of marks on this, but
focus on the part between the two red brackets here.
Just read it to yourself.

MR. DEUTSCH: What line?

MR. POPOVICH: Lines 18 to 24.

BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Tell me when you're done reading.

A. Done.

Q. Does that refresh your recollection about

what happened in that scenario?

A, Not a hundred percent.

Q. Not a hundred percent. What percentage are
we at?

A. Like, I know there was conversation, but,

like, yes, David did stop his speech and ask what was

et
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going on.

Q. You said somethihg to him; you don't remember
what .

A. I —1I-—1I—-—1TI informed David of — you
know, like, oh —— like — like I said, I don't remember
if I said he got hurt or if he fell or if he tripped,
but it was something along those lines, that something
had happened.

Q. Did Mr. Copperfield then inquire of Mr. Cox
about how he was doing?

A. I don't remember,

Q. Was the first time Mr. Cox told you that he
might need assistance after Copperfield had finished
his talk and left?

A, David was definitely gone. And I want to say
that I was —— I had finished my —— my speech as well.

Q. Basically, the end of those presentations is
the first time Mr. Cox indicated that he felt like he
might need assistance?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. So, as you already testified to,
you contacted MGM security, which is what you're
supposed to do?

A. Yes.

Q. We're now at the point in time where the show
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is over?
A. Yes.
Q. When the show's over for a first show of the

evening, do you have stuff you need to do?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you stay with Mr. Cox after you contacted
MGM security?

A. No.

Q. So when security came, were you present to
ocbserve what they did?

A. No.

Q. Thank you, Mr. Carvalho,

MR. POPOVICH: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Ms. Fresch?
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Carvalho. I'm Elaine
Fresch, and I represent David Copperfield and David
Copperfield Disappearing, Inc.

How you doing?

A. Doing all right.

Q. Okay. All right. I just have a few brief
questions, actually.

I just wanted to —— to clarify so I

understood. You —— you indicated, when the first

165
JA002097




w 0 ~ o N B W NN

I T N N R N T T o T S L O o o N o = S S
OB W N R O W W N B W N H O

person leaves the prop, you —— you take their hand —-
A. Yes.
Q. —— right?

All right. And then as you proceed on the
route, from the time of the prop until —- let's just
say till — through the first set of double doors where
you gather people, so that _— that whole part of the
route ——

MS. FRESCH: Actually, so just may I
approach, Your Honor? Sorry.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. All right. So looking at our diagram and
imagining -- imagine the dragon is here. So you start

the route, going here, here, here, here, here, and
through those first set of double doors. |
Are you holding the hand the whole time,

pretty much?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
A, Yes.

Q. And what's the purpose of.holding the hand
that entire time, basically?
A. Well, usually it's a woman and she's wearing

heels. So I want to keep her with me. 1It's also so
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they don't get away from me, they don't, you know, pull
away from me and try to —- try to, I guess, run past me
to —— to keep my —— to keep my pace.

Q. Okay. And is your goal —— as you're leading
the group, do you have any goals about what your pace
is going to be from the point of the dragon —- I'm
sorry, Your Honor, is that —-- from the dragon to the
double doors? What's the goal of your pace during that
whole time?

A, I don't know. I just —— I've —— since I've
done it for so long, I just figured out what pace works
where I have —— you know, we can stop, we can
congregate, I c¢an talk to them and give them the next
set of instructions and then finish the illusion.

It's — yeah.

Q. And I'm sorry. I didn't — I didn't — I
might have cut you off there by accident a little.

When you say gather and do next instructions,
when are you talking about?

A, Once we're inside the —— back at the MGM.

Q. Okay. 1Is your —- is your pace from the
dragon to the double-door gathering spot, is that
consistently about the same pace?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Is there slowness around the different
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corners?

A. Yeah. Yeah.

Q. And with respect to — and I know this is a
long time ago, November 12, 2013. Do you have any
recollection of anyone passing you on your route that
night?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Is that something in your mind that
would stick out?

A. Yes.

MS. FRESCH: Okay. Ms. Bonney, could we see
the video of 402? Yes. Thank you.
May I approach again?
THE COURT: Go ahead.
MS. FRESCH: I need more caffeine.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. Now, Mr. Carvalho, that —— you saw a
little clip of that earlier. That's the video from the
night of November 12th, 2013.

Had you seen that video prior to today
really?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And you identified yourself --

Could we just start, Ms. Bonney, the
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beginning, and I'll tell you where to stop.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
MS. FRESCH: Okay. Stop. All right.
May I approach again?
THE COURT: Yes.
MS. FRESCH: You're waiting on me.
MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, can we note that
it stopped at 20:35:12.
MS. FRESCH: Thank you, Mr. Popovich.
THE COURT: Record will so reflect.
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. Down in this corner, if you will, the
left-hand corner, is that -— it appears to be a
spotlight.

Does that look like a spotlight to you?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And from your observation, would that
be where one of the stagehands stands, approximately?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. And you're the individual —— I
believe you earlier identified yourself on the
right-hand side about to go in the double doors?

A, Correct.

Q. All right. And you're holding the hand of

the woman —— or I think it's a woman —— woman or
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individual. A person.
A. Yes.
Q. All right. And then the next person —
there's another person right behind the individual
whose hand you're holding; correct?
A. Yes.
Q. All right. And is that kind of typical, the
spacing of people along the route?
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. All right. And your pace, as depicted
on this video, is that a similar pace that you take on
a nightly basis?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. As you are heading towards those
double doors?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And then through those double doors,
that's when you stop and gather the —— the folks?

A. Correct.

0. Okay. And do you recognize which set of
doors you went in that particular night?

A, I can't, no.
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Q. Okay. Yeah. It's a grainy video, yes.
That's okay. -

Would —— what we just watched, is that kind
of how you describe what —— you used the word, as an
adjective, "crappy jog."

Do you recall that?

A. Yes.
Q. Is that a kind of a depiction of the crappy
jog? '
A, Yes.
MS. FRESCH: I don't think I have any

further, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.
Mr. Call.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. CALL:
Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Carvalho. My name is
Gary Call. 1I represent Team Construction, and I have a

few questions to ask you as soon as I can get my
computer running here.

MR. DEUTSCH: Gary, you want me to put it up
for you and make it much easier and quicker?

MR. CALL: No. I got it all set. Thank you,
though. At least I think I got it all set. There we
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go.

MR.

MR.

DEUTSCH: That's the sloppy cycle.

CALL:; Yeah. That's the Tour De France.

One of my favorite races.

Okay. I'm going to bring up what has been

submitted as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 84. Has that been

entered into plaintiffs' evidence?

MR.
MR.
THE

MR.

THE
THE
MR.

MR.

I've got page

this one.

admitted.

MR.

DEUTSCH: Hold on. I don't know.

CALL: It's page 25.

COURT: Clerk says it's in evidence.

CALL: It's in evidence?

. DEUTSCH: Not all of them.
. FREEMAN: Which number, Gary?
. CALL: 25.

CLERK: Only page 16 and 14 are in.
COURT: Only pages 16 and 14 are in.
RUSSELL: 25, Gary.

CALL: I've got Plaintiffs' Exhibit 84.
25. It shows the two doors.

DEUTSCH: No. 25 is this one. 25 is

. POPOVICH: It's 84/22.
. CALL: 227
. POPOVICH: I think that has been
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THE COQURT: It's not in evidence.
THE CLERK: 16 and 14 only.
MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
MR. CALL: Very good.
THE COURT: Any objection from anybody?
MR. DEUTSCH: No. As long as we make clear,
Your Honor, that this was taken, like we did with the
other ones, this is not frdm the night of the accident.
This was taken, I think, in September —-
MR. POPOVICH: Ten months later.
MR. MORELLI: September 1l4th.
THE COURT: It's admitted with that
understanding.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 84-22
was admitted into evidence.}
MR. CALL: Now, getting it up on the screen,
that's my —— there it is.
BY MR. CAIL:
Q. Mr. Carvalho, I've put up what is Plaintiffs'
Exhibit 84,
Do you recognize that photograph or that
scene?
A. Yes,
Q. Okay. Can you tell the jury what that scene

is?
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A. That is —-— the doors on the right are where
we exit the theater, and the open door on the left is
door to the room where we enter back to the MGM.

Q. Okay. So the date of the loss, they entered
on the door onto the left in this picture?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And just —— this was not taken on the
date that Mr. Cox had his fall. You understand that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you were testifying earlier today
that, I think, when you —- right before your runaround,

as you call it, that you make sure both doors are open?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you recall that testimony?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Do you recall — well, what —— is
it —— was it your custom and practice to make sure the
door that was on the right side, was that open?

A. Our exit doors?

Q. The exit doors.

A, Correct.

Q. Would you make sure that the entrance door

was open also?
A. No.

Q. So you just go to the door that was the exit,
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make sure that was open before the actual illusion took
place?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Who made sure that the other door was

A. It was MGM security.
Q. Okay. I'm going to show you another —— same
photo, if I can get it up.
MR. DEUTSCH: Gary.
MR. CALL: Yeah.
MR. DEUTSCH: I thought we had —— you had

said you weren't going to do this.

MR. CALL: Do what?
MR. DEUTSCH: This file.
MR. CALL: 1It's the same photo, but it's ——
MR. DEUTSCH: Got you.
BY MR. CALL:
Q. Okay. This is the same photo, but it
showed —— I put a red line in there. Is that
substantially the route that y'all took on the show?

A. Correct.
Q. The illusion?
Okay. And would you agree with me that where
the gentlemen are standing onto the left, that's about |

where the dumpster was located?
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A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. Yet prior to my getting up here,
Ms. Fresch showed you the video. Do you recall that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And the video showed you running,
leading the group through the entrance door here;
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And did anything impede your ability
to run or walk through or jog through or whatever you
want to call it at that time?

A. No, there was nothing in the way.

Q. Okay. There was no debris that was on the
ground?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. There was no pieces of plywood on the
ground, to your recollection? Okay. Was there running
puffs of dust as you guys ran through?

A I don't know.

Q. You don't remember?

A No, I don't remember.

Q. Okay. And there was anything —-- any debris
whatsoever that you recall at all?

A, No.

Q. Okay. So if there was any — well, let me
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back up.

You understand the allegation against my
client is that there was dust on the ground that may
have caused this fall?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor.
Foundation.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. CALL:

Q. Okay. Do you have an understanding of what
the reason my client is involved in this litigation?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And what's your understanding?
A. That there was construction dust on the
ground and pieces of wood and stuff laying around.

Q. Okay. But you didn't see any pieces of wood,
did you?

A. No.

Q. You didn't complain to anybody about dust on
the ground, did you?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And you ran through once that day —
isn't that correct? -- with that runaround on the date
of the loss?

A. Yes. That was the first show.

Q. Okay. And you had —— what was it? —— about
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13 people that ran with you?

A. I don't remember.

Q. On the average, how many people usually ran
the illusion?

A. It would be, like, ten.

Q. About ten?

A. Yeah.

Q. So more likely, it was ten people that ran

through with you on the date of the loss; isn't that

correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. &and when I say "the date of the loss,"
that's when Mr. Cox fell. You understand that;

correct?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. How long was it before or after
the first illusion that the second illusion ran?

A. What was that time stamp? Do you remember?
It's —— second show would have started at 9:30, and
that would have been the final illusion. So hour 20,
hour 30 maybe.

Q. So about an hour and 30 minutes later ——

A, Plus our setup time between shows, which
would have been 30, 40 minutes maybe.

Q. Okay. So an hour 30, another 30. About two
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hours?
A. That's a safe amocunt.
Q. Little over two hours?
A. Yeah.
Q. Would that be correct?
A. Yes.
Q. So in a little over two hours, you had a

second illusion, another Thirteen Illusion, that ran
through that exact area; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And no one complained about dust or
debris at that time; isn't that correct?

A. Yeah. I don't remember.

Q You didn't complain about dust?

A. I didn't complain about it.

Q Did you hear Mr. Copperfield complaining
about it?

A. No.

Q. In fact, Mr. Copperfield, before the second
Thirteen Illusion, he actually ran through the area

again during the second show; isn't that correct?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. CALL:
Q. Okay. Do you know that if Mr. Copperfield
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ran through that area before the second Thirteen
Illusion?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. Did Mr. Copperfield, like my colleague
yesterday, say —— get on the phone and say, "Whoa.
Hey, we've got to stop this. There's dust on the
ground or there's debris"? Do you remember him saying
that?

A, I've never heard him say that.

Q. How many times a week do you go ahead and ——
when you are conducting the show, how many times is
that illusion performed?

A. 15 times a week.

Q. Okay. So during the week that this occurred,
that illusion took place 15 times; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And no one complained about any dust
on the ground; isn't that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. 1In fact, you knew the dumpster was
there, prior to you running through, on the date
Mr. Cox fell; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And it had been there a while; isn't

:Eagt correct?
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A. I believe so.

Q. All right. BAnd, to your knowledge, no one
was complaining about dust or debris during that time
period?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. 1In fact, isn't it true that
Copperfield's show at that time was from about

October 27th to about November 14th, 20137

A. What do you mean, the show was?

Q. It -~ David Copperfield performs at the MGM
set —— set time periods; correct? |

A. Yeah, correct.

Q. Okay. And didn't his show run, during that
time period, from October 27th or thereabouts to about

November l1l4th?

A. I don't remember, but I'm sure it would be
like —- we would do anywhere from a six-week to
ten—-week run of shows consistently, you know, every

day.
Q. Okay. And I think Mr. Popovich or Ms., Fresch

were discussing the route that was taken.

The doors on the left-hand side, do you see
those?
A. Yes,
Q. Okay. When you enter those doors, there's
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a —— I think it's —— I would call it a foyer, in other
words, another room before the other doors.

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So these are the doors you enter. You
enter that space between those doors and another set of
doors; isn't that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Wwhat is the floor made out of?

Do you have a recollection of that?

A, Concrete.

Q. Okay.

A. I think.

Q. And once you get into that room, I think you
gather your people that were in the runaround with you;
isn't that correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And about how long does that take?

A, Oh, man. Anywhere from 8 to 13, 14 seconds,
I would say.

Q. Okay. And then do you gather more toward the

entrance or do you go toward the other doors and you

gather?
A. It's more towards the other doors.
Q. Okay.
A, The second set of doors.
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Q. And then once you enter into the second set
of doors —— or once you gather, you enter into the
casino; isn't that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you usually enter in toward the doors to
the right; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And that's —— we don't have that, but it's
the second set of doors, the doors mostly to the right?

A. Correct. Because they're right next to the
kitchen.

Q. Okay. Because you want to go into the doors,
through the doors, into the casino, and then make a

quick right into the kitchen; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. And when you do that, you have to
walk across carpet; isn't that correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And then you enter the kitchen, which
is then linoleum or whatever it is; isn't that right?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. So when you're going through the
casino, if you had been tracking dust through the
casino, somebody would have said something to you;

isn't that correct?
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MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Calls for
speculation.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. CALL:

Q. Okay. You would have noticed that you were
tracking dust through the casino; isn't that correct?

A. I'm not sure.

Q. You're not sure, if your feet would have
actually been tracking dust through the casino, if you
could see it?

A. We are on the carpet for just a couple of
steps, so, you know, it's —-- yeah.

Q. It's a couple of steps for 13 people; right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And you're telling me that you
wouldn't have noticed if there was dust on the floor if
you had tracked it through?

A. I wasn't looking down.

Q. Okay.

A. That's yeah.

Q. All right. Had any —- would you receive
complaints from MGM if there had been dust or dirt
tracked through the casino?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
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BY MR. CALL:

Q. Do you know who would have received
complaints from MGM if anything had taken place as far
as dirt or debris coming into the casino from a David
Copperfield show?

A. We probably would have.

Q. And when you say "we," who's we?

A. Scmebody would have called Chris Kenner and
let him know.

Q. And if someone had called Chris Kenner, would
Chris get on the phone and say "What's going on?" to
you?

A, No, I don't think he would. I think he would
just have somebody clean it, if we had to clean it. I
don't know. I don't know what he would do.

Q. Had you ever been asked to clean anything on
the carpet?

A. No.

Q. Okay. What kind of clothes do you wear for

the — the act, Mr. Carvalho?

A. All black.

Q All black. What kind of shoes?

A. We had these Palladium brand boots.

Q And what are those? I'm not familiar with
those.
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A. They -— they're canvas boots. They lock like
military-style boots, but they're not. They're just a
canvas material.

Q. Okay. Are they also black?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And do you have an understanding of
the reason you wear all black?

A, Yes.

Q. And what is that understanding?

A. So we can hide in the shadows on stage.

Q. Okay. And after your first — the first act,
do you change your clothes, or do you wear the same
clothes for the second act?

A. It's the same.

Q. The same. And what color is the stage for
the David Copperfield show?

“A. Black.

Q. Okay. And do you have an understanding of
the reason that it's black?

A. Because it eats light.

Q. Okay. And if that stage got dirty, what
would Mr. Copperfield do? Do you have any
understanding of that? |

A. We'd clean it. We'd sweep it.

Q. Okay. Isn't it true that David Copperfield
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makes sure that dust is not on that stage because it
would show?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And so you have to keep that’clean;
isn't that correct, sir?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And if there was dust in your
runaround, it would get on your clothes and it would
show also; isn't that correct?

A. Probably.

Q. Okay. I have no further questions. Thank

you.
THE COURT: Does anybody need a break?
MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach for one second?
JUROR NO. 8: We'll take a break while you
approach.

(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)

THE COURT: Okay. The question I posed is
whether anybody needs a break. And I saw some hands go
up. Let me see if what I'm about to say will change
that. Okay?

After this witness —— and we don't expect
this witness to take that much longer —— as far as the

jury is concerned, we're going to adjourn for the day.
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Counsel and the Court are going to remain. We have
some things we have to take up outside your presence.
All right? And you'll be coming back tomorrow at 1:30.
So, in other words, we're going to adjourn early today
with the jury.

Now, that being said, do you still need a
break or do you think you can hold on for maybe another
20 minutes or so, 15, 20 minutes?

Is that about what you're thinking, Counsel?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

THE COURT: Would that work?

MR. DEUTSCH: Now I'm really on the clock,
though.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MORELLI: Trust me, Judge. He's going to
be not more than 20 minutes.

THE COURT: All right.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Mr. Carvalho, I'm going to go quickly. So if

I go too quickly, just stop me.

Kristy, if I go too quickly, just stop me.

And I'm going to jump around a little bit.
Okay?

We had spoken about the warning from the MGM
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employees about "watch your step."” You recall?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And when I had spoken to you, I had
asked you about —-— we were just talking about the guy
at number two, that number two position in your
diagram; corréct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And you gave this testimony about that
this morning on page 79:

"QUESTION: Well, do you know why they say
'Watch your step'?

"ANSWER: Yeah.

"QUESTION: Okay. It is because they want
to tell people —— to warn people about that
incline?

"ANSWER: Yeah.

"QUESTION: Because if you didn't warn
someone about the incline, someone could trip
on it or fall on it or slip on it; true?

"ANSWER: Yeah."

Now, those questions were just about — as I
understand it from Mr. Russell's questions, about the
guy at number two; correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. But Mr. Russell said that the MGM
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people at those other spaces would occasionally also
say "watch your step" as well; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. . What hazards were they warning people about
at the other locations?

A, There wasn't really any hazards. It's ——

it's mainly to keep everybody together, to keep

everybody safe, so they're not — they're not, you
‘know, wanting to, like, run up —- you know, run up
and ~—— like, to get in front of me or anything, you
know. It's —— it's just —- it's a general, like —-

Q. So instead of saying "don't run up" or "stay

together, " they said "watch your step”? That doesn't
seem to make sense, does it?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.

MS. FRESCH: Argumentative.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Well, if what they were telling people was to
tell them that they should stay together, wouldn't you
think that they would say "stay together" instead of
"watch your step"?

MS. FRESCH: Objection. Speculation.
THE COURT: 1I'll allow him to state what his

perception would be.
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THE WITNESS: It would be — to me, it would
be to get them to think, like, okay, let me —— instead
of being overexcited about what's going on —— like,
"Oh, my God, I'm in a magic trick," like, "Okay. Let
me watch where I'm going."

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. But you told us that it was, like, calm and
mellow and collected. What does anyone have to be
warned about getting too excite@&ﬁpr?

A. Because they're ih.a.ﬁagic trick with David
Copperfield. Of course they're going to be excited.

Q. So maybe, like, perspective has something to
do with it. When Mr. Russell was asking you about if
it was calm or chaotic, perspective has something to do
with it; correct? Maybe what you thought was calm,
because you had been doing it hundreds and hundreds of
times, to someone who had no idea what to expect when
they came out of the dragon, it might have seemed
chaotic; true?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Speculation.

THE COURT: He can state his understanding of
the scenario.

THE WITNESS: I can sée what you're saying.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Now, I just want to show you this —-- this
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board really quickly. Now, this —- this diagram, if
you know —-— or you probably don't —- but this diagram
was made by Ms. Fresch and Mr. Freeman. Okay? And
they proffered these green lines to sort of show the
route. Okay?

And you agree with me that this —— there's
other things that are going on here other than these
green lines; correct? For example, you mentioned that

there's offices here; correct?

A, Yes,

Q. And there's staircases hére; correct?

A, Yes.

Q. And there's other doorways here; correct?
A. Yes.

Q. And, in fact, there are éven other hallways

that are not depicted on here?
A. No, that's basically it.

Q. Okay. But with respect to the staircase and

the doorways and the thing, there's options for people
to go in other directions than is depicted on these
green lines; correct?
Yes.

Q. So this is —- it's kind of misleading in
terms of the directness of that route; correct?

A. Well, I mean, the green is the route that we
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take.

Q. Right. But the green doesn't represent the
options that the people have? e

A. Right.

Q. Who sets the pace of the thing? You as the
person leading or someone else?

A. It's me.

Q. And you mentioned that —-— that there's times
when —— when the woman, who's usually in heels, I think
you said, who you're holding on to, they sometimes run
pPast you or try to run past you and you have to pull
them back?

A, It's happened a couple of times where they ——
they try to beat my pace, and I'll —- I'll have to kind
of hold them.

Q. Okay. So, in those instances, it wasn't
really very slow and controlled either.

A. No, I'm always in control.

MR. DEUTSCH: Can I have one of those
binders? What is it?

MR. FALLICK: 403.

MR. DEUTSCH: 403. Exhibit 403.

MR. MORELLI: Do you want it up?

MR. DEUTSCH: No, I'm just going to show him
the photo.
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May I publish this, Your Honor, to the jury?
It's already been admitted.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. POPOVICH: 403 what?

MR. DEUTSCH: 403.

THE CLERK: 403, page?

MR. DEUTSCH: These aren't Bates—stamped.

I have it here.

THE CLERK: But they're already stipulated

to.

MR. POPOVICH: Yeah, I see that.

MS. FRESCH: We're just trying to figure
which one.

MR. DEUTSCH: 1It's 403-8.

Thank you.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. I want to show you what's been marked --
May I approach, Your Honor?
.—— as Defendant -- Exhibit 403. Take a look

at that. Do you recognize what's depicted in that

photo?

A. Yes.

Q. That photo is taken looking out from the
doors towards the Tropicana, towards the route that the

runaround goes through; correct?
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Correct.

Q. And you see the dumpster on the right—hand
side?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And I want to tell you that —— that
it's been agreed that that photo was taken on the
evening of the accident, November 12th, 2013.

A. Okay.

Q. And that would have been the route that you

would have gone through; correct?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay. You see any dust on the floor in that
photograph?
MS. FRESCH: Objection. Calls for
speculation. Lacks foundation.

MR. CALL: 1I'll join.

THE COURT: He can state what he sees.

THE WITNESS: TI don't see dust.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Okay.

Now, despite the fact that Mr. Cox —— you
didn't seem to recall exactly what was said in the back
room, but despite whatever —— he said that he was fine,
an ambulance was actually called for him; correct?

A, Yeah, I learned that later.
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Q. Okay. 8So —— so let me just see if I
understand. You knew something had happened t¢ him.
You said that he looked rough.

That was your word;.correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And you didn't bother to see what
happened? But you didn't —— when later did you learn?

A. As I was making my way back up the hallway —

Q. Okay.

A.. ~---and saw that the paramedics or whoever
were there.

Q. You usually call ambulances for people that
are fine?

A. Never called an ambulance.

Q. You think MGM calls the ambulance for people

that are fine?

A. Probably not.
MS. FRESCH: Objection. Calls for
speculation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Did —— now, you had mentioned to
Mr. Popovich's questions that at the time —— at that
peint in time, Mr. Copperfield had already left the

room, I think you said.
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A, Correct.

Q. Okay. Did you follow up with him later that
day to say, "Hey, you know" —— what do you call him?
David Copperfield? Magic Dave?

A. David.

Q. David. Okay.

Did you say, "Hey, David, you know that guy
that we were talking about last night in the room who
you asked if he was okay, they had to call an ambulance
for him"? Did you tell him that?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Okay. Was it —— was it ordinary or not
ordinary that an ambulance would be called for someone
at the show?

A. Not ordinary.

Q. So —— so if it was unusual, why wouldn't that
be something that you would have mentioned to David —
Mr. Copperfield?

A. He was being taken care of.

Q. You didn't think it was important for
Mr. Copperfield to know that someone had been taken
away in an ambulance from his show?

A. I didn't think that, no.

Q. Okay.

A, I don't — I don't know that he was taken
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away in the ambulance —-
Q. Okay.
A. —— but —
Q. Did you think it was important for
Mr. Copperfield to know that someone had —
Mr. Copperfield —— let me ask you. You mentioned the
dressing rooms.
This happened during the early show; correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And Mr., Copperfield still had a show later
that evening?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. So he would have still been around
during that period of time between the two shows?
A. Correct.
Q. So he didn't go very far. Does he usually
Just go right upstairs to his dressing room?
MS. FRESCH: Objection. Calls for
speculation. Lacks foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Do you know where he goes between those two?
A. Any number of places.
Q. Okay. But he was back at the theater within

an hour or so, if not less?
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A. By 9:30, yes.
MR. DEUTSCH: Nothing further, Judge.
THE COURT: All right.

Do you have anything Mr. Russell?

RECROSS—EXAMINATION
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Mr. Carvalho, you were shown earlier the
video of Mr. Cox's accident.

Please pause right there, Audra.

From your perspective —— from your
perspective and the number of times you've been out
there, the lighting conditions as we see them on this
picture, are those darker than, lighter than, or the
same as the actual lighting conditions when you go
through that area?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objection, Your Honor. Outside
the scope of the redirect.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: It seems a lot darker than what
it's like.

BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. During the breakout sessions with the
participants after the runaround, has anyone ever

complained to you that they perceived the way the
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runaround was done to be chaotic?
A, No.
Q. So would you know whether or not any
participant has ever perceived it to be chao®ic?
A, No. .
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, Mr. Carvalho.
MR. POPOVICH: No further questions.
THE COURT: Ms. Fresch?

MS. FRESCH: No questions.

MR. CALL: Just one question, Mr. Carvalho.

RECROSS—-EXAMINATION
BY MR. CALL:

Q. You never took orders from Team on how to do

anything; isn't that correct? From Team Construction.

A Correct.
Q. All right.

No further questions. Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Very well. We'll

adjourn now with the jury, Counsel.
MR. POPOVICH: We have a question.
MR. RUSSELL: We have a question.

THE COURT: ©Oh, I'm sorry. Okay.

(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)
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THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen,
what T will be doing now is posing some questions to
the witness —— questions that I've received from some
jurors. And I'll pose them to the —- to the witness.
The witness will then give whatever answer he's got.
And then I'll ask counsel to — I'll permit counsel to
follow up on each question. Okay?

80 we said it was going to be 15 to 25
minutes; right? So this --

MR. DEUTSCH: Now it's on them.

THE COURT: This will draw it out.

MR. DEUTSCH: I was only 16 minutes.

MR. MORELLI: Now we want a break.

THE COURT: This may draw it out a bit

longer. 1Is that okay? &Anybody have?

JUROR NO. 8: If it gets bad, I'll raise my
hand.

THE COURT: What's that? Did somebody say
something?

JUROR NO. 12: No, we're okay. We're good.

THE COURT: All right. First question.

In regards to distance, how far is the point
of reappearance from the Thirteen room?

THE WITNESS: I would say 120 meters maybe.

THE COURT: Okay.
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Counsel?®?

MR. DEUTSCH: I have no follow—up for that.

MR. MORELLI: What's that in feet?
MR. DEUTSCH: 380 feet.

MR. MORELLI: We have to know.

MR. POPOVICH: No question.

MS. FRESCH: No question.

MR. RUSSELL: No.

MR. CALL: None.

THE COURT: Okay. That will be the next

court exhibit in order.

order,

Okay. The next question, sir.

Did Mr. Gavin Cox request an ambulance?
THE WITNESS: Not to me.

THE COURT: Okay. Any follow-up?

MR. DEUTSCH: None.

MR. POPOVICH: None.

MR. CALL: None.

MS. FRESCH: No.

THE COURT: Okay. Next court exhibit in

Okay. Do you know who stayed with Mr. Cox

when he left in the ambulance besides MGM security?

THE WITNESS: No.
THE COURT: Any follow—up?
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DEUTSCH: No.
POPOVICH: No.

FRESCH: No.

56 5 B

RUSSELL: No.

2

CALL: No.
THE COURT: All right.
Next question is did you see any dust on
Mr. Cox's clothes or shoes or shirt after the runaround

when meeting in the breakout room?

THE WITNESS: You know, I don't recall
anything.

THE COURT: Any follow—up?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: This would be next court exhibit
in order.

MR. DEUTSCH: Can I see Exhibit 837

THE CLERK: Exhibit 837

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah, the hard copy, page 1 and
then page 2.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. I'm going to show you what's been marked as
an exhibit already, as Plaintiffs' Proposed
Exhibit 83-1 and 83-2. Take a look at this.

A. (Witness reviewing document.)
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Q. Now, that photograph, it appears that —— that
Mr. Cox is still strapped to the gurney, I guess.
A. Yep.
MR. RUSSELL: Obijection. Foundation.
MR. CALL:s. I'll join.
THE COﬁRT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Well, can you tell by looking at the picture
what those black straps are?
A, Looks like a stretcher —— like ——
Q. Stretcher.
A. Yeah, whatever you call it.
Q. And he's still strapped on there in that
photograph?
MR. RUSSELL: Same objection.
MR. CALL: Yeah. Objection. Foundation.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Well, can you tell me what that looks like
where he's sitting in that photograph?
MR. CALL: Same objection, Your Honor.
MS. FRESCH: Joined.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Okay. Can you —— does that photograph
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refresh your recollection in any way as to whether
there was any dust on Mr. Cox after the illusion since
you said you didn't remember?
A. No.
Q. Ckay.

May I publish this to the jury, Your Honor?
It's already in evidence.

MR. RUSSELL: For wﬁat purpose?

MR. FREEMAN: For what purpose?

MR. CALL: They've already seen it.

MR. DEUTSCH: It's already in evidence. I'm
entitled to show —

MS. FRESCH: The witness was not ——

THE COURT: No, no.

MR. DEUTSCH: I could have put —

THE COURT: It has to be in the context of
the question posed to the witness.

MR. DEUTSCH: I could have put it up on the
screen, Your Honor. It's in evidence already.

THE COURT: I know it is, but it's in the
context of the question that's posed.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. They showed it in their
opening statement, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I know. Are you going to

establish that he saw him in that condition?
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MR. DEUTSCH: Well, that's what I'm trying to
establish.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, you can ask him the
question, but you don't show the picture to the jury.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Did you see Mr. Cox at any point in time when
he was put onto the gurney? Onto the stretcher?
A. I do remember he was sitting on it. I don’'t

recall if he was strapped down or —— or what the deal
was.

Q. Do you recall what he was wearing?

A. No.

Q. So you don’'t have one —— recollection one way

or another whether there was dust on him or not; is
that fair?
A. Correct.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. I have nothing further,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you want to return those?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes. I almost walked away with
the other one.

THE COURT: Any follow~up?

MS. FRESCH: No, Your Honor.

MR. RUSSELL: No, Your Honor.

May the witness be released, Your Honor?
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THE COURT: All right. Then that will
conclude -— that concludes for the day with the jury,
but counsel will remain for many things we still have
to do this afternoon outside the presence of the jury.

So we'll adjourn with the jury until tomorrow
at 1:30.

You're admonished in the meantime, ladies and
gentlemen, not to converse among yourselves or with
anyone else including, without limitation, the lawyers,
parties, and witnesses on any subject connected with
the trial or read, watch, or listen to any report of or
commentary on the trial or any person connected with
the trial by any medium of information, including,
without limitation, newspapers, television, the
internet, and radio, or to form or express any opinion
on any subject connected with the trial until the case
is finally submitted to you.

Once again, you're directed to return to the
outside of the courtroom just to the south there of the
entrance tomorrow, Thursday, April 26th, 2018, no later
than 1:20 p.m. so we can resume at 1:30 p.m. or as
close thereto as we possibly can.

Thank you very much. Have a nice afternoon
and night. See you tomorrow, ladies and gentlemen.

Counsel remain, please.
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(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.).
THE COURT: Okay. You can stand down now.
THE WITNESS: Thanks.
THE COURT: All right. You may be seated.
I'm told by the court clerk that we need to publish
deposition here. 1Is that —
MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.
THE COURT: Correct. Okay. So it's
published. BAll right?

Now, it's going to take you some time to set
up.

MR. DEUTSCH: I think he said about 15
minutes to get everything set up.

THE COURT: And the proceedings this
afternoon will be closed to the public. It's —— this
is a deposition, basically, depositions for |

perpetuation of testimony and/or discovery as well.

So, in any event, how much time do you think
it's going to take before we can resume on that —— on
those things?

MR. DEUTSCH: We'll see. As quickly as he
needs to set up.
THE COURT: I will be in chambers. And when

you're all set up, Bob will tell me.
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MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you.
MR. CALL: Thank you, Your Honor.
(Whereupon a short recess was taken.)

THE MARSHAL: All rise. Department is again
in session.

THE COURT: You may be seéted. Record will
reflect that we're in session outside the presence of
the jury. State appearances, I believe, are to be

noted. We will note that Mr. Strassburg is not

present.

MR. DEUTSCH: Has been gone all afternoon.

THE COURT: Wasn't here for the —

MR. DEUTSCH: No, he was not.

THE COURT: --— earlier portion this afternoon
as well.

But beyond that, Counsel, ready to go?

MR. DEUTSCH: We are ready to go, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: I guess we should —— we're just
going to do the same thing we did last time. We're

just going to start the tape and then swear in the
witness as if we were here in court.

MR. POPOVICH: I think we need to put on the
record that we do not require the videographer to do

the required preliminary read-in.
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MR. DEUTSCH: We've stipulated to that, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Very well. 1Is that clear
for the record?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.

THE CLERK: You do solemnly swear the
testimony you're about to give in this action shall be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
so help you God.

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell
it for the record, please.

THE WITNESS: Patricia Anne Esack.
P-a-t-r-i—-c-i-a, A-n—n-e, E-s-a-c-k.

THE CLERK: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Good afternoon, Ms. Esack.

A. Good afternoon.

Q. I'm going to ask you a couple of questions
this morning. If at any time you don't understand any
of my questions, please let me know and I'll be happy
to rephrase them. Okay?

A. I will.

Q. Okay. Can you tell us —

210
JA(002142




W O Ny 1l W N

N NN N NN R B B B B B R B R
B & W N B O W W ~J 60 ;1 s W N B O

THE COURT: Yoﬁ mean afternoon; correct?

MR. DEUTSCH: Did I say morning? When you're
having fun, time flies, Judge.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Good afternoon, Ms. Esack. Can you tell
us —— you're here in Las Vegas in a courtroom. Can you
tell us what —— what brought you here?

A. I was sitting home Thursday night and a
friend of mine, Bobbie, called me, and she said that —
agsked me if I'd been watching television, and I — the
television news, and I said, "Not really."

And she said that there was a lawsuit being
brought against Mr. Copperfield because someone had
been injured in one of his illusions.

And I said, "You know, Bobbie, it's been —
it's been a while, and I'm kind of over that."

And she, "No, no. You really need to go and
google this particular situation."

So I did. And when I brought up the website,
the first thing I saw was a clip of Mr. Copperfield
saying that no one had been ever injured in this
particular illusion. And when I saw which illusion it
was, it was the same illusion that I had been injured
in. And I got angry.

Q. Okay. And can you tell us what you did at
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that point?

A. At that point I looked to see which —-- who
the lawyer who's representing it —— him, and —~ and I
called your law firm and I said very simply that I had
been injured and I'd had my wrist broken. And if you
were interested, here was my name and number and you
could call me. And then I hung up.

Q. And when was that that you reached out to our
office?

A. That was about 8:00 o'clock Thursday night.

Q. This past Thursday night?

A, The past Thursday night.

Q. And what particular illusion or trick was it
that -- that you participated in?

A. It was the one with the cage. I believe they
refer to it as the Thirteen.

Q. Okay. And when was it that — that you
participated in that illusion?

A. It was in 2002 in — at the Paramount in
Seattle, Washington.

Q. Okay. And at the time, were you living

there?
A. Yes.
Q. Where do you live now?
A, I live in Connecticut, just outside of
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Hartford.

Q. And can you tell us, what do you do in

Connecticut?
A. I work for a major engine manufacturing
company .

Q. Okay. And at the time that you were in
Seattle, were you living in Seattle?

A. Yes.

Q. And what were you doing out there?

A. I was working for Microsoft as a IT manager.

Q. Can you explain to us what happened when you
were in the illusion, from the beginning to the end?

A, I had brought my mother to the Paramount as a
surprise. She was 80. And I had gotten very good
seats. So I was in one of the —- not the front rows,
but one of the front rows after the break.

And I was one of the last people to catch one
of the balls. And I —-- when I caught one of the balls,
I wasn't really sure what to do with it. So I just
sort of sat there for a little bit, and then one of his
crew came down and said, "No, no. You have to come up
on stage.”

So they brought me up. One of the —— up onto
the stage, and they directly brought me to the corner

spot, the front corner spot. So it would have been in
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the left front corner. So it put me in, I guess, the
key position. And he started making comments about me
being Mary Ann in Gilligan's Island and then handed me
a — somebody —— I don't —— I don't remember if it was
him or somebody in his crew handed me a flashlight.

Q. Let me just stop you for a second.

At any point in time prior to you being put
into that — the cage, I think you called it, were you
asked any questions or was there any discussions had
with any of the stagehands or people that were bringing
you up on stage?

A, No. That was it. That was directly it. I
mean, it was — it was very fast. I was just literally
taken from the audience directly up and to the spot
where he started talking to me about being Mary Ann on
Gilligan's Island.

Q. And then at some point, you were put into a
chair inside the —- the cage or the prop?

A. Yeah, immediately.

0. And what were you thinking when you were
sitting there?

A. I was there for a very short — like, maybe
seconds. So I wasn't thinking — I didn't get a chance
to think very much. I was —— as a matter of fact, I

was thinking what am I supposed to do with this
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flashlight or this object?

Q. Okay. And what happened next?

A, Some —— the next thing I knew, somebody was
grabbing me by the back of my sweater and pulling me
out of the chair. And it was dark.

Q. Okay. And tell us what happened next.

A. I was —

Q. Did they say anything to you at that point in
time after they grabbed you by the sweater?

A. After they grabbed me by the sweater, they —
and turned me around,.then they said "Run." And they
pulled the flashlight from me, and we —— we started
down this sort of —— I have no idea what it was. We
went —— we started —— we started down this —— this
situation of series of stairs, going up and down. And
every once in a while, they would hand me something ——
it was completely dark, so they would hand me
something. I don't know if it was a flashlight — they
were more flashlights or what they were. They were
boxes of something. And somebody had me by the
shoulders, from behind, and was just running -- yelling
"Run faster."

Q. Okay. And —

A, And then, like —— that was what happened

until we got to the stage door.
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Q. Okay. Let me just stop you. Let's — from
the time that you left the prop till you got to the
stage door, how would you describe the scene, sort of,
in terms of what was going on?

A. It was —— it was dark and it was confusing.

Q. Okay. Did they tel; you at aﬂxﬁpoint in time
before —— at any time before you.stafted to run and
leave the prop, did they tell you what you were going
to have to do?

A. No. And I was —— and I was totally confused.
And I — I mean, it was —— it was —— it was —— it was
really, really, really confusing because I was —— I was
always wondering, you know, especially with them
handing me things and taking them away all the time,
I'm like, am I going to drop these things? You know,
and people — with all these people yelling at me, I
was also wondering how — with all these people
yelling, how are they not hearing this out in the
audience? And it was just —— it was —— it was a very
bizarre and surreal kind of situation.

Q. Okay. So now you get to the stage door.

What happens next?

A. At the stage door they —— somebody opens the

stage door, we take one step, they're yelling "Faster,"

and we take one step out of the stage door, I slip, and
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that was all they wrote. And I fell. At that point I
was down on the ground.

They who —— the -- the person who was behind
me decided that they needed to grab the object that had
been in my hand and get the people that were behind me
out. So they took those people around me. And when
they tried to grab the thing out of my hand, my arm was
80 badly shattered that it caused an enormous amount of
pain trying to get that object out of my hand. But
they did grab that object out of my hand.

And then they ptoceeded to head down

toward —— down the — down the —— the sidewalk towards

"the front of the theater. I have no idea where they

went .

Q. So at the time that you did this runaround,
it required you to actually leave the theater and go
outside?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And what happened after that?

A. After that, someone finally decided it would
be a good idea to move me, and it was somebody from
the — from the theater company, from the —— that —
from the —— he said he was one of the — the —— not -—-
from the Paramount staff decided to move me so I was

leaning against the building. And they called two
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ambulances.

Q. Okay. And then what happened?

A And then David came out.

Q. Okay. When you say David, who ——

A Mr. Copperfield came out, and he talked to me
for a few minutes. And I don't remember what he said,
but I remember saying to him that I was hoping that I ..
hadn't messed up the illusion. And then the ambulances

toock me directly to the trauma center for the

Northwest.
Q. QOkay. So let me just see if I'm clear. Were
you still sitting outside the theater when

Mr. Copperfield came over to you?
A. Yes. I was right outside on the street.
Q. And was he there at the time that the

ambulances arrived? Do you know?

A. I — honestly — the ambulances were there.
I don't — so I guess the answer —— the answer to that
question is I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember. Okay.

A. I don't know if —— was there when they
arrived, but they were there when he was there.

Q. And did you —-— you were taken to the
hospital?

A. I was taken to the trauma center.
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Q. The trauma center. And what —— was there a
diagnosis made in terms of your injury?

A. Yes.

Q. What was that?

A. I don't remember the fancy diagnosis. You'd

have to look on the nifty sheet.

Q. You could give us the ——
A. My wrist was shattered, and I have a plate
and six screws in my wrist. They've —— it's --

essentially, I'm considered disabled.
Q. Okay. Is it —— is it -—— do you still havé
the plate and screws in your wrist now?
A. Yes. They can't be taken out.
Q. Okay. After —-
A. - The wrist would fall apart if I did.
Q. Okay. After that day of the show, did
Mr. Copperfield ever reach out to you at any point
after that?
Yes, he reached out —
Can you tell us when that was.
He reached out the next day.
Okay.
He called the next day.
Where did he call?

P O ¥ O PO ¥

He called my home.
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